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Corporate Structure
As at 31 March 2016

Notes:
* Incorporated in India
** Incorporated in Madagascar
*** Incorporated in Labuan
**** Incorporated in Myanmar
***** Incorporated in Iraq

CONSTRUCTION
DIVISION

100%
H2Energy Corporation
Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Jaya
Sdn Bhd

60%
H2Advance Builders
Sdn Bhd

70%
New Interconnected
Expressway Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Construction
Company (India)
Private Limited*

49.8%
Madagascar Malaysia
Equipment Rental**

50%
KHH Infrastructures
Sdn Bhd

29.0%
Konsortium AHHK Sdn Bhd
(formely known as
Ultra Cendana Sdn Bhd)

100%
Ho Hup Construction
Company (L) Ltd***

70%
Ho Hup (Myanmar) E&C
Co., Ltd.****

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
DIVISION

100%
Bukit Jalil Development
Sdn Bhd

100%
Suria Jayajuta
Sdn Bhd

75%
Ho Hup Ventures (KK)
Sdn Bhd

70%
Golden Wave
Sdn Bhd

75%
Ho Hup Ventures (Johor)
Sdn Bhd

70%
Intact Corporate Approach
Sdn Bhd

BUILDING MATERIALS
DIVISION

90%
Tru-Mix Concrete
Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Industries Sdn Bhd
(formely known as Ho Hup
Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd)

70%
Ho Hup Ventures (Malacca)
Sdn Bhd

100%
Ho Hup Quarries (Malacca)
Sdn Bhd
(formely known as
Erakuasa Global Sdn Bhd)

75%
Ho Hup-ICM Quarry Sdn Bhd
(formely known as ACV-ICM
Quarry Sdn Bhd)

Ho Hup Construction
Company Berhad
(Madagascar Branch)**

Ho Hup Construction
Company Berhad
(Iraq Branch)*****
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Five-Year Financial Highlights

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT (RM’000) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Key Statement of Comprehensive Income        

Revenue  29,998  39,976  149,363  341,024  298,546 

(Loss)/Profit before Tax  (10,615)  (16,707)  20,260  80,083  86,761 

(Loss)/Profit after Tax  (10,816)  (11,758)  27,747  67,178  70,274 
(Loss)/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent (10,346)  (12,108)  22,503  65,750  70,934 

Key Statement of Financial Position        

Total Assets  157,920  180,982  351,261  363,297  523,153 

Total Borrowings  85,756  10,710  40,000  39,588  134,965 
Shareholders' Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent  (39,639)  (51,809)  83,212  122,609  228,276 

Share Information        

Basic Earnings per Share Attributable to Owners of the Parent (sen)  (10.14)  (11.87)  22.06  25.11  20.67 

Net Assets per Share Attributable to Owners of the Parent (sen)  (38.86)  (50.79)  81.58  39.39  65.83 

Financial Indicators        

Net Return on Shareholders’ Funds (%)  26.10  23.37  27.04  53.63  31.07 

Gearing Ratio (times)  #  #  *  0.25  0.50 

#	 Gearing ratio is not applicable due to deficit in shareholders’ equity.
*	 Gearing ratio is not applicable as the cash and cash equivalents is sufficient to cover the entire borrowing obligation.
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Board of Directors

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA
SULONG MATJERAIE
Chairman/ Independent Non-Executive Director

DATO’ MAH SIEW KWOK
Deputy Chairman/
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

DATO' WONG KIT-LEONG
Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director

DATO’ SRI THONG KOK KHEE
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

DATIN CHAN BEE LENG
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

MR. LOW KHENG LUN
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

MR. DIMITRIOS PANTAZARAS
Independent Non-Executive
Director

MR. CHOW SECK KAI
Independent Non-Executive
Director

MR. BOEY TAK KONG
Independent Non-Executive
Director
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Directors’ Profile

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie, a Malaysian, aged 69, 
was appointed to the Board of the Company as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on 15 July 2013. He was appointed as a 
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee on 24 April 2014. On 25 August 2014, he was re-
designated as Chairman of the Board and appointed as 
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie who has more than thirty 
(30) years of legal and judicial experience was a Federal Court 
Judge before his retirement in 2013.

He had his early education at University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur 
where he graduated with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) Degree 
and obtained his Master of Laws Degree from University of 
Southampton, England. He read law at the Inns of Court School 
of Law in London in October 1971 and was called to the Bar of 
England and Wales in the Trinity Term of 1974 by the Honourable 
Society of Inner Temple, London. In 1978, he was awarded a 
Certificate in Advanced Management Programme by the Banff 
School of Advanced Management, Alberta, Canada.

He has served in various capacities in the Sarawak State Service 
such as District Officer, Bintulu, State Training Officer Sarawak, 
Secretary of the Government Examinations Board, Secretary of 
the Sarawak Complaints and Suggestions Bureau, Director of 
Civic Development Unit, General Manager of Sarawak Timber 
Industry Development Corporation and General Manager of 
Bintulu Development Authority.

In 1983, he resigned from the Sarawak Government service to 
set up a legal firm under the name and style of Messrs. Sulong 

Matjeraie & Co. and served as its senior partner. He was the 
President of the Advocates Association of Sarawak until his 
appointment as a Judicial Commissioner at the High Court of 
Malaya in Johor in 1998. He was a High Court Judge of Malaya 
in Johor Bahru in 2000 before being transferred to the High 
Court of Sabah and Sarawak where he served as its High Court 
Judge in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah.

In 2007, he was promoted to be a Judge of the Court of Appeal 
and was later appointed as a Federal Court Judge at the Federal 
Court of Malaysia, Palace of Justice at Putrajaya.

In 2013, Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie was appointed 
by the Prime Minister, Malaysia as one of four eminent persons 
to serve as a member of Judicial Appointments Commission for 
a period of two years. His appointment has been extended 
further by the Prime Minister for a maximum period of another 
two more years until 9 February 2017.

On 30 January 2014, he was made a Bencher of the prestigious 
Honourable Society of the Inner Temple, London.

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie is currently an Independent 
Non-Executive Director of Brahim’s Holdings Berhad and 
Southern Acids (M) Berhad. He is also an Independent Non-
Executive Chairman of Petra Energy Berhad.

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie attended all the six (6) 
Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015.

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE
Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok, a Malaysian, aged 68, was appointed to 
the Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 15 July 2013. He was appointed as a member of the 
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 24 
April 2014. On 25 August 2014, he was re-designated as Deputy 
Chairman of the Board.

Dato’ Mah qualified in law and was called to the English Bar in 
1972. He was the founder and senior partner of Messrs. Mah & 
Partners in 1975, specialising in Corporate Law, Banking Law 
and Land Law. He remained in practice for ten (10) years before 
venturing into the commercial sector. From 1983 to 1994 he 
served as Managing Director of South Malaysia Industries 
Berhad. 

Dato’ Mah is currently a Non-Executive Vice Chairman of Omesti 
Berhad, Chairman of Diversified Gateway Solutions Berhad and 
Kian Joo Can Factory Berhad. He also serves on the board of 
several private companies. He is the Deputy Chairman of Chong 
Hwa Independent High School and a member of the Board of 
Trustee of Kwan Inn Teng Foundation.

Dato’ Mah is a major shareholder of the Company.

Dato’ Mah attended all the six (6) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015.

DATO’ MAH SIEW KWOK
Deputy Chairman/Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
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Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee, a Malaysian, aged 61, was appointed 
to the Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director on 6 October 2011. He is a member of the 
Remuneration Committee and subsequently was appointed as 
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 25 August 
2014.

A graduate from the London School of Economics, United 
Kingdom, Dato’ Sri Thong has worked in the financial services 
industry from 1979 to 1988. He worked for Standard Chartered 
Merchant Bank Asia Limited in Singapore from October 1982 to 

June 1988 and his last held position was Director of its Corporate 
Finance Division. Dato’ Sri Thong is the Executive Deputy 
Chairman cum Chief Executive Officer of Insas Berhad. He is 
also a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of Inari 
Amertron Berhad, Omesti Berhad and SYF Resources Berhad.
 
Dato’ Sri Thong is a major shareholder of the Company.

Dato’ Sri Thong attended four (4) out of six (6) Board Meetings of 
the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015.

DATO’ SRI THONG KOK KHEE
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Directors’ Profile (Cont’d)

Datin Chan Bee Leng, a Malaysian, aged 55, was appointed to 
the Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 31 October 2011.

Datin Chan graduated from University of Warwick, United 
Kingdom (“UK”) with a BSc (Hons) Management Science 
(Majoring in Finance & Marketing) and from Weston-Super-Mare 
Technical College, UK with GCSE ‘A’ Levels & Business 
Education Council Diploma (BEC).

Datin Chan was a Finance Manager in Brisdale Sdn. Bhd. (a 
subsidiary of developer Perwira Indra Sakti Sdn. Bhd.) from 
1990 to 1996. She was a Director of Tepat Concrete Sdn. Bhd. 
from 2000 to 2006. She subsequently joined Bukit Jalil 
Development Sdn. Bhd. as a Consultant from 2006 to 2008.

Datin Chan is the spouse of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major 
shareholder of the Company and the mother to Mr. Low Kheng 
Lun, a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Company.

Datin Chan does not hold any directorship in other public 
companies.

Datin Chan attended five (5) out of six (6) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015.

DATIN CHAN BEE LENG
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

DATO’ WONG KIT-LEONG
Chief Executive Officer/ Executive Director

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong, a Malaysian, aged 45, was appointed to 
the Board of the Company as an Executive Director on 12 
August 2010, to manage the financial and corporate restructuring 
of the Group. He was re-designated as Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) of the Company by the Board on 24 April 2014.

Dato’ Wong graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
University of British Columbia, Canada in 1995.

He began his career with Citibank Malaysia in 1995 before 
moving to Abric Berhad in 1999. During his tenure in Abric up to 
2007, he served as Executive Director/Chief Operating Officer.

Dato’ Wong is a Shareholder and Director in Red Zone 
Development Sdn. Bhd., a major shareholder of the Company 
by virtue of its substantial shareholding in Omesti Berhad which 
is the holding company of Omesti Holdings Berhad.

Dato’ Wong does not hold any directorship in other public 
companies.

Dato’ Wong attended five (5) out of six (6) Board Meetings of the 
Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015.
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Mr. Boey Tak Kong, a Malaysian aged 62, was appointed to the 
Board of the Company as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 28 November 2014. He was appointed as a member 
of the Audit Committee on 28 November 2014 and subsequently 
appointed as Chairman of the Audit Committee on 20 April 
2015.

Mr. Boey is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants, United Kingdom, Associate of the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, United Kingdom, 
Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, 
Member of the Malaysian Institute of Management and Associate 
of the Institute of Marketing Malaysia.

Mr. Boey’s broad-based experience and professional expertise 
spans over twenty-three (23) years in senior management 

positions involving financial management, internal audit, 
corporate affairs and overseas business development with six 
(6) public listed groups with listings in Malaysia, Singapore, 
United Kingdom, New Zealand and Australia.

Presently, he is the Managing Director of Terus Mesra Sdn. Bhd., 
a leadership development and governance training company.

His other directorships in public listed companies include Dutch 
Lady Milk Industries Berhad, Green Packet Berhad, Gadang 
Holdings Berhad and Censof Holdings Berhad.

Mr. Boey attended all the six (6) Board Meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Mr. Chow Seck Kai, a Malaysian, aged 60, was appointed to the 
Board of the Company as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 17 March 2010. He was appointed as Chairman of 
the Audit Committee and subsequently was re-designated as a 
member of the Audit Committee on 20 April 2015. He is also a 
member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chow is an Associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators (UK). He is also a Fellow Member of the 
Institute of Public Accountants (IPA), Australia. Mr. Chow has 

more than twenty-five (25) years of working experience in public 
practice in various fields relating to his profession as company 
secretary and corporate advisor to SME companies.

Mr. Chow does not hold any directorship in other public 
companies.

Mr. Chow attended all the six (6) Board Meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Directors’ Profile (Cont’d)

MR. BOEY TAK KONG
Independent Non-Executive Director

MR. CHOW SECK KAI
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Directors’ Profile (Cont’d)

Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras, a Greek, aged 59, was appointed to 
the Board of the Company as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 9 September 2011. He is currently a member of the 
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee.

Mr. Pantazaras received a Master in Business Administrative 
(MBA) from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business, 
a Masters in Computer Science from the University of Essex and 
a Bachelor in Physics from the University of Athens. He also 
holds an Investment Manager License from the Indonesian 
Securities and Exchange Authority.

Mr. Pantazaras has over thirty (30) years of experience in banking 
and investment management in the United States of America 
and Asia. He started his career as a consultant at Merrill Lynch 
in Princeton and later joined the International Finance 
Corporation (IFC), initially in Washington DC and later in Jakarta, 
where he led IFC’s restructuring negotiations during the Asian 

financial crisis. He later founded a fund management and 
financial advisory firm in Jakarta and subsequently joined 
Emerging Markets Partnership (EMP) Bahrain, the General 
Partner and Manager of the US$1 billion Islamic Development 
Bank Infrastructure Fund, as Director of Investments for 
Southeast Asia. Since 2011, he is the President Director of PT. 
Melium Nusantara, a real estate development company based in 
Indonesia.

Mr. Pantazaras does not hold any directorship in other public 
companies.

He attended all the six (6) Board Meetings of the Company held 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

MR. DIMITRIOS PANTAZARAS
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Low Kheng Lun, a Malaysian, aged 29, was appointed to the 
Board of the Company as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 31 October 2011.

Mr. Low graduated from European Business School, London, 
United Kingdom (“UK”) with MA (Hons) Entrepreneurial 
Management and University College London, UK with BEng 
(Hons) Civil Engineering.

He served as a Graduate Engineer in Buildings and Infrastructure 
Department in Scott Wilson PLC, London, UK from 2008 to 
2009. He was an IT Advisory Associate in KPMG. He is currently 
a Director of Catalyst Interior Design Sdn. Bhd. and a Director of 
Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd.

Mr. Low is the son of Dato’ Low Tuck Choy, a major shareholder 
of the Company and Datin Chan Bee Leng, a Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company.

He does not hold any directorship in other public companies.

Mr. Low attended all the six (6) Board Meetings of the Company 
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

MR. LOW KHENG LUN
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Notes:-

1.	 Family Relationship with Director and/or Major Shareholder
	 Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company.

2.	 Conflict of Interest
	 None of the Directors has any conflict of interest with the Company.

3.	 Conviction of Offence
	 None of the Directors has been convicted of any offence within the past ten (10) years other than possible traffic offences, if any.
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Senior Management Profile

MR. LEE CHEN FEE
Group General Manager - Operations

Mr. Lee Chen Fee, a Malaysian, aged 49, joined the Company on 
1 April 2010. He has 25 years of experience in engineering, 
construction and property development.

Mr. Lee graduated with a degree in Civil Engineering from the 
University of Malaya in 1990 and began his career as Resident 
Engineer with Hashim and Neh Consulting Sdn Bhd. He 

subsequently joined L&M Geotechnic Sdn Bhd before moving to 
APG Geo-Systems Sdn Bhd in 1993. During his tenure in APG 
Geo-Systems Sdn Bhd, he served as Project Manager and then 
as Business Development Manager. He also served as General 
Manager at Relevant Technology (EM) Sdn Bhd and Trans MSB 
Builders Sdn Bhd and thereafter he served as General Manager 
with Trans MSB Builders Sdn Bhd before joining the Company.

Ms. Yee Lai Kuan, a Malaysian aged 59, joined the Company in 
December 1999 as Human Resource Manager, was promoted to 
Senior Manager in July 2003 and subsequently to General 
Manager in November 2006. She has over 30 years’ experience 
in Human Resource and Administration Management. 

MS. YEE LAI KUAN
General Manager – Human Resource and Administration

Ms. Yee graduated with Master in International Business 
Management from the University of East London and holds a 
Diploma in Industrial Relations. Between 1977 to 1988, she 
worked with several food and beverage companies in New 
Zealand and Malaysia in various positions.

Ms. Victoria Loui, a Malaysian, aged 46, joined the Company in 
December 2009.

Ms. Victoria Loui is a Chartered Accountant and is a member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has wide 
experience in numerous industries from auditing, construction, 
property development, financial services and education.

She started her career with Ernst and Young in 1991 and was an 
auditor at the firm until 1997, following which she joined Asia 

MS. VICTORIA LOUI HOONG MEI
General Manager – Finance

Pacific Land Berhad and Nam Fatt Corporation Berhad. In May 
2003, she joined Segi Educational Group International (SEGI) a 
regional higher education provider as Senior Finance Manager. 
In 2006, she was employed by the International Commercial 
Bank Financial Group Holdings AG (ICB) as the Chief Financial 
Officer. ICB is an International financial services provider based 
in Switzerland, with subsidiaries in Eastern Europe, Africa and 
Asia.

Mr. Teh, a Malaysian, aged 56, joined the Company in October 
2010. He has more than 20 years’ experience in the ready-mixed 
concrete industry. 

Mr. Teh graduated from the Tunku Abdul Rahman College with a 
Diploma in Commerce (Financial Accounting) in 1982. He started 
his career as an auditor in 1982 with local accounting firm. 

MR. TEH KHYE CHIN
General Manager – Ready-mix Concrete (Building Materials Division)

In 1983, Mr. Teh joined Lion Group of Companies as an accounts 
supervisor and subsequently joined Sincere Leasing Sdn Bhd as 
an assistant accountant.

From 1987 to 1997, he worked with the Sunway Group of 
Companies in its building materials division and its building 
technology arm. Mr. Teh has been in the ready-mixed concrete 
business since 1999 and was a former secretary cum treasurer 
of the National Ready-Mixed Concrete Association of Malaysia 
(NRMCAM) from 2002 to 2005.
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Senior Management Profile (Cont’d)

Mr. Yap, a Malaysian, aged 56, joined the Company in August 
2015 and brings with him  more than 25 years of  experience in  
accounting, finance and operations   in several industries from 
construction, engineering, manufacturing and trading and hotel 
management. 

Mr. Yap who holds a Diploma in Commerce in Cost & 
Management Accounting from Tunku Abdul Rahman College, 
started his career with Genting Berhad as an audit assistant, 
before  joining Singapore-listed  Jurong Engineering Ltd as a 
Finance Officer. 

In 1990, he moved back to Malaysia working as an accountant and 
operations director in the hotel management and   manufacturing 
industries. He was project director for Kiara ANR Sdn Bhd, a  
company involved in exploration for tin in Perak,  from   March 2013 
to July 2015, before he joined the Company.

MR. YAP YOON LEAN
General Manager  - Quarry Operations (Building Materials Division)

Mr. Lee Keat Hin, a Malaysian, aged 58, joined the Company in 
October 2014.

Mr. Lee who graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy degree 
from the University of Malaya is a Malaysian Chartered 
Accountant with extensive experience in corporate restructuring 
focusing on turnaround of companies.  

He began his career in 1982 as an auditor with an international 
accounting firm and specialized in corporate and financial 
restructuring, strategic planning, mergers, acquisitions and 
privatization of government entities.

He was a past governor and member of the Institute of Internal 
Auditors Malaysia and a member of the Malaysian Institute of 
Management.

MR. LEE KEAT HIN
Director – Corporate Services

Mr. Chin Kong Yaw, a Malaysian, aged 57, joined the Company 
in April 2014.

Mr. Chin graduated with a Bachelor of Economics degree with a 
major in Accountancy from Monash University, Melbourne, 
Australia and he is a member of CPA Australia.

He began his career in 1984 as an auditor and subsequently 
moved to  various other industries.  In 1989, he joined Setegap 
Berhad as a financial controller and was subsequently promoted 
to an Executive Director, where his role included  business 
development, and the implementation of construction and 
property development projects. In 2006, he joined KYM Holdings 
Berhad, as the Chief Operating Officer and was involved in the 
company’s hotel, housing and industrial property development.

MR. CHIN KONG YAW
Director – Projects
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Statement on Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“Company”) recognises the collective duty of the Board 
to promote corporate accountability and to protect the interests of shareholders and stakeholders, with the objective of enhancing 
long-term shareholders’ value.  

The Board is pleased to disclose below the manner and the extent of which it has applied the principles and complied with the 
recommended best practices set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG 2012”) and governance standards 
prescribed in the Main Market Listing Requirements (“MMLR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) throughout 
the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 

1.	 ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

1.1	 Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board has overall responsibility for corporate governance, strategic direction, corporate planning and overseeing the 
investment and business of the Group. The Board has adopted a Board Charter that clearly defines its role, functions, 
composition, operation and Board processes. The Board Charter serves as a source of reference providing guidance and 
clarity to prospective and existing Board members and Management in relation to the Board’s role, powers and duties 
and functions, processes and procedures for the Board and its Committees in discharging their stewardship effectively 
and efficiently. 

The Board Charter is available on the Company’s website at www.hohupgroup.com.my and will be reviewed when 
necessary to ensure that the Charter remains consistent with the Board’s objectives, current laws and practices.  

During the year, the Board carried out its principal responsibilities, which included:

a.	 Reviewing and adopting a strategic plan for the Group;
b.	 Overseeing the conduct of the Group’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed;
c.	 Identifying principal risks of the Group’s business activities and ensure the implementation of appropriate systems 

to manage these risks; 
d.	 Implementing a shareholder communications policy for the Company; 
e.	 Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of the Group’s s internal control systems and management information 

systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and guidelines; 
f.	 Approving the remuneration package of both Executive and Non-Executive Directors; and 
g.	 Ensuring that the Group adheres to high standards of ethics and corporate behavior.

In overseeing the conduct of the Group’s business, the Board ensured that a combined financial planning, operating and 
reporting framework with an embedded risk management framework is established. Elements under this combined 
framework include the operating plan and budget, financial statements, divisional strategic/performance reviews reports 
and risk management reports.

The Board, in consultation with Management, has put in place Discretionary Authority Limits (“DAL”), which clearly sets 
applicable thresholds, including those reserved for the Board’s approval and those which the Board may delegate to the 
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director (“CEO”) and Management. 

In addition, the Board has also delegated certain responsibilities to several Board Committees such as the Audit 
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee which operate within clearly defined Terms of Reference 
(“TOR”). The details of the other Board Committees are set out on pages 13, 15, 17 and 18 of this Annual Report.

	
1.2	 Code of Ethics and Conduct  

A formal Code of Ethics has been designed to guide the Group’s Directors towards achieving the highest standards of 
behavior in our business dealings. The Board adheres to the code of conduct expected for Directors as set out in the 
Company’s Directors’ Code of Ethics established by the Companies Commission of Malaysia. 

For Group’s employees, they are required to observe and adhere to a Standard of Conduct, which sets out the Code of 
Ethics, the Misuse of Position, Confidentiality rules and the Breach of Discipline. The Standard of Conduct aims to instill 
good conduct, integrity, professionalism and ensure good corporate practices among the Group’s employees.

http://www.hohupgroup.com.my
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1.3	 Strategies to Promote Sustainability
	
The Board is mindful of the importance of building a sustainable business and is committed to the promotion of industry 
best practices in order to stay relevant and remain competitive in sectors that the Group operates. The Board recognises 
that enhancing sustainability is a long-term commitment and therefore takes into consideration the environmental, social 
and governance impact when developing its sustainability agenda and initiatives.

In pursuit of the sustainability objective, the Group strives to provide a safe workplace for its employees and to strictly 
adhere to sound environmental standards to ensure pollution levels are kept to a minimum in respect of its construction 
activities. The Group also aims to eliminate all occupational injuries, prevent pollution at its source and optimise the use 
of natural resources.

The Board also recognises the importance of attracting and retaining key management personnel and as such has made 
concerted efforts to identify and groom middle management at all key areas, as an integral part of the management 
succession plan. The plan includes offering a competitive remuneration package, providing training and career 
development opportunities for employees in key functions of the Group’s operations.

The Board believes that good corporate governance coupled with meaningful and effective corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) will have a positive influence on the Group’s business strategy and performance in the short-term and long-term. 

  
1.4	 Access to Information, Advice and Company Secretaries

	
The Board has unrestricted and immediate access to Management and all information on the Group’s affairs. To ensure 
timely information is supplied to Board members and to allow ample time for them to consider the relevant information 
before the Board meetings, Board papers (together with a detailed agenda in the case of a meeting) are furnished to 
Board members in advance of each Board meeting.
	
Additionally, Senior Management are invited to attend Board meetings as and when required, to provide the Board with 
the necessary information and clarification on issues  deliberated during the meetings.  All deliberations, discussions and 
decisions of the Board meetings are minuted accordingly.

The Directors also have full and unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Head of Department and Company 
Secretaries.

The Company Secretaries play an advisory role to the Board on matters pertaining to compliance of procedures, including 
the appointment of new Directors, rules and regulatory requirements. They attend and ensure all Board meetings are 
properly convened and that accurate and proper records of the proceedings and resolutions passed are taken and 
maintained in the statutory register of the Company. 
 
The Board may consult with other Group employees and seek additional information where appropriate. They also have 
access to independent professional advice whenever such services are needed to assist them in carrying out their duties, 
at the Company’s expense.  

2.	 STRENGHTEN COMPOSITION

2.1	 Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The Nomination Committee (NC) consists of entirely Non-Executive Directors (NEDs), the majority of whom are 
Independent. The current NC Chairman is independent and able to contribute effectively to the NC in view of his extensive 
boardroom experience. Meetings of the NC are held at least once a year or as and when deemed fit and necessary. 

The principal functions and duties of the NC are:

•	 To consider and recommend to the Board prospective candidates for directorship, proposed by the Management, 
a Director or a Shareholder, taking into consideration the candidates’ skills, knowledge, expertise, experience, time 
commitment, character, professionalism and integrity;

•	 To recommend to the Board, eligible candidates for re-election of directors by shareholders during the annual re-
election provision or retirement;

•	 To review annually the Board structure, size, composition, core competencies and effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and the Board Committees;

•	 To review annually the independence of Independent Directors; and
•	 To identify suitable orientation, educational and training programmes for continuous development of Directors.
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2.2	 Appointment to the Board

The NC is responsible for screening, evaluating and recommending suitable candidates to the Board, for appointment as 
Directors as well as filling the vacant seats of the Board Committees. 
 
In evaluating the suitability of candidates, the NC considers the following factors before recommending to the Board for 
appointment: 

•	 Skills, knowledge, expertise and experience
•	 Time commitment to effectively discharge his/her role as a director
•	 Character, integrity and competence  

2.3	 Re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (“AA”), at least one-third (1/3) of the Directors (including 
Managing Director) be subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual General Meeting, provided always that all 
Directors shall retire from office at least once in every three years but shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors who 
retire in each year are the Directors who have been longest in office since their last election.

The AA of the Company also provides that Directors who are appointed during the financial year are subject to retirement 
and re-election by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting following their appointment.

Directors over seventy (70) years old are required to submit themselves for re-appointment annually in accordance with 
Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965.

2.4	 Annual Assessment
 	

The NC has a formal assessment mechanism to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution 
of each individual Director. 

During the financial year 2015, the NC held one (1) meeting for the following:  

•	 Reviewed the Performance Evaluation Forms for Director and Board Committees;
•	 Reviewed the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and of the Board Committees; and
•	 Annual assessment of the Independent Directors.

Based on the reviews, the NC has made the following observations:

•	 The composition of the Board was well-constructed with Directors  possessing the right mix of skills and experience, 
relevant  to the  business activities and  supportive of  the continuous growth of the Group; and

•	 The composition of Board Committees were appropriately structured to meet the roles they were required to play.  

2.5.	 Gender, Ethnicity and Age Group Diversity Policy

The Board is cognisant of the gender diversity recommendation promoted by MCCG 2012 pertaining to the need to 
establish a policy formalising the approach to boardroom diversity and to set targets and measures for the adoption of 
the said recommendation. Presently, there is one (1) female Director on the Board of the Company.

The Board does not have a specific policy on gender, ethnicity and age group for candidates to be appointed to the 
Board and does not have specific policy on setting target for female candidates in the workforce. The Company does not 
practice any form of gender, ethnicity and age group bias as all candidates shall be given fair and equal treatment.

The Board believes that there is no detriment to the Company in not adopting a formal gender, ethnicity and age group 
diversity policy as the Company is committed to provide fair and equal opportunities and nurturing diversity within the 
Company. In identifying suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the NC will consider candidates based on the 
candidates’ competency, skills, character, time commitment, knowledge, experience and other qualities in meeting the 
needs of the Company and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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2.6	 Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC comprises wholly of NEDs. The RC recommends to the Board the remuneration and entitlements of all Directors 
(including the NEDs) and the Board will decide on the recommendations of the RC. The approval for Directors’ 
remuneration rests with the Board as a whole with the Directors abstaining from voting and deliberating on decisions in 
respect of their own remuneration package.

Fees payable to NEDs are determined by way of information prepared by independent consultants and survey of data on 
remuneration practices based on other comparable industries. NEDs are paid meeting allowances based on attendance. 
In 2015, the shareholders had approved the revised fees for the Company’s Directors for the financial year 2015. 

The CEO is not entitled to the above Directors’ fee nor is he entitled to receive any meeting allowance for Board Meetings 
he attends. The CEO’s remuneration package comprises a fixed component which includes a monthly salary and 
benefits-in-kind/emoluments. The CEO’s package has been benchmarked against the market and industry practice, and 
compared with peer companies of similar size and complexity.

The details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the financial year 2015 are as follows:

Remuneration
Executive Director

RM’000
Non-Executive Directors

RM’000
Total

RM’000
Fees - 480 480
Meeting & other allowances - 49 49
Salary & other emoluments 1,194 - 1,194
EPF 141 - 141
Benefit-in-kind 54 - 54
Total 1,389 529 1,918

The number of Directors of the Company whose total remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 that 
fall within the following band is as follows:

Range of Remuneration Number of Directors (Executive) Number of Directors (Non-Executive)

RM50,001 to RM100,000 - 6

RM100,001 to RM150,000 - 2

RM1,350,001 to RM1,400,000 1 -

The fees and remuneration for the Directors of the Board and Board Committees for the financial year 2015 are as 
follows:

Fees
(Per annum)

(RM)

Meeting Allowance
(Per meeting)

(RM)

Travelling Allowance 
(Per annum)

(RM)

Chairman :

Board 100,000 1,000 30,000 

Audit Committee - 1,000 -

Nomination Committee - 1,000 -

Remuneration Committee - 1,000 -

Deputy Chairman :

Board 80,000 500 25,000

Member:

Board 50,000 500 -

Audit Committee - 500 -

Nomination Committee - 500 -

Remuneration  Committee - 500 -

Statement on Corporate Governance (Cont’d)



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)16

3.	 REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE

3.1	 Annual Assessment of Independence

The Board, through the NC, assesses the independence of the NEDs annually. This is in line with Recommendation 3.1 
of the MCCG 2012, as one of the factors in determining the NED’s eligibility to stand for re-election.

Based on the assessment on the independence of all Independent Directors in 2015, the Board is satisfied with the level 
of independence demonstrated by all the Independent Directors and their ability to act in the best interests of the 
Company, as well as ability to resolve problems based on clarity and understanding of all subject matters during 
deliberations at Board meetings. 

3.2	 Tenure of Independent Director

The Board is aware that the tenure of an Independent Director should not exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years, as 
recommended under the MCCG 2012. None of the Independent Directors of the Company has exceeded the cumulative 
term of nine (9) years as at the date of this Annual Report.

3.3	 Separation of Positions of the Chairman and CEO

The Board recognises the importance of having a clearly accepted division of function and responsibilities as the head 
of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authority. It is the policy of the Board to keep the roles of the Chairman 
and the CEO separate. 

The Chairman of the Company is an Independent NED. The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are held by different 
individuals and the division of their responsibilities is clearly established, with each having distinct and clearly defined 
authority and responsibilities.

The Chairman carries out a leadership role to guide and mediate the Board to ensure that the highest standard of 
corporate governance is practiced in meeting the stakeholders’ objective. 

The position of the CEO in essence is to ensure the effective implementation of the Group’s strategic plan and policies 
established by the Board as well as to manage the daily conduct of the business to ensure its smooth operation. The 
CEO, in association with the Chairman, is accountable to the Board for the achievement of the Group’s goals and 
objectives. 

The CEO's role is to ensure the execution of the organisation's strategic plan, business plan and budget and performance 
benchmarks to achieve the business objective and maximise the return to stakeholders. He is to oversee the human 
resources of the organisation with respect to succession planning, discipline, occupational safety and health with the 
objective of providing a safe and healthy working environment for all employees.

The Independent NEDs as a group are a strong element on the Board. The role of the Independent NEDs is particularly 
important in ensuring that the long term interests of shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and many communities 
in which the Group conducts business in are being looked after. With their extensive knowledge, experience and expertise, 
the Independent NEDs would be able to provide the necessary check and balance to the Board’s decision-making 
process.

All shareholders are fairly represented on the Board. The investment of minority shareholders is fairly represented by the 
four (4) Independent NEDs who make up more than one-third (1/3) of the Board.

3.4	 Board Composition

At the date of this report, the Board consists of nine (9) members of whom four (4) are Independent NEDs, four (4) are 
Non-Independent NEDs and one (1) is CEO. The present composition of the Board complies with Paragraph 15.02(1) of 
the MMLR of Bursa Securities whereby at least one-third (1/3) of the Board must be made up of Independent Directors.

A brief description of the background of each Director is presented on pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report.
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4.	 FOSTER COMMITMENT

4.1	 Time Commitment

The Board is satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the Directors towards fulfilling their roles and 
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. This is evidenced by the attendance record of the Directors at the Board 
and Board Committee meetings for the financial year 2015, as set out in the table below.

a.	 Board Meetings

The Board is required to meet at least four (4) times a year which is scheduled at quarterly intervals, with additional 
meetings convened when necessary.

During the year, six (6) Board Meetings were held to deliberate and resolve significant issues in relation to strategic, 
operational, financial, corporate and regulatory matters affecting the Group. Attendance of the Directors are as 
follows:

Directors Directorship Attendance

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok Deputy Chairman/Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

6/6

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director 5/6

Mr. Chow Seck Kai Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6

Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 4/6

Datin Chan Bee Leng Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 5/6

Mr. Low Kheng Lun Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6

Mr. Boey Tak Kong Independent Non-Executive Director 6/6

All Directors have complied with the minimum requirement of 50% attendance at Board meetings as stipulated in 
the MMLR of Bursa Securities.

b.	 Audit Committee (“AC”)

The composition of AC and details of attendance of each member at AC meetings held during the financial year 
2015 are set out below:

Directors Directorship Attendance

Mr. Boey Tak Kong Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5

Mr. Chow Seck Kai Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5

Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras Independent Non-Executive Director 5/5

Further details of the AC including its activities during the year under review are disclosed in the Audit Committee 
Report contained in this Annual Report. 

c.	 Nomination Committee ("NC")

The composition of the NC and details of attendance of each member at the Committee meeting held during the 
financial year 2015 are set out below:

Directors Directorship Attendance

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1
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d.	 Remuneration Committee ("RC")

The composition of the RC and details of attendance of each member at the Committee meeting held during the 
financial year 2015 are set out below:

Directors Directorship Attendance

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee Chairman/Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director

1/1

Mr. Chow Seck Kai Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 1/1

4.2	 Number of Directorship of Each Director

To ensure the Directors have the time to focus and fulfill their roles and responsibilities effectively, one criterion as agreed 
by the Board for determining candidates for the poll of potential Directors is that they must not hold directorships at more 
than five (5) PLCs (as prescribed in Paragraph 15.06 of the MMLR of Bursa Securities) and must be able to commit 
sufficient time to the Company’s matters.

The Directors also observed the recommendation of the MCCG 2012 that they are required to notify the Chairman before 
accepting any new directorship and to indicate the time expected to be spent on the new appointment.

4.3	 Directors’ Training

The Board acknowledges that continuous education is vital in keeping them abreast with corporate developments. The 
Directors have constantly been updated with relevant reading materials and technical updates which will enhance their 
knowledge and equip them with the necessary skills to effectively discharge their duties as Directors of the Company.

The NC is tasked with recommending suitable professional educational and training programmes and will put in place 
training programmes for new Board members.

All members of the Board have attended and successfully completed the Mandatory Accreditation Programme. 
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report, the Directors have attended the 
following courses:

Directors Courses Attended Date of Training
Datuk Seri Panglima 
Sulong Matjeraie

Lead The Change: Getting Women on Board 8 May 2015
Board Chairman Series Part 2: Leadership Excellence from the Chair 28 July 2015
Ethics Red Flags for Board of Directors 3 November 2015

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok Asean Capital Market CEO Summit 2015 12 February 2015
Executive Tax & GST Briefing 29 April 2015
Audit Oversight Board Conversation with Audit Committees 7 May 2015
Lead the Change: Getting Women on Boards 8 May 2015
Board Chairman Series Part 2: Leadership Excellence from the Chair 3 September 2015
Nominating Committee Programme Part 2: Effective Board 
Evaluations

10 September 2015

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong Book Launch Top Malaysian Small Cap Companies 30 Jewels (2015 
Edition) (As a speaker)

6 April 2015

CIDB Green Card Training 16 April 2015
Lead the Change: Getting Women on Boards 8 May 2015
Real Estate Show Myanmar 2015 (As a speaker) 3 - 5 August 2015
Advocacy Sessions on Management Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) 
for Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officers

30 September 2015

Mr. Boey Tak Kong Trouble In The Boardroom 5 March 2015
Conversation With Audit Committees 7 May 2015
Walking The Ethical Tightrope 18 May 2015
A Dialogue: Post-Workshop On Risk Management & Internal Control 
For Audit Committee Members

9 June 2015

Bringing The Best Out In Boardrooms 31 July 2015
The Board’s Response In Light Of Rising Shareholder Engagement 4 August 2015
Advocacy Session On Management Discussion & Analysis For CEO & 
CFO

3 September 2015

Future of Auditor Reporting - The Game Changer for Boardroom 21 September 2015
The Interplay Between Corporate Governance, Non-Financial 
Information and Investment Decision – What Boards of Listed 
Companies Need to Know

22 September 2015

Directors’ Training
•	 Integrated reporting
•	 Will the next scandal be on your watch, and do your minority 

shareholders trust you?
Economic outlook & lookout

20 October 2015

Mr. Chow Seck Kai Transactions by Directors and Practical Issues and Solutions 2 July 2015
The Interplay Between Corporate Governance, Non-Financial 
Information and Investment Decision – What Boards of Listed 
Companies Need to Know

22 September 2015

Mr. Dimitrios 
Pantazaras

Implementing Investor Relation Strategies 22 July 2015
Risk Seminar 12 August 2015

Datin Chan Bee Leng Understanding the Insights Into Growth Transformation Agenda for 
Property Companies

24 June 2015

Implementing Investor Relation Strategies 22 July 2015
Mr. Low Kheng Lun Understanding the Insights Into Growth Transformation Agenda for 

Property Companies
24 June 2015

Implementing Investor Relation Strategies 22 July 2015

In addition, during the financial year under review, all Directors were also advised of developments and changes to 
relevant laws and regulatory requirements. The Company also identified suitable training and education programmes for 
their participation. 
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5.	 UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

5.1	 Compliance with Applicable Financial Reporting Standards

The Directors are responsible for presenting a balanced, and easy to comprehend assessment of the Group’s position 
and prospects to shareholders, investors and regulatory authorities. The quarterly results and annual financial statements 
are reviewed by the AC and recommended to the Board for approval before releasing to the public, via the Bursa website. 
The AC also reviews the appropriateness of the Company’s and Group’s accounting policies and the changes to these 
policies as well as ensures the financial statements comply with accounting standards and other regulatory requirements. 
The Statement of Directors pursuant to Section 169 of the Act is set out on page 62 whereas the Statement of 
Responsibility by Directors pursuant to Paragraph 15.27(a) of the MMLR of Bursa Securities is on page 38 of this Annual 
Report.

The details of the financial statements of the Company are set out on pages 55 to 130 of this Annual Report.

5.2	 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

The AC undertakes an annual assessment of the suitability and independence of the External Auditors. The AC meets 
with the External Auditors at least twice a year to discuss their audit plan, audit findings and the Company’s financial 
statements. Being satisfied with the performance of the External Auditors, the AC will recommend their re-appointment 
to the Board, and shareholders’ approval will be sought at the AGM.

6.	 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS

6.1	 Sound Framework to Manage Risks

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls covers not only financial 
controls but also operational and compliance controls as well as risk management. The internal control system involves 
each business and key management from each business, including the Board, and is designed to meet the Group’s 
particular needs and to manage the risks to which it is exposed. The system, by its nature, can only provide reasonable 
but not absolute assurance against material misstatements, losses and fraud. 

The AC and Board review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal controls weaknesses. The 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control which provides an overview of the state of risk management and 
internal controls within the Group, is set out on pages 28 to 31 of this Annual Report.

6.2	 Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to Columbus Advisory Sdn Bhd, to assist the Board and the AC in 
providing independent assessment of the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the outsourced internal audit function assisted the AC in discharging 
its duties and responsibilities by executing independent reviews to determine the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control system. Based on the internal audit reviews conducted, none of the weaknesses noted have 
resulted in any material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require separate disclosure in this Annual 
Report.

The information on the Group’s risk management and internal control is presented in the Statement of Risk Management 
and Internal Control as set out on pages 28 to 31 of this Annual Report.

Statement on Corporate Governance (Cont’d)



Annual Report 2015 21

7.	 ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE

7.1	 Corporate Disclosure Policy

The Company recognises the value of transparent, consistent and coherent communication with the investing community 
consistent with commercial confidentiality and regulatory considerations.

The Company is committed to ensure that communications to the investing public regarding the business, operations 
and financial performance of the Company are accurate, timely, factual, informative, consistent, broadly disseminated 
and where necessary, information filed with regulators is in accordance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

The Company is guided by the Corporate Disclosure Guide issued by Bursa Securities with the consultation of the 
Company Secretaries, advisers and/or other service providers.

7.2	 Leverage on Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information

The Group’s website, namely www.hohupgroup.com.my is updated regularly, for shareholders and the public to gain 
access to corporate information, news and events relating to the Group. Investors and members of the public who wish 
to contact the Group on any matters pertaining to their shareholdings, investments and/or the Group’s business 
undertakings can channel their enquires through e-mail via the Group’s website.

8.	 STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS

8.1	 Encourage shareholder participation at general meetings

The Board fully recognises the rights of shareholders and encourages them to exercise their rights at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. Notice of the Annual General Meeting 
and Annual Reports are sent out to shareholders at least twenty-one (21) days before the date of the meeting. At the 
meeting, the Management makes a presentation on the year’s financial results and business activities.

The date, venue and time of the Annual General Meeting are determined to provide the maximum opportunity for as many 
shareholders as possible to attend and participate either in person, by corporate representative or by proxy.

8.2	 Encourage Poll Voting

Recommendation 8.2 of the MCCG 2012 recommends that the Board should encourage poll voting for substantive 
resolutions. In line with this recommendation, the Chairman informs the shareholders of their right to demand a poll vote 
at the commencement of the general meeting.

The Board considers electronic poll voting as a viable voting option for shareholders to be implemented in the future 
provided it is satisfied that the infrastructure is reliable and cost effective.

8.3	 Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is committed in maintaining effective communication with its shareholders, stakeholders and the public in 
general. A Shareholders' Communication Policy has been developed to earn the trust and confidence of shareholders 
and investing public as a whole, assist in providing an understanding of the Company’s business, management direction 
and the industry the Company is in. The objective is to provide timely and transparent communication and   to enable 
shareholders to make effective and informed investment decisions.

The various channels of communication with shareholders are:

a.	 The Annual Report;
b.	 The Annual General Meeting (AGM);
c.	 The various corporate disclosures and announcements made to Bursa Securities;
d.	 Newspaper articles and published interview with business journalists; and
e.	 The Company’s website, namely www.hohupgroup.com.my.
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The AGM is an excellent forum for dialogue with all shareholders for which due notice is given. The Annual General 
Meeting is also an opportunity for shareholders to direct questions to the Board in relation to the Group’s financial 
performance and the Group’s activities.
 
At the last AGM, the Chairman encouraged the shareholders to participate in the Questions and Answers session on the 
resolutions being proposed and on the Group’s operations in general. The Directors, CEO, Management and External 
Auditors were in attendance to respond to the shareholders’ queries. The CEO also shared with the shareholders the 
Company’s responses to questions received in advance from the Minority Shareholder Watchdog Group during the last 
Annual General Meeting. 

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

This Statement on the Company’s corporate governance practices is made in compliance with the MMLR of Bursa Securities.

This Statement was approved by the Board of Directors on 19 April 2016.
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INTRODUCTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company is guided not 
only by the need to build a sustainable business that contributes 
to the growth of the country, but also by the possible impact of 
the Group’s  business activities on the environment, community, 
customers, suppliers and its employees.

Guided by this principle on corporate responsibility, the 
Company continued to contribute to local charities, voluntary 
organisations and supported numerous charitable causes in 
cash and in kind, in the year under review.

PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT

The Company, recognising that employees are the most 
important asset in the Group’s  pursuit of  sustainable growth, 
has endeavored to safeguard the welfare, healthcare, training 
and career development of its employees. A highlight of the 
year, was a team building event held over four (4) days in Krabi, 
Thailand for 54 staff members.

The Company has adopted a policy of workforce diversity. The 
table below outlines the level of diversity in the Group’s 
workforce.

Corporate Responsibility

Male Female Groupwide
Staff Grading
Top Management 10 2 12
Senior Management & Middle 
Management

15 7 22

Other Levels 42 19 61
Total 67 28 95

Ethnicity
Malay 32 14 46
Chinese 30 14 44
Indian 5 - 5
Total 67 28 95

Age Group
Below 30 14 5 19
30 to 39 17 11 28
40 to 49 12 8 20
50 to 59 20 4 24
Above 60 4 - 4
Total 67 28 95

Staff training conducted during the financial year ended 31 
December 2015 is as follows:

Date Title of the Courses
14-Jan-15 The EA Form Seminar - Employer’s Tax Reporting on 

Employee Salaries and Benefits
21-Jan-15 Roles & Responsibilities in Ensuring Health, Safety & 

Environmental Legal Compliance

22-Jan-15 Corporate Seminar January 2015 - Global Market 
Outlook

22-Jan-15 Durable Concrete Structural System

27-Jan-15 Upcoming GST Training

29-Jan-15 Flexible Work Arrangments Workshop

24-Feb-15 GST - It’s Impact on Employee Benefits

10-Mar-15 PWD 203A Form of Contract (Revision 2010) - A user’s 
Manual

12-Mar-15 MHW Key Points Financial Accounting System GST 
Functionalities

17-Mar-15 ISO 9001:2008 QMS Internal Audit Training

19-Mar-15 Good and Services Tax (GST)

24 & 25 Mar 15 National Employment Law Conference 2015

31-Mar-15 Learning & Development Conference 2015

22 & 23 April 15 Effective Management and Leadership for New 
Managers Using NLP

22 & 23 April 15 Strategy on Corporate Tax Planning Initiatives in 2015

5 & 7 May 15 2015 International Fire Conference & Exhibition Malaysia 
- Fire & Disaster Challenges

29-May-15 GST  

2 & 3 Jun 15 How to prepare the Standard Operating Procedures 
(SOP) for Property Development & Construction Projects

24-Jun-15 Understanding The Insights into Growth Transformation 
Agenda for Property Companies

24-Jun-15 Malaysian Property Companies Growth Strategies

6 & 7 July 15 Project Management

22-Jul-15 Implementing Investor Relation Strategies

10-Sep-15 Strategic Tax Planning for Corporate Restructuring

23-Sep-15 Changing Audit Committee’s Perspective on Financial 
Reporting & Internal Audit Assurance Challenges

29-Sep-15 Subsidary Company Directors - Know Your Roles, 
Protect Your Rights

29 & 30 Sep 15 Corporate Governance in Construction Industry

12 & 13 Oct 15 Understanding JD, JA, KPI’s and Appraisal

22-Oct-15 Strategic Tax Planning for Corporate Restructuring

8-Dec-15 Essential Knowledge of Concrete Batching Operation

10-Dec-15 Seminar MS on Cement - The Way Forward

Substantial efforts and resources are channeled towards 
ensuring employees wellness, to ensure their welfare is well 
taken care of whilst in employment with the Group.
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Corporate Responsibility (Cont’d)

ENVIRONMENT

To support the sustainability of our environment, the Group embraces green practices, such as the responsible use of water resources 
and waste management best practices in the implementation of the group's projects.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group also strives to prevent and eliminate injuries, health hazards and damage to property, as well as minimising pollution to 
safeguard our environment.

COMMUNITY RELATIONS

Embracing the responsibility of helping to improve lives, now 
and in future, we extended a helping hand to the community 
through various projects. Our involvement is driven by our 
believe that the success of our Group of companies is not 
measured only by our financials but also the extent we serve the 
community and country. Our initiatives are aligned with our 
national Vision 2020, the upliftment of life through economic 
prosperity, social well-being, and higher educational standards.

During the year, we engaged the community in the following 
events:

a.	 The Bursa Bull Charge - 20 August 2015

The Company participated in Malaysia’s Capital Market 
Run organised by Bursa Malaysia. The run is themed 
“Bursa Bull Charge”. This run follows Kuala Lumpur’s 
Capital Market Trail, a route through the Central Business 
District, passing the headquarters of major corporations 
and market players, a reminder of the sustainability of our 
marketplace.

Aside from raising funds for charitable causes, this event 
has successfully created awareness of the need to 
enhance financial literacy and its sustainability of the 
marketplace.

b.	 Visit SMJK Triang – 7 October 2015

Ho Hup believes in supporting young Malaysians, 
especially those in rural areas to achieve better English 
language skills. This support was translated into action 
with a donation of 46 sets of Peter and Jane KWRS Series 
from Penguin Random House/Penguin Books Malaysia to 
SMJK Triang Pahang which had embarked on a programme 
to improve the reading skills of its pupils. The books, 
helped kick-off for the implementation of the School’s 
English Language Reading Programme (ELRP).

c.	 Library of HOPE – 7 November 2015

Ho Hup also lent its support to another education initiative 
when it signed up to be the sponsor to help build and 
complete a library for the Orang Asli of Kampung Paya 
Buloh village in Temerloh. The Library of HOPE programme 
was organised by People Giving to help the country’s 
Orang Asli improve access to education and reading 
materials. In support of this meaningful event, Ho Hup also 
sent several staff to help to build the library. We are happy 
to say that many of Ho Hup’s staff volunteered for the 
opportunity to lend a helping hand, distributing food, 
clothes, school bags and toys as well as decorating the 
library.
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Additional Compliance Information

1.	 Utilisation of Proceeds

On 23 January 2015, Ho Hup completed its Private Placement exercise following the listing of and quotation for 31,125,000 
new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in Ho Hup (“Placement Shares”). The Company raised gross proceeds of RM34.9 million 
based on the issue price of RM1.12 per Placement Share. The proceeds of the Private Placement is fully utilised as at the date 
of this report as described below:

      Proposed Utilisation
Actual

Utilisation

Minimum^
RM’000

Maximum#
RM’000 RM’000

Working capital 40,559 50,867 34,101

To defray expenses relating to the Private Placement 1,000 1,200 759

Total 41,559 52,067 34,860

^Based on indicative issue price of RM1.34 per Placement Share and issue size of 31,014,000 Placement Shares, assuming 
none of the outstanding ICPS, RCPS and Warrants 2013/2018 held as at 4 September 2014 are exercised/converted into Ho 
Hup shares prior to implementation of the Proposed Private Placement. 

#Based on indicative issue price of RM1.34 per Placement Share and issue size of 38,856,195 Placement Shares, assuming 
all the outstanding ICPS, RCPS and Warrants 2013/2018 held as at 4 September 2014 are exercised/converted into Ho Hup 
shares prior to implementation of the Proposed Private Placement.

2.	 Material Contracts

No material contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) have been entered into by the 
Company and/or its subsidiaries which involved the interests of Directors and/or major shareholders, either still subsisting at 
the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous 
financial year.

3.	 Non-audit Fees

The amount of non-audit fees incurred for services rendered by the external auditors and its affiliates to the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015 was RM32,000 (exclude Goods and Services Tax and disbursements).

4.	 Share Buy-Back

The Group did not undertake any share buy-back exercise for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

5.	 Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities 

On 23 December 2013, the Company issued the following securities pursuant to the Regularisation Scheme of the Company 
which were subsequently listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 31 December 2013:

i.	 102,000,408 Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares (“ICPS”) of RM0.01 each pursuant to the Rights Issue of ICPS 
with Warrants;

ii.	 51,000,204 Warrants (“Warrants 2013/2018”) pursuant to the Rights Issue of ICPS with Warrants; and
iii.	 133,560,930 Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares (“RCPS”) of RM0.01 each pursuant to the Scheme of 

Arrangement with Creditors.

The Company has implemented an Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) effective from 21 August 2015. The ESOS shall 
be in force for a duration of five (5) years from the date of implementation of the ESOS. 

On 1 September 2015, the Company had made the first offer of 6,000,900 new Ho Hup shares (“ESOS Options”) pursuant to 
the ESOS (“First Offer”) to eligible employees and Directors at the exercise price of RM0.74.
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Conversions of the ICPS and RCPS and exercise of the Warrants and ESOS during the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 are as below:

Securities
(‘000 units)	

Ordinary
Shares ICPS RCPS

Warrants
2013/2018

ESOS 
Options Total

Number of Securities on 31 
December 2014

311,258 9,661 22,150 45,492 - 388,561

Private placement 31,125 - - - - 31,125

First offer of ESOS - - - - 6,001 6,001

Conversion of ICPS 1,624 (1,624) - - - -

Conversion of RCPS 2,491 - (2,491) - - -

Exercise of Warrants 
2013/2018

80 - - (80) - -

Exercise of ESOS Options 200 - - - (200) -

Number of Securities on 31 
December 2015

346,778 8,037 19,659 45,412 5,801 425,687

Save as disclosed above, there were no other options, warrants or issuance of any convertible securities during the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015.

6.	 Depository Receipt Programme 

The Group did not sponsor any Depository Receipt Programme during the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

7.	 Variation in Results

There was no variance of 10% or more between the audited results for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the 
unaudited results previously announced by the Company for the quarter ended 31 December 2015.

8.	 Profit Guarantee

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, there was no profit guarantee given by the Group and the Company.

9.	 Sanction and/or Penalties

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, there were no sanctions nor any material penalties imposed on the Company 
or its subsidiaries, directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies.

10.	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions of A Revenue Nature

The breakdown of the aggregate value of transactions of a revenue and trading nature conducted during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate obtained at the 41st Annual General Meeting of the Company 
held on 18 June 2015 and the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 22 January 2016, is set out below:-

a.	 Shareholders’ Mandate obtained at the Company’s 41st Annual General Meeting held on 18 June 2015

Ho Hup and/or its 
subsidiaries

Transacting 
Parties

Nature of Transactions Aggregate value of transactions 
from 1 January 2015 to 31 
December 2015
(RM'000) 

Ho Hup Group Directors and/or 
Major Shareholders 
of Ho Hup Group 
and Persons 
Connected to them

Sale of development properties 
in the ordinary course of 
business provided that any one 
of the percentage ratios of the  
transaction does not exceed 
10% as defined in the Listing 
Requirements

429

Additional Compliance Information (Cont’d)
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b.	 Shareholders’ Mandate obtained at the Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 22 January 2016

Ho Hup and/or its 
subsidiaries

Transacting 
Parties

Nature of Transactions Aggregate value of transactions  
from 22 January 2016 up to latest 
practicable date prior to the printing 
the Circular to Shareholders dated 
29 April 2016
(RM'000)

Golden Wave Sdn 
Bhd

Tribeca Real Estate 
Asset Management 
Sdn Bhd (“TREAM”)

Service rendered by TREAM for 
provision of development and 
project management services

420

The details of the renewal of the existing shareholders' mandate to be sought have been furnished in the Circular to 
Shareholders dated 29 April 2016 together with this Annual Report. The details of the recurrent related party transactions 
are disclosed in Part A, Section 2.4 of Circular to Shareholders dated 29 April 2016. 

Additional Compliance Information (Cont’d)
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Statement on Risk Management and
Internal Control

INTRODUCTION

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and risk management and for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the system. In discharging its stewardship responsibilities, the Group has established a sound risk 
management framework and procedures of internal control. These procedures, which are embedded into the culture, processes and 
structures of the Group are subject to regular review by the Board, with an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group that may affect the achievement of its business objectives and strategies. 

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 requires listed companies to maintain a sound system of risk management and 
internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. Pursuant to the Main Market Listing Requirements 
of Bursa Securities, the directors of public listed companies are required to include a statement in their annual report on the state of 
their risk management and internal controls framework. 

This Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control outlines the nature and scope of risk management and internal control 
of the Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and covers all of the Group’s operations except for associate 
companies as guided by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors recognise the importance of a sound system of risk management and internal control for good corporate 
governance. The Board acknowledges its primary responsibility to ensure that principal risks in the Group are identified, measured 
and managed with an appropriate system of risk management and internal controls, including to ensure that the effectiveness, 
adequacy and integrity of the risk management and internal control systems are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

The Board also acknowledges that a sound system of risk management and internal controls is designed to identify and manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business objectives. A sound system of risk management and internal 
controls therefore provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against any risk of material misstatement or financial losses.

 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

Management is responsible for implementing the control systems and processes to identify, evaluate, monitor and report on risks 
identified and steps taken to minimise the risks.  

THE GROUP’S RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board acknowledges that the Group’s business activities involve certain degrees of risks and that an effective risk management 
practice is essential in pursuit of the Group’s corporate objectives and operating goals. Key management personnel and Heads of 
Departments are delegated with responsibilities to manage key risks associated with their respective operating units.

During Management meetings, the key risks relating to the Group’s strategic operations and business plans are deliberated. 
Significant risks identified by the Management are also brought to the attention of the Board at scheduled Board meetings. 
 
The above mentioned practices/initiatives put in place by the Board serve as an on-going feedback process to identify, evaluate and 
manage significant risks.

In the financial year under review, an internal audit review was performed. The results of the review have been reported to the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors for discussion and deliberation. Resolution and actions with set timelines were agreed upon 
to mitigate any risks identified. 

1.	 Investment/Project Risk

Investment risk on major investments is being mitigated with legal and financial due diligence, feasibility studies and risk 
assessment on the investment before venturing into it. Proposals are submitted by the Management while evaluation and 
deliberation are done at Board meetings. All investment/projects are evaluated for the risks before a decision is made to 
proceed or not to proceed with the investment/project. The Audit Committee reviews the risk management report prepared by 
the Management on quarterly basis.
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During the financial year, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors reviewed the investment risks for the following major 
projects being undertaken by the Group. These projects were:

i.	 Investment in Golden Wave Sdn Bhd which has the rights over 5 acres of commercial land in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, with 
an estimated gross development value of RM774 million. 

ii.	 Investment in Intact Corporate Approach Sdn Bhd which has the rights over a 429-acre of land in Kulai, Johor with 
potential for integrated township development. 

iii.	 Investment in Erakuasa Global Sdn Bhd which has the quarrying rights over a 260-acre of quarry land in Melaka.

2.	 Funding Risk

With the expansion of business activities in the Group, the needs for financing to fund these activities and new projects have 
increased. To mitigate the funding risk for these activities, the Company explored funding options with various banks, and 
secured several financing facilities including construction contract financing facility to finance local construction projects; 
equity loan to finance our equity investments/acquisitions of companies; and a term loan for the bus terminal project in Kota 
Kinabalu. 

With the objective of maintaining a reasonable debt-to-equity ratio, the Company announced on 26 January, 2016, a proposed 
rights issue to raise funds that would be utilised for loan repayment and working capital purposes. 

  
3.	 Project Completion Risk and Non-Performing Sub-Contractors Risk

In carrying out the Group’s projects, the Group places emphasis on working with suitable and reliable sub-contractors. 
Selection and appointment of sub-contractors is by tender evaluation conducted by the Tender Committee based on the 
evaluation procedures in the International Standard Operation (ISO 9001: 2008).
 
This risk is further mitigated through weekly management meetings to ensure that work progresses as scheduled, as well 
as close monitoring of the sub-contractors that have been appointed for the Group’s projects such as the Aurora Place 
development, the Polytechnic project in Hulu Terengganu and the Soil Improvement project for RAPID, in Johor.

4.	 Foreign Currency Risk

Most on-going overseas projects are paid in United States Dollar (USD) for progress claims for its services. Any repatriation 
back to Malaysia will be subjected to fluctuation in the currencies and the Group could be exposed to foreign currency gains 
or losses. 

5.	 Country and Political Risk

In respect of sovereign risks, the Group faces certain security risk. All employees have been sufficiently insured with pre-
arrangement to cover evacuation risks. In assessing overseas projects, the Board’s emphasis is to avoid capital intensive 
projects.  

6.	 Joint Venture Partners

The performance of joint venture partners are being monitored closely in line with the joint venture agreements and through 
monthly status reports to avoid delays impacting the Group’s performance. 

KEY FEATURES OF THE GROUP’S INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The salient features of the Group’s system of internal controls are as follows:

•	 Weekly Management meeting led by the CEO to review, monitor and follow up on operational, financial and project matters;

•	 Quarterly financial reports, measured  against the forecast/budget, are provided to Directors and discussed at  Audit Committee 
and Board meetings;

•	 Financial results are reviewed quarterly by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board;

Statement on Risk Management and
Internal Control (Cont’d)
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•	 A structured Enterprise Risk Management Framework for the Group. This process involves the updating of the Group’s key risk 
profile, prioritising of risks in terms of likelihood of their occurrence and the impact on the achievement of the Group’s business 
objectives/operating goals;

•	 Internal audit function outsourced to an independent advisory firm with its audit plan approved by the Audit Committee to 
assess the adequacy of internal controls, the extent of compliance with established procedures as well as advising management 
on areas for  improvement;

•	 Clear Group structure, reporting lines of responsibilities and appropriate levels of delegation;

•	 Documented policies, procedures and limits of approving authorities for key aspects of the businesses. This provides a sound 
framework of authority and accountability within the Group and facilitates proper corporate decision-making process at the 
appropriate level in the Group’s hierarchy;

•	 Audit Committee convenes meeting on quarterly basis to deliberate on the findings and recommendations for improvements 
by the Internal Auditors and External Auditors. The Audit Committee reviews the actions taken to rectify the findings in a timely 
manner and to evaluate the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s internal control systems;

•	 The Board receives timely information pertaining to the performance of the Group through quarterly Board documents as 
well as monthly progress reports on on-going projects and projects under tender consideration from Management. Regular 
independent internal audit visits examine the Group’s compliance with policy and procedures. Internal audit findings are 
presented with management’s responses and proposed action plans to Audit Committee for review. Follow up visits to assess 
implementation of past audit findings are also carried out across the Group progressively; 

•	 The Group has adopted a performance appraisal for the Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director. The Board has delegated 
the authority to the Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director to review and assess the Management performance. Senior 
Management also conducts the performance appraisals for the staff on yearly basis; 

•	 Training and development programmes are identified and scheduled for employees to acquire the necessary knowledge and 
competency to meet their performance and job task expectations;

•	 All significant contracts and legally enforceable agreements are vetted by the Group’s legal department and/or appointed 
lawyers; 

•	 In respect of joint ventures entered into by the Group, the Management of the joint ventures, which consist of representatives 
from the Group and the joint venture partner is responsible to oversee the administration, operation and performance of the 
joint venture project. Financial and operational reports of these joint ventures are provided regularly to the Management of the 
Company; and

•	 Meeting with analysts are conducted on a regular basis to apprise the shareholders, stakeholders and general public of the 
Group’s performance and progress whilst promoting transparency and open discussion.

ASSURANCE MECHANISM

The Group’s internal audit function is outsourced to Columbus Advisory Sdn Bhd during the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
The outsourced internal auditors are engaged to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in providing independent assessment of 
the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. They report directly to the Audit Committee and 
internal audit plans are tabled to the Audit Committee for review and approval to ensure adequate coverage.

The Internal Auditors table their findings on the business processes of different operating units to the Audit Committee at their 
scheduled meetings. In addition, the status of the implementation of corrective follow-up actions to address control weaknesses are 
monitored by the Internal Auditors to ensure that these actions have been satisfactorily implemented. 

Subsequent to the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Board upon the recommendation of the AC, approved on 25 
February 2016, the appointment of KPMG Management & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd to undertake the internal audit function. The AC 
had also on 25 February 2016 approved and adopted the risk-based internal audit plan for 2016, presented by KPMG Management 
& Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd.

Statement on Risk Management and
Internal Control (Cont’d)
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The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, will review the adequacy and the integrity of the system of risk management and 
internal control.

The Audit Committee Report set out on pages 32 to 37 contains further information on the Committee’s activities as well as that of 
the outsourced Internal Auditors.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal control mainly applies to its operating units and does not cover associated 
companies, dormant companies and overseas operations.

It is the intention of the Board to ensure that the guidance as outlined in Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: 
Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers is observed.

BOARD’S COMMITMENT

The structure of controls and operations will be continuously and gradually improved to ensure they remain adequate and relevant 
to the Company and Group activities.  The Board remains committed to maintain a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and will, when necessary, put in place actions to continuously improve and enhance the Group’s system of risk management 
and internal control.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the External Auditors have reviewed 
this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. Their limited assurance review was performed in accordance with 
Recommended Practice Guide (“RPG”) 5 (Revised): Guidance for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control included in the Annual Report, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. RPG 5 (Revised) 
does not require the external auditors to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control systems of the Group.

Based on their review, the External Auditors have reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them 
to believe that this Statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process the Board has adopted in the review of the 
adequacy and integrity of risk management and internal control of the Group. 

CONCLUSION

For the financial year under review and up to the date of issuance of the financial statements, the Board is satisfied with the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of risk management and internal control to safeguard the interest of shareholders. 
No material losses, contingencies or uncertainties have arisen from any inadequacy or failure of the Group’s system of internal 
control that would require separate disclosure in the Group’s Annual Report. The Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director and 
General Manager, Finance have provided assurance to the Board that the Group’s risk management and internal control system, in 
all material aspects, is operating adequately and effectively.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 19 April 2016.

Statement on Risk Management and
Internal Control (Cont’d)
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Audit Committee Report

The Board is pleased to present the Audit Committee (AC) Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

1.	 Composition

As at the date of this report, the AC comprises three (3) members of the Board, all of them are Independent Non-Executive 
Directors.

2.	 Members

Members of the Board who are currently serving on the AC as at the date of the Annual Report are:

	 Chairman	:	 Mr. Boey Tak Kong
			   Independent Non-Executive Director

	 Members	:	 Mr. Chow Seck Kai
			   Independent Non-Executive Director

			   Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras
			   Independent Non-Executive Director

3.	 Frequency of Meetings

The AC met five (5) times during the financial year under review and details of the attendance of each AC member are as 
follows:

Name Attendance

Mr. Boey Tak Kong 5/5

Mr. Chow Seck Kai 5/5

Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras 5/5

4.	 Terms of Reference (TOR)

4.1	 Composition of the AC

The Board shall appoint the AC members from amongst themselves, comprising no fewer than three (3) Non-Executive 
Directors. The majority of the AC members shall be Independent Directors.

All members of the AC shall be financially literate and at least one (1) member of the AC must be:

a.	 a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”); or
b.	 if he is not a member of MIA, he must have at least three (3) years of working experience and:

i.	 he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants Act, 1967 or
ii.	 he must be a member of one of the associations of the accountants specified in Part II of the First Schedule 

of the Accountants Act, 1967; or
c.	 fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Securities.

Mr. Chow Seck Kai is a fellow member of the Institute of Public Accountants (IPA), Australia and Mr. Boey Tak Kong is a 
Chartered Accountant with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

No alternate Director of the Board shall be appointed as a member of the AC. 

The term of office and performance of the AC and each of its members shall be reviewed by the Board at least once every 
three (3) years to determine whether such AC members have carried out their duties in accordance with their TOR.
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4.2	 Retirement and Resignation

If a member of the AC resigns, dies or for any reason ceases to be a member with the result that the number of members 
is reduced below three (3), the Board shall within three (3) months of the event appoint such number of new members as 
may be required to fill the vacancy.

4.3	 Chairman

The members of the AC shall elect a Chairman from amongst their number who shall be an Independent Director. In the 
absence of the Chairman of the AC, the other members of the AC shall amongst themselves elect a Chairman who must 
be Independent Director to chair the meeting.

4.4	 Secretary of the AC

The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the AC and as a reporting procedure, the Minutes shall be circulated to 
all members of the Board.

4.5	 Meetings and Minutes

The AC shall meet regularly, with due notice of issues to be discussed, and shall record its conclusions in discharging its 
duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Chairman may call for additional meetings at any time at the Chairman’s 
discretion.

The Chairman of the AC shall engage on a continuous basis with Senior Management, such as the Chairman of the 
Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the General Manager, Finance, the internal auditors and the external auditors in order 
to be kept informed of matters affecting the Company.

The General Manager, Finance, a representative of the internal auditors and external auditors should normally attend 
meetings. Other Board members and employees may attend meetings upon the invitation of the AC. The AC shall be able 
to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, without executive Board members or 
employees present whenever deemed necessary and at least twice a year with the external auditors.

The quorum for the AC meeting shall be the majority of members present whom must be Independent Directors.

Minutes of each meeting shall be kept at the registered office and distributed to each member of the AC and also to other 
members of the Board. The AC Chairman shall report on each meeting to the Board. 

4.6 	 Circular Resolutions

A resolution in writing signed by all shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a Meeting of the AC duly 
called and constituted. Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one (1) or more 
AC members. Any such document, may be accepted as sufficiently signed by an AC member if transmitted to Company 
by telex, telegram, cable, facsimile or other electrical or digital written message purporting to include a signature of an 
AC member.

4.7	 Objectives

The principal objectives of the AC are to assist the Board in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities relating 
to accounting and financial reporting practices of the holding company and each of its subsidiaries. In addition, the AC 
shall:

a.	 evaluate the quality of the audits performed by the internal and external auditors;
b.	 provide assurance that the financial information presented by management is relevant, reliable and timely;
c.	 oversee compliance with laws and regulations and observance of a proper code of conduct; and
d.	 determine the quality, adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s control environment.

Audit Committee Report (Cont’d)
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4.8	 Authority

The AC shall, in accordance with a procedure to be determined by the Board of Directors and at the expense of the 
Company:

a.	 Have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its TOR, the resources to do so, and full access to information. 
All employees shall be directed to co-operate as requested by members of the AC.

b.	 Have full and unlimited/unrestricted access to all information and documents/resources which are required to 
perform its duties as well as to the internal and external auditors and senior management of the Company and 
Group.

c.	 Obtain independent professional or other advice and to invite outsiders with relevant experience to attend, if 
necessary.

d.	 Have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit function 
or activity (if any).

e.	 Where the AC is of the view that the matter reported by it to the Board has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting 
in a breach of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Audit Committee shall promptly report 
such matter to Bursa Securities.

f.	 Convene meetings with the external auditors, without the presence of executive members of the AC and 
Management, whenever deemed necessary.

4.9	 Duties and Responsibilities

The duties and responsibilities of the AC are as follows:

a.	 To consider the appointment of the external auditor, the audit fee and any question of resignation or dismissal.
b.	 To discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure 

co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved.
c.	 To review with the external auditor his evaluation of the system of internal controls and his audit report.
d.	 To review the quarterly and year-end financial statements of the Board, focusing particularly on:

•	 any change in accounting policies and practices;
•	 significant adjustments arising from the audit;
•	 the going concern assumption; and
•	 compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements.

e.	 To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits, and any matter the external auditor 
may wish to discuss (in the absence of management, where necessary).

f.	 To review the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response.
g.	 To do the following, in relation to the internal audit function:

•	 review the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function, and 
that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

•	 review the internal audit programme and results of the internal audit process and, where necessary, ensure 
that appropriate actions are taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;

•	 review any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
•	 approve any appointment or termination of senior staff members of the internal audit function; and
•	 take cognisance of resignations of internal audit staff members and provide the resigning staff member an 

opportunity to submit his reasons for resigning.

h.	 To consider any related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or 
Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity.

i.	 To report its findings on the financial and management performance, and other material matters to the Board.
j.	 To consider the major findings of internal investigations and management’s response.
k.	 To verify the allocation of Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) in compliance with the criteria as stipulated 

in the by-laws of the ESOS of the Company, if any.
l.	 To determine the remit of the internal audit function.
m.	 To consider other topics as defined by the Board.
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n.	 To advise the Board of Directors and make recommendation in respect of risk management on the following 
matters:

•	 To monitor risk management processes are integrated into all core business processes and that the culture of 
the Group reflects the risk consciousness of the Board;

•	 Review the Risk Register and ensure that all risks are well managed;
•	 Review the enterprise risk scorecard and determine the risks to be escalated to the Board once a year; and
•	 Provide a consolidated risk and assurance report to the Board to support the statement relating to internal 

control in the Company’s annual report.

o.	 To consider and examine such other matters as the AC considers appropriate.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the AC had discharged its functions and carried out its duties as set out in the 
TOR.

A summary of the activities carried out by the AC during the financial year under review are listed below:

a.	 Financial Reporting
i.	 reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial statements, prior to deliberation and approval by the Board; and
ii.	 reviewed the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and Group and recommended for Board’s approval.

b.	 Internal Audit
i.	 reviewed the Internal Audit Reports prepared by the internal auditors and appraised the adequacy and effectiveness of 

Management’s response in resolving the audit issues reported;
ii.	 reviewed and approved the Proposed Internal Audit Strategies Document for year 2015; and
iii.	 reviewed the internal audit plan of the outsourced internal function to ensure adequate scope and comprehensive 

coverage of the activities of the Group. 

c.	 External Audit
i.	 reviewed the Annual Audit Planning Memorandum prepared by the external auditors to ensure adequate scope and 

comprehensive coverage over the activities of the Group;
ii.	 discussed the scope of work, key audit areas, audit approach, audit timetable and the proposed audit fees of the Group 

for the year ended 31 December 2015;
iii.	 reviewed and make recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of external auditors; and
iv.	 met with the external auditors during the year without the presence of any Executive Director and Management.

d.	 Related Party Transactions
i.	 reviewed the quarterly report on recurrent related party transactions entered into by the Company and the Group for 

compliance with both in-house procedures and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad; and

ii.	 reviewed the Circular to Shareholders in relation to proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related 
party transactions of a revenue or trading nature.

e.	 Risk Management
Reviewed the quarterly status report on risk management and financial assistance presented by Management.

f.	 Other Matters
Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and Audit Committee Report prior to their submission to 
the Board for consideration and inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company.

Audit Committee Report (Cont’d)
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit function is outsourced to Columbus Advisory Sdn Bhd to carry out internal audit activities for the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the outsourced internal audit function assisted the AC in discharging its duties 
and responsibilities by executing independent reviews to determine the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 
system. The activities performed by the internal audit function include:

•	 conducted review of business processes in accordance with the internal audit plan approved by the AC, which covered 
reviews of the internal control system, risk management and follow-up audits to address observations reported in preceding 
internal audit visits;

•	 reported the results of internal audit reviews and provided recommendations for improvement to the AC;
•	 followed up on the implementation of audit recommendations and action plans agreed upon by the Management;
•	 ascertained the extent of compliance with the Group’s policies, procedures and statutory requirements; and
•	 reviewed and recommended improvements to the existing system of internal controls, risk management and corporate 

governance processes.

The total costs (excluding Goods and Services Tax and disbursements) incurred for the outsourced internal audit function of the 
Group for 2015 amounted to RM16,000.

Subsequent to the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Board upon the recommendation of the AC, approved on 25 
February 2016, the appointment of KPMG Management & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd to undertake the internal audit function. 

The AC had also on 25 February 2016 approved and adopted the risk-based internal audit plan for 2016, presented by KPMG 
Management & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd.

STATEMENT ON EMPLOYEES’ SHARE OPTION SCHEME 

The Company has established an Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) for a duration of five (5) years effective from 21 August 
2015 (“Effective Date”). The Board has the discretion upon recommendation of the ESOS Committee, to extend the duration of the 
ESOS provided that the initial period of the ESOS and such extension of the Scheme made pursuant to this By-Laws shall not in 
aggregate exceed the duration of ten (10) years from the date of commencement or such other period as may be prescribed by 
Bursa Securities or any other relevant authorities from the Effective Date.

The allocation of the ESOS Options pursuant to the ESOS has been verified by the Audit Committee. The Committee confirms that 
the allocation of options offered by the Company to the eligible employees and the Directors of the Group complies with the By-Laws 
of the Company’s ESOS.

The movement of the ESOS during the financial year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Number of options of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at exercise price of RM0.74 each:

Number of ESOS Options granted on 1 September 2015 6,000,900

Number of ESOS Options exercised during the year (199,700)

Outstanding unexercised options as at 31 December 2015 5,801,200
  

Audit Committee Report (Cont’d)



Annual Report 2015 37

The breakdown of the options, held by the Non-Executive Directors pursuant to the Company’s ESOS in respect the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of ESOS Options Over Ordinary Shares of
RM0.50 Each

As at 1 September 2015 
(Date of Granting)

Granted Exercised As at
31 December 2015

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie 211,900 - - 211,900

Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 169,400 - - 169,400

Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee 158,900 - - 158,900

Datin Chan Bee Leng 158,900 - - 158,900

Boey Tak Kong 158,900 - - 158,900

Chow Seck Kai 174,700 - (52,400) 122,300

Dimitrios Pantazaras 158,900 - - 158,900

Low Kheng Lun 158,900 - - 158,900

The breakdown of the options, held by the senior management of the Group pursuant to the Company’s ESOS in respect the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Number of ESOS Options Over Ordinary Shares of
RM0.50 Each

Name of Senior Management
As at 1 September 2015 

(Date of Granting)
Granted Exercised As at

31 December 2015

Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong 635,600 - - 635,600

Lee Chen Fee 192,300 - - 192,300

Yee Lai Kuan 209,700 - (62,900) 146,800

Victoria Loui Hoong Mei 192,300 - (57,700) 134,600

Lee Keat Hin 174,700 - - 174,700

Teh Khye Chin 166,800 - - 166,800

Chin Kong Yaw 158,900 - - 158,900

Audit Committee Report (Cont’d)



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)38

Statement of Responsibility by Directors
in Respect of the Preparation of the Annual Audited Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”) to ensure that the financial statements for each financial year give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year, and of the results and 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year. As required by the Act and the Main Market Listing Requirements 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable approved 
accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Act.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have applied the appropriate and relevant accounting policies on a consistent 
basis; made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and prepared the annual audited financial statements on a 
going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible to ensure that the Group and the Company keep proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and of the Company and which enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Act in Malaysia.

The Directors have overall responsibility for taking such steps that are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group 
and the Company to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 are presented on pages 
55 to 130 of this Annual Report.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 19 April 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group achieved a total revenue of RM298.5 million in FYE 
2015, which was RM42.5 million or 12.5% lower than FYE 2014. 
The lower Group's revenue in FYE 2015 was mainly due to lower 
revenue recognition from existing projects. 

Despite the lower revenue, the Group achieved a higher gross 
profit of RM109.5 million compared to RM99.9 million on 
revenues of RM341.0 million in FYE 2014. Profit after tax 
improved to RM70.3 million from RM67.2 million in the previous 
year, mainly due to improved performance of the Construction 
and Building Materials Divisions.

A review of the financial performance is presented in the 
Management's Discussion & Analysis section on pages 41 to 44.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Construction

The Construction Division achieved a higher profit after tax of 
RM22.0 million or 63.1% higher than the RM13.5 million 
recorded in the preceding year, despite recording a lower 
revenue of RM128.2 million compared to RM195.8 million in FYE 
2014.   

The construction revenue and profit after tax were mainly derived 
from the on-going Aurora Place in Bukit Jalil and the integrated 
army complex in Johor ("Kem Askar Project").
 
Two new contracts were secured during the year, a RM145.3 
million contract for the design and construction of a polytechnic 
in Hulu Terengganu and the Petronas’ Refinery and Petrochemical 
Integrated Development (RAPID) project in Pengerang, Johor 
under Package 2 for soil improvement works for RM21.6 million. 
Work on both projects commenced in Q4 2015.

Property Development

The Property Development Division continues to be the major 
earnings contributor and maintained its performance despite 
measures by the Government to tighten lending to the property 
sector.   

Profit after tax was marginally lower at RM52.1 million on a 
revenue of RM164.1 million for FYE 2015, compared to a profit 
after tax of RM58.1 million on a revenue of RM186.7 million in 
the preceding year.  

The Group’s on-going development of the Aurora Place’s shop 
offices and SOVO at Bukit Jalil continues to be the main 
contributor to the Property Development Division and Group’s 
revenue and profits. Construction of the Aurora Place and SOVO 
are progressing on schedule.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Bukit Jalil Development Sdn 
Bhd’s (“BJD”) 50-acre joint development with Pioneer Haven 
Sdn Bhd (“PHSB”) known as Bukit Jalil City, achieved a 
significant milestone in FYE 2015 with the launch of its residential 
apartments. The launch was well received by the market. BJD’s 
18% entitlement of gross sales under the joint development 
earned the Company RM35.0 million (FYE 2014: RM21.8 million) 
and a gross profit of RM28.1 million (FYE 2014: RM18.0 million). 
However higher tax expenses were recorded by BJD in FYE 
2015 as it had fully utilised the prior year’s unabsorbed tax 
losses. 

Building Materials Division

The Group’s ready-mix concrete business made an effective 
operational turnaround in FYE 2015. With a fleet of new trucks 
and batching plants installed in 2014/2015, the ready-mix 
operations returned to profitability with a net profit of RM1.4 
million on a revenue of RM72.0 million. This compares with an 
after tax loss of RM1.3 million on a revenue of RM38.4 million in 
FYE 2014.

 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to report that 
the Ho Hup Group achieved another year of positive earnings 
growth in the financial year ended 31 December 2015 (FYE 
2015). By reshaping our strategy of optimizing our earnings 
stream, the Group succeeded in increasing earnings for FYE 
2015 to another record profit after tax of RM70.3 million. 

The continuous efforts by the Board and the management to 
realign the Group’s business model by diversifying our revenue 
activities, so as to gain better control over our synergistic supply 
value chain, has enabled the Group to overcome the challenges 
amidst a generally tougher economic landscape.
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CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTS 

The Group had a hectic year of corporate development activities. 
A placement of 31.1 million ordinary shares raising RM34.9 
million for working capital purposes, was completed in January 
2015, followed by three acquisitions in the second half of FYE 
2015. These acquisitions have enabled the Group to increase its 
land-bank at strategic locations in the country, as well as 
diversify its ready-mix earnings stream to include quarry related 
activities.

In June 2015, the Group acquired an effective 52.5% equity 
interest in Sabah-based developer, Golden Wave Sdn Bhd 
(“GWSB”) for RM30.0 million. GWSB has a joint-venture 
agreement with DBKK Holdings Sdn Bhd (“DBKK”) whereby 
GWSB will construct and deliver a bus terminal and car parks on 
a site along Jalan Wawasan, Kota Kinabalu, in exchange for the 
adjacent 5.0 acres of prime commercial land. 

The acquisition of GWSB gives Ho Hup a significant presence in 
a prime location in Kota Kinabalu’s robust city centre.

During the year, the Group’s 75% subsidiary, Ho Hup Ventures 
(Johor) Sdn. Bhd. (“HHVJ”) acquired a 70% equity interest in 
Intact Corporate Approach Sdn Bhd (“ICA”), which in turn had 
an agreement with YPJ Plantations Sdn. Bhd. (“YPJ”) to 
purchase 429.0 acres of land in Kulai, Johor, for a total 
consideration of RM107.3 million. Of the RM107.3 million,  
RM85.0 million is to be paid, over five (5) years, by way of the 
construction and delivery of a Technical and Vocational 
Education Training Facility to YPJ. The remaining RM22.3 million 
is to be paid in cash  over five (5) years. The 429.0 acres land will 
be transferred progressively to ICA, in phases over five (5) years. 

In Q4 FYE 2015, the Group via its 70% subsidiary, Ho Hup 
Ventures (Malacca) Sdn Bhd (“HHVM”), acquired an effective 
52.5% stake in Ho Hup-ICM Quarry Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known 
as ACV-ICM Quarry Sdn. Bhd.) which owns the quarrying rights 
to approximately 260-acre land in Taboh Naning, Melaka. The 
acquisition of this large quarry complements our ready-mix 
operations and enables a backward integration of the division’s 
operations into quarry related activities. Following the 
acquisition, the Ready-mix Concrete Division has been 
expanded  to become the  Building Materials Division. 

STRENGTHENING THE BALANCE SHEET

On 26 January 2016, the Group announced the following 
proposed capital raising exercise:

i.	 Proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 85,137,570 
new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in Ho Hup (“Rights 
Shares”) on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every five 
(5) existing Ho Hup Shares held, together with up to 
85,137,570 Warrants B, on the basis of one (1) Warrant B 
for every one (1) Rights Share subscribed on an entitlement 
date to be determined later (“Entitlement Date”)

ii.	 Proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 85,137,570 
new redeemable preference shares of RM0.01 each in Ho 
Hup (“RPS”) on the basis of one (1) RPS for every five (5) 
existing Ho Hup Shares held, together with up to 
85,137,570 Warrants C, on the basis of one (1) Warrant C 
for every one (1) RPS subscribed on the Entitlement Date; 
and

iii.	 Proposed amendments to the Memorandum and Articles 
of Association of Ho Hup to facilitate the Proposed Rights 
Issue of RPS with free Warrants C.

The proposed rights issue of shares with Warrants B and the 
proposed rights issue of RPS with Warrants C are expected to 
raise gross proceeds of up to approximately RM68.11 million 
each or about a total of up to RM136.22 million. Ho Hup intends 
to utilise the  proceeds to repay bank facilities and for working 
capital for property development and construction activities. 
The proposals have been approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad on 14 April 2016.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

At the time of writing this report, the Directors and management 
expect the coming year’s business operating environment to 
remain challenging amidst uncertainties in the economic   
landscape,  the lingering impact of the Goods and Services Tax 
(GST) and the greater restrictions on the hiring of foreign workers 
by the construction industry.  

Overall, barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Group is 
well-placed to sustain our growth in the coming financial year. 
The property development division is expected to continue to 
provide a steady and recurring stream of income, with 
contributions from the on-going Aurora Place development and 
from the 18% entitlement under the joint-development of the 
Bukit Jalil City project with Pioneer Haven.  We expect more 
phases of the Bukit Jalil City project to be launched in the 
coming year. 

The Group’s construction division will continue to actively bid for 
contracts to build  up the Group’s order books, focusing on 
infrastructure related projects by the Government and 
Government-linked Companies.  The construction industry in 
Malaysia remains very active and robust and the Group expects 
to benefit from major projects being rolled out under the 
Government’s Economic Transformation Programme (ETP). 

A NOTE OF THANKS

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish to express my sincere 
thanks and appreciation to our shareholders, business partners, 
associates and bankers for their support and confidence in the 
Group. Last but not least, I also wish to express my sincere 
thanks and gratitude to the management and staff of the Group 
for their outstanding commitment and encourage them to keep 
up the good work.

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement (Cont'd)
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015

STRATEGIC DIRECTION FOR FYE 2015

In FYE 2015, the Company initiated the following strategic direction to sustain growth and the future profitability of the Group: 

•	 Selectively focus on  Government construction-related projects to build the core order book;
•	 Actively enlarge the Group’s land bank  in strategic and prime locations to support future property development activities; and 
•	 Positively realign the ready-mix concrete business to expand capacities and productivity.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

Revenue and Profit/(Loss) After Tax By Division

Division

<---------------- Revenue ----------------> Profit/(Loss) After Tax
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM’000 % RM’000 % RM’000 RM’000
Construction 128,245 43.0 195,849 57.4 21,958 13,464
Property Development 164,073 55.0 186,697 54.7 52,056 58,070
Building Materials 72,039 24.1 38,430 11.3 1,425 (1,272)
Others 5,629 1.9 2,360 0.7 1,579 474
Consolidation Eliminations (71,440) (24.0) (82,312) (24.1) (6,744) (3,558)
Total 298,546 100.0 341,024 100.0 70,274 67,178

Total revenue of the Group recorded a decrease of RM42.5 million or 12.5% in the financial year ended 31 December 2015 (“FYE 
2015”) compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2014 (“FYE 2014”). The decline in revenue was  mainly due to the 
Construction and Property Development Divisions recording  lower recognition from existing projects as the projects are at advance 
stages of completion. However, the Building Materials Division has grown its revenue by 87% in FYE 2015, driven by higher sales 
volume and lower production cost. 

In FYE 2015, the Group recorded an improved profit after tax of RM70.3 million compared to RM67.2 million in the previous year. 
The higher profit for the Group is mainly contributed from the Construction and Building Materials Division.

Construction Division

The Construction Division registered a revenue of RM128.2 million, which is RM67.6 million or 34.5% lower than the previous year. 
Profit after tax however, was higher at RM22.0 million, compared to RM13.5 million in the preceding year.

Revenue and profit after tax in FYE 2015 were mainly derived from the ongoing Aurora Place in Bukit Jalil and the Kem Askar Project.

Apart from the ongoing construction projects as stated above, the Company has secured new projects which also contributed to the 
increase in revenue and profit in FYE 2015. The new projects are the Polytechnic Hulu Terengganu which commenced in October 
2015 and is expected to be completed over 24 months and the Package 2 Petronas’ Refinery and Petrochemical Integrated 
Development (RAPID) project in Pengerang, Johor which commenced in November 2015 and is expected to be completed in April 
2016.

Construction works for the projects in Iraq were suspended. However, the contribution from Iraq projects is not significant to the 
Group.

The profit after tax of this Division has improved due to higher profit margins from the new construction projects and Aurora Place, 
Bukit Jalil and lower operating expenses in the current year under review.

Property Development Division

The Property Development Division registered an after tax profit of RM52.1 million on a revenue of RM164.1 million for FYE 2015, 
compared to an after tax profit of RM58.1 million on a revenue of RM186.7 million in the preceding year. Revenue and profit after tax 
in FYE 2015 were mainly derived from the progress of ongoing projects which included the following:

i.	 The development of the Aurora Place’s shop offices and SOVO with an estimated GDV of RM252.4 million and RM114.9 million 
respectively. The Aurora Place development contributed revenues of RM124.9 million (FYE 2014: RM162.1 million) and gross 
profit of RM55.0 million (FYE 2014: RM70.0 million) to the Division;
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ii.	 BJD’s entitlement under the joint development with Pioneer Haven Sdn Bhd (“PHSB”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Malton 
Berhad) on the 50-acre land, adjacent to our Aurora Place, contributed a revenue of RM35.0 million (FYE 2014: RM21.8 million) 
and gross profit of RM28.1 million (FYE 2014: RM18.0 million) to this Division; and

iii.	 Joint-venture entitlement for the development of the Rev’ O Tower at Aurora Place contributed a revenue and gross profit of 
RM4.2 million (FYE 2014: RM0.98 million). 

The high gross profit margins are mainly due to the low land cost which was valued at historical cost.

In FYE 2015, higher tax expenses were incurred as the Company had fully utilised all unabsorbed losses in the last financial year. As 
a result of the higher tax expenses, profit after tax was marginally lower at RM52.1 million, compared to the previous year.

Building Materials Division

The Building Materials Division registered a net profit of RM1.4 million on a revenue of RM72.0 million in FYE 2015, compared to an 
after tax loss of RM1.3 million on a revenue of RM38.4 million in FYE 2014.

The turnaround to profitability is mainly attributed to the higher sales volume due to improved performance for all plants. During the 
year, loss making batching plants were shut down and replaced with new plants in strategic locations. These new plants substantially 
reduced production cost and increased productivity. Being located nearer to our  customers, the new plants also achieved improved 
turnaround times.

FINANCE COST AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS

With the  progressive expansion of the Group’s business activities, the financing requirements to fund these on-going activities and 
new projects have increased.

As at 31 December 2015, bank borrowings and finance cost of the Group are as follows:

FYE 2015 FYE 2014
(RM’million) (RM’million)

Bank Borrowings 135.0 39.6
Finance Cost 2.6 0.6

The significant increase in bank borrowings is mainly attributed to:

i.	 The Group has obtained a term loan amounting to RM80 million to finance the acquisitions of new businesses during the year. 
The business ventures acquired provide the Group with immediate projects in Kota Kinabalu, Kulai and Melaka.

ii.	 Golden Wave Sdn Bhd, a new subsidiary company acquired during the year for the project in Kota Kinabalu comes with an 
existing term loan facility. 

iii.	 Drawdown from an existing loan to finance construction of Aurora Place.

iv.	 Additional hire-purchase facilities were secured to construct a new batching plant and the purchase of a fleet of new mixer 
trucks to improve overall capacities and productivity.  

With the objective of optimizing the Company’s capital management structure, the Company announced on 26 January, 2016, a 
proposed rights issue of ordinary shares and redeemable preference shares to raise funds that would be utilised for loan repayment 
and for working capital purposes.

MOVING FORWARD PLAN

Moving forward, the Group is well-positioned to continue its growth momentum of its business operations as follows:

•	 The Construction Division is actively bidding for new Government-related civil and infrastructure projects and its current 
outstanding order book stands at over RM350.0 million.

•	 The Property Development Division has started  work on an integrated development plan for service apartments and a hotel 
project in Kota Kinabalu and development planning activities for the proposed integrated township development in Kulai.

•	 The Building Materials Division plans to commence its quarry related operation in Melaka in the second quarter of  2016 which 
will improve on the supply value chain for the Group.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015

CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

Kem Askar, Johor

Polytechnic Hulu Terengganu Project

RAPID Project in Pengerang, Johor

Kota Kinabalu - Bus Terminal
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015

CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

Aurora Place, Bukit Jalil

Aurora Place, Bukit Jalil

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

Ready-mix Concrete - Batching Plants

Putrajaya Bukit Jalil Subang Cheras

Melaka Quarry

BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION
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Analysis of Shareholdings
as at 31 March 2016

ORDINARY SHARES

Authorised Share Capital	 :	 RM495,000,000.00
Issued and Fully Paid-Up	 :	 RM174,076,660.50 comprising 348,153,321 Ordinary Shares of RM0.50 each
Class of Shares	 :	 Ordinary Share of RM0.50 each
No. of Shareholders	 :	 5,283
Voting Rights	 :	 One Vote per Ordinary Share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of

Shareholders %
No. of Ordinary

Shares %
1-99 127 2.40 2,723 ~
100-1,000 499 9.45 315,308 0.09
1,001-10,000 3,004 56.86 16,242,845 4.67
10,001-100,000 1,409 26.67 46,155,439 13.26
100,001-17,407,665* 240 4.54 156,432,498 44.93
17,407,666 and above** 4 0.08 129,004,508 37.05
Total 5,283 100.00 348,153,321 100.00

Notes:
~	 Negligible
*	 Less than 5% of issued shares
**	 5% and above of issued shares

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of Directors
Direct

Shareholdings %
Indirect

Shareholdings %
Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie - - - -
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee - - 50,547,750(1) 14.52
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 7,137,500 2.05 53,227,300(2) 15.29
Datin Chan Bee Leng 47,700 0.01 66,575,758(3) 19.12
Chow Seck Kai 112,400 0.03 - -
Dimitrios Pantazaras - - - -
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong - - 52,027,300(4) 14.94
Low Kheng Lun 47,700 0.01 54,079,258(5) 15.53
Boey Tak Kong 900,000 0.26 - -

Notes:
(1)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 (“the Act”) by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas Berhad 

and his children's direct shareholdings in the Company.
(2)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Omesti Berhad (“OB”), which is the holding 

company of Omesti Holdings Berhad (“OHB”) and his spouse’s direct shareholdings in the Company.
(3)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s direct shareholdings in the Company and her spouse’s 

substantial shareholdings in Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd. (“LCG”) and Estate of Low Chee.
(4)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Red Zone Development Sdn. Bhd., a 

substantial shareholder of OB, the holding company of OHB.
(5)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)46

LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

	 Name	 No. of Shares	 %

1.	 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 54,079,258	 15.53	
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd.
2.	 Insas Plaza Sdn. Bhd.	 28,695,250	 8.24
3.	 M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 23,115,000	 6.64
	 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn. Bhd. for Omesti Holdings Berhad
4.	 M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 23,115,000	 6.64
	 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn. Bhd. for Omesti Holdings Berhad (HH)
5.	 AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 10,000,000	 2.87
	 Pledged Securities Account for Insas Plaza Sdn. Bhd.
6.	 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 6,905,000	 1.98
	 Employees Provident Fund Board (Pheim)
7.	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy	 6,817,500	 1.96
8.	 M & A Nominee (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	 6,300,000	 1.81
	 Montego Assets Limited
9.	 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 5,679,000	  1.63
	 Pledged Securities Account for Dato’ Low Tuck Choy
10.	 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 5,273,400	 1.51
	 Employees Provident Fund Board (F Templeton)
11.	 M & A Nominee (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	 5,000,000	 1.44
	 For Winfields Development Pte. Ltd.
12.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 4,344,454	 1.25
	 CIMB Bank for Mohamed Nizam Bin Abdul Razak (MY0888)
13.	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 4,000,000	 1.15
	 HDM Capital Sdn. Bhd. For Omesti Holdings Berhad
14.	 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	 3,963,000	 1.14
	 CEP for PHEIM SICAV-SIF
15.	 Lim Tee Leong	 3,484,000	 1.00
16.	 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 3,470,400	 1.00
	 Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan)
	 (CIMB PRNCP ISLM)
17.	 Kumpulan Wang Simpanan Guru-Guru	 3,300,000	 0.95
18.	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	 2,509,200	 0.72
19.	 Kumpulan Wang Simpanan Guru-Guru	 2,085,700	 0.60
20.	 Tan Siew Booy	 2,020,000	 0.58
21.	 M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 2,000,000	 0.57
	 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn. Bhd. for Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok
22.	 CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Exempt An for Petroliam Nasional Berhad (CPAM)	 1,813,200	 0.52
23.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Omesti Holdings Berhad	 1,797,300	 0.52
24.	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Dato’ Jaganath Derek Steven Sabapathy	 1,600,000	 0.46
25.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 1,475,000	 0.42
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Michael Lau Kwong San @ Low Kwong San
26.	 Low Boon Wah @ Lawrence Low	 1,455,000	 0.42
27.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok	 1,400,000	 0.40
28.	 TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 1,346,500	 0.39
	 Pledged Securities Account for Good Angle Sdn. Bhd.	
29.	 HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 1,300,000	 0.37
	 Pledged Securities Account for Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok
30.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 1,230,000	 0.35
	 Pledged Securities Account for Tee Hong Cheat

Analysis of Shareholdings (Cont'd)
as at 31 March 2016
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Name
No. of

Share held %
No. of

Share held %
Omesti Holdings Berhad 52,027,300 14.94 - -
Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd. 54,079,258 15.53 - -
Gryphon Asset Management Sdn. Bhd. 28,695,250 8.24 - -
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 7,137,500 2.05 53,227,300(1) 15.29
Dato’ Low Tuck Choy 6,817,500 1.96 59,853,658(2) 17.19
Low Teik Kien 790,000 0.23 60,808,258(3) 17.47
Low Lai Yoong 482,500 0.14 54,079,258(4) 15.53
Omesti Berhad - - 52,027,300(5) 14.94
Red Zone Development Sdn. Bhd. - - 52,027,300(6) 14.94
Monteiro Gerard Clair - - 52,027,300(7) 14.94
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong - - 52,027,300(7) 14.94
Raymond Tan 250,000 0.07 52,027,300(7) 14.94
Insas Berhad - - 50,495,250(8) 14.50
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee - - 50,547,750(9) 14.52
Datin Chan Bee Leng 47,700 0.01 66,575,758(10) 19.12
Low Kheng Lun 47,700 0.01 54,079,258(4) 15.53

Notes:
(1)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in OB, which is the holding company of OHB 

and his spouse’s direct shareholdings in the Company.
(2)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG, Estate of Low Chee and his spouse’s 

and child’s direct shareholdings in the Company.
(3)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG, Estate of Low Chee and Tara Technic 

Sdn. Bhd. 
(4)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his/her substantial shareholdings in LCG.
(5)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of its substantial shareholdings in its wholly-owned subsidiary, OHB.
(6)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of its substantial shareholdings in OB, the holding company of OHB.
(7)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Red Zone Development Sdn. Bhd., a 

substantial shareholder of OB, the holding company of OHB.
(8)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of its shareholdings in its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Insas Plaza Sdn. Bhd., 

Montego Assets Limited and Gryphon Asset Management Sdn. Bhd. and substantial shareholdings in its associate company, Winfields 
Development Pte. Ltd.

(9)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas Berhad and his children’s direct 
shareholdings in the Company.

(10)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s direct shareholdings in the Company and her spouse’s 
substantial shareholdings in LCG and Estate of Low Chee.

Analysis of Shareholdings (Cont'd)
as at 31 March 2016
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IRREDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (“ICPS”)

Authorised Share Capital	 :	 RM2,000,000.00
Issued and Fully Paid-Up	 :	 RM79,122.79 comprising of 7,912,279 ICPS of RM0.01 each
Class of Shares	 :	 ICPS of RM0.01 each
No. of ICPS Holders	 :	 460
Voting Rights	 :	 The holders of ICPS are not entitled to any voting right except in circumstances set out in the
		  Company’s Articles of Association 

DISTRIBUTION OF ICPS HOLDINGS

Size of Holdings
No. of ICPS

Holders %
No. of ICPS

Held %
1-99 2 0.44 76 ~
100-1,000 56 12.17 26,903 0.34
1,001-10,000 308 66.96 1,183,700 14.96
10,001-100,000 81 17.61 2,435,500 30.78
100,001-395,613* 10 2.17 1,774,300 22.43
395,614 and above** 3 0.65 2,491,800 31.49
Total 460 100.00 7,912,279 100.00

Notes:
~	 Negligible
*	 Less than 5% of issued ICPS
**	 5% and above of issued ICPS

DIRECTORS’ ICPS HOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of Directors
Direct

Holdings %
Indirect

Holdings %
Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie - - - -
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee - - - -
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok - - - -
Datin Chan Bee Leng - - - -
Chow Seck Kai 5,000 0.06 - -
Dimitrios Pantazaras - - - -
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong - - - -
Low Kheng Lun - - - -
Boey Tak Kong - - - -

Analysis of ICPS Holders
as at 31 March 2016
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LIST OF THIRTY ICPS HOLDERS

	 Name	 No. of ICPS	 %

1.	 Low Lai Yoong	 880,000	 11.12

2.	 HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 862,300	 10.90
	 Exempt AN for Credit Suisse AG (SG-CLT-T-OS PR)

3.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 749,500	 9.47
	 CIMB Bank for Teoh Ewe Jin (MY0829)

4.	 Khoo Siang Hsi @ Khoo Chen Nan	 295,700	 3.74

5.	 Kew Hoi Lam @ Hew Hoi Lam	 246,000	 3.11

6.	 Tan Sok Ing	 239,000	 3.02

7.	 Chung May Ching	 185,000	 2.34

8.	 Lai Kam Keong	 178,500	 2.26

9.	 Ng Khea Chuan	 165,000	 2.09

10.	 Ng Sing Lay	 130,000	 1.64

11.	 Lim Aik Hoe	 115,000	 1.45

12.	 Yap Eng Huai	 110,100	 1.39

13.	 Yong Voon Choon	 110,000	 1.39

14.	 Mah Yin Fong	 100,000	 1.26

15.	 Loh Fatt Chong	 100,000	 1.26

16.	 Abdul Malek Sabki Bin Ahmad Sabki	 100,000	 1.26

17.	 Tan Chee Seng	 85,000	 1.07

18.	 Chong Kheng Boon	 80,000	 1.01

19.	 Xu Huan	 76,000	 0.96

20.	 Lim Hwi Pheng	 75,000	 0.95

21.	 Yee Mee Fah	 69,600	 0.88

22.	 Ng Hee Lan	 60,000	 0.76

23.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	 57,300	 0.72
	 CIMB Bank for Lim Geok Eng Mary (MY0955)

24.	 AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 55,100	 0.70
	 Pledged Securities Account for Lim Soo Pin @ Lim Ah Lek

25.	 Liew Hon Leong	 55,000	 0.70

26.	 Lim Kew @ Lim Kon Foong	 50,000	 0.63

27.	 Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 50,000	 0.63
	 Pledged Securities Account for Lee Oh Tow @ Lee Eng
	 (REM 178-Margin)		

28.	 Lim Keng Lai	 50,000	 0.63

29.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Khoo Chew Wah @ Khoo Leong Wah	 50,000	 0.63

30.	 Wong Tian Sang	 49,000	 0.62

Analysis of ICPS Holders (Cont'd)
as at 31 March 2016
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REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (“RCPS”)

Authorised Share Capital	 :	 RM3,000,000.00
Issued and Fully Paid-Up	 :	 RM187,049.96 comprising 18,704,996 RCPS of RM0.01 each
Class of Shares	 :	 RCPS of RM0.01 each
No. of RCPS Holders	 :	 70
Voting Rights	 :	 The holders of RCPS are not entitled to any voting right except in circumstances set out in the
		  Company’s Articles of Association 

DISTRIBUTION OF RCPS HOLDINGS

Size of Holdings
No. of RCPS

Holders %
No. of RCPS

Held %
1-99 8 11.43 332 ~
100-1,000 6 8.57 4,550 0.02
1,001-10,000 5 7.14 28,290 0.15
10,001-100,000 28 40.00 1,675,918 8.96
100,001-935,249* 21 30.00 4,862,132 26.00
935,250 and above** 2 2.86 12,133,774 64.87
Total 70 100.00 18,704,996 100.00

Notes:
~	 Negligible
*	 Less than 5% of issued RCPS
**	 5% and above of issued RCPS

DIRECTORS’ RCPS HOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of Directors
Direct

Holdings %
Indirect

Holdings %
Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie - - - -
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee - - - -
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok - - 110,000(1) 0.59
Datin Chan Bee Leng - - 11,382,964(2) 60.86
Chow Seck Kai - - - -
Dimitrios Pantazaras - - - -
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong - - - -
Low Kheng Lun - - 11,033,774(3) 58.99
Boey Tak Kong - - - -

Notes:
(1)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his child’s direct shareholding in the Company.
(2)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s substantial shareholdings in LCG and Concrete Pavers 

Industries Sdn. Bhd. 
(3)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.

Analysis of RCPS Holders
as at 31 March 2016
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LIST OF THIRTY RCPS HOLDERS

	 Name	 No. of RCPS	 %

1.	 Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd.	 11,033,774	 58.99

2.	 Walicon Sdn. Bhd.	 1,100,000	 5.88

3.	 Wong Kian Kheong	 546,452	 2.92

4.	 Leaw Seng Aik	 507,030	 2.71

5.	 Tan Chong Siew	 500,000	 2.67

6.	 Jasbeer Singh A/L Banta Singh	 391,058	 2.09

7.	 Boon & Cheah Steel Pipes Sdn. Berhad	 388,440	 2.08

8.	 Concrete Paver Industries Sdn. Bhd.	 349,190	 1.87

9.	 Low Kim Leng	 214,950	 1.15

10.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 1.07
	 CIMB Bank for Teoh Ewe Jin (MY0829)

11.	 Chia Sik Cheong	 184,966	 0.99

12.	 Hong Giap Sendirian Berhad	 175,072	 0.94

13.	 Lee Nan San	 168,408	 0.90

14.	 Syarikat South Auto (K.L.) Sdn. Bhd.	 147,086	 0.79

15.	 Lee Yan Chau	 141,662	 0.76

16.	 Boey Chung Shing	 139,880	 0.75

17.	 Ansah Sdn. Bhd.	 126,778	 0.68

18.	 Chan Weng Sing	 122,600	 0.66

19.	 Tee Choon Heng	 122,470	 0.65

20.	 Loke Kam Mooi	 120,000	 0.64

21.	 Mah Xian-Zhen	 110,000	 0.59

22.	 AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 106,000	 0.57
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Lim Kon Kwan (8119594)

23.	 Geodata Engineering Sdn. Bhd.	 100,090	 0.54

24.	 Voon Siew Moon	 100,000	 0.53

25.	 Lim Shook Nyee	 100,000	 0.53

26.	 Yap Chee Khoon	 100,000	 0.53

27.	 Tok Kai Ling	 96,980	 0.52

28.	 Wong Huat	 88,906	 0.48

29.	 Ferrier Hodgson MH Sdn. Bhd.	 88,566	 0.47

30.	 Law Kwan	 86,000	 0.46

Analysis of RCPS Holders (Cont'd)
as at 31 March 2016
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WARRANTS 2013/2018 (“WARRANTS”)

Number of Outstanding Warrants Issued	 :	 45,412,554
No. of Warrant Holders	 :	 1,108

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANT HOLDINGS

Size of Holdings
No. of Warrant

Holders %
No. of Warrant

Held %
1-99 27 2.44 1,203 ~
100-1,000 175 15.79 130,236 0.29
1,001-10,000 503 45.40 2,836,750 6.25
10,001-100,000 340 30.69 11,995,700 26.41
100,001-2,270,627* 61 5.51 15,342,900 33.79
2,270,628 and above** 2 0.18 15,105,765 33.26
Total 1,108 100.00 45,412,554 100.00

Notes:
~        Negligible
*	 Less than 5% of issued Warrants
**	 5% and above of issued Warrants

DIRECTORS’ WARRANT HOLDINGS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of Directors
Direct

Holdings %
Indirect

Holdings %
Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie - - - -
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee - - - -
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok 1,325,000 2.92 11,707,500(1) 25.78
Datin Chan Bee Leng - - 3,189,165(2) 7.02
Chow Seck Kai 2,500 0.01 - -
Dimitrios Pantazaras - - - -
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong - - 11,557,500(3) 25.45
Low Kheng Lun - - 3,189,165(4) 7.02
Boey Tak Kong - - - -

Notes:
(1)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in OB, which is the holding company of OHB 

and his spouse’s and child’s direct shareholdings in the Company.
(2)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of her spouse's substantial shareholdings in LCG.
(3)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Red Zone Development Sdn. Bhd., a 

substantial shareholder of OB, the holding company of OHB.
(4)	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in LCG.

Analysis of Warrant Holders for Warrants 
2013/2018
as at 31 March 2016
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LIST OF THIRTY WARRANT HOLDERS

	 Name	 No. of Warrants	 %

1.	 M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 11,557,500	 25.45
	 Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn. Bhd. for Omesti Holdings Berhad (HH)
2.	 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 3,548,265	 7.81
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd.
3.	 JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 1,325,000	 2.92
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok (Margin)		
4.	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 898,600	 1.98
	 Pledged Securities Account for Toh Yew Peng
5.	 HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 694,700	 1.53
	 Pledged Securities Account for Goh Tiong Sheng
6.	 Toh Yew Peng	 534,400	 1.18
7.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 504,600	 1.11
	 Pledged Securities Account for Chin Kim Mei
8.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 479,750	  1.06
	 CIMB Bank for Teoh Ewe Jin (MY0829)
9.	 Low Lai Yoong	 440,000	 0.97
10.	 U Yong Doong @ U Sung Kwi	 434,050	 0.96
11.	 Chan Mun Ying	 400,000	 0.88
12	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 395,500	 0.87
	 Pledged Securities Account for Lim Gim Leong		
13.	 Ngoi Lim Ben	 368,000	 0.81
14.	 Chin Nyook Fong	 330,000	 0.73
15.	 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Bhoopindar Singh A/L Harbans Singh (SS2/JUP)	 321,800	 0.71
16.	 Foo Jin Ping	 314,800	 0.69
17.	 AllianceGroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Soo Chia Chiang (6000091)	 310,000	 0.68
18.	 HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 300,000	 0.66
	 Pledged Securities Account for Hiu Woong Choong
19.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 300,000	 0.66
	 Teng Tong Siew
20.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 289,800	 0.64
	 Teoh Hoay Ming		
21.	 Teoh Hoay Ming	 256,700	 0.57
22.	 Noorulintan Binti Mohamed Ridzuwan	 225,000	 0.50
23.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 223,600	 0.49
	 Pledged Securities Account for Mok E. King
24.	 Chia Wan Chin	 210,000	 0.46
25.	 Ngooi Chiu Ing	 210,000	 0.46
26.	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 0.44
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Yew Yan Lea (YEW0029C)
27.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 0.44
	 Pledged Securities Account for Chan Biing Chieh		
28.	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 0.44
	 Pledged Securities A/C for Michael Lau Kwong San @ Low Kwong San
29.	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 0.44
	 Pledged Securities Account for Low Choon Chong
30.	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.	 200,000	 0.44
	 Pledged Securities Account for Chan Seng Fatt

Analysis of Warrant Holders for Warrants 2013/2018 (Cont'd)
as at 31 March 2016
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List of Properties
as at 31 December 2015

No. Location/Land details
Age of 

Building
Date of 

Acquisition Tenure Size Existing Use Description

Net Book 
Value

RM’000
1. Building located at 2B 1st 

Floor, Medan Imbi,
Kuala Lumpur

29 years 01/07/1986 Freehold 900
square feet

Rented Shop House 48

2. Flatted Factory located 
at Lot A4-01, 4th Floor, 
Kuala Lumpur Industrial 
Park 8KM, Jalan Klang 
Lama

30 years 02/12/1985 Leasehold, 
expires in 

the year of 
2063

2,412
square feet

Office store Flatted
Factory

177

3. Building located at No. 
18, Jalan 17/155C, 
Bandar Bukit Jalil,
Kuala Lumpur

5 years 31/12/2009* Freehold 1,800
square feet

Office premise Shop House 566

4. J-3A Block J, 3-storey 
shop office, Bandar 
Bukit Jalil,
Kuala Lumpur

5 years 16/06/2014 Freehold 4,575
square feet

Under 
construction 

Shop House 1,883

5. Geran 78076, Lot 
101462, Mukim 
Petaling, Daerah Kuala 
Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah 
Persekutuan Kuala 
Lumpur 
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 261,886 
square feet

 

Property 
development 

Development 
Land

49,630

6. HSD 119867, PT 15290, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 1,226,451 
square feet

Property 
development 

Development 
Land

62,114

7. HSD 119868, PT 15291, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 512,591
square feet

Property 
development

Development 
Land

25,960

8. HSD 119869, PT 15292, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 104,335 
square feet

Property 
development 

Development 
Land

9,767

9. HSD 119870, PT 15293, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 320,621 
square feet

Property 
development 

Development 
Land

16,238

10. HSD 119871, PT 15294, 
Mukim Petaling, Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri 
Wilayah Persekutuan 
Kuala Lumpur
(Bandar Bukit Jalil)

- 12/09/1995 Freehold 109,849 
square feet

Property 
development 

Development 
Land

5,564

* Date the property was transferred from inventory to fixed asset.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding, foundation engineering, civil engineering, building contracting 
works and the provision of management services for subsidiary companies.

The principal activities of the subsidiary companies, associates and joint ventures are disclosed in Notes 7, 8 and 9 to the financial 
statements respectively.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Financial Results

Group Company
RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax 86,761 21,972
Taxation (16,487) (14)
Profit for the financial year 70,274 21,958

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 70,934
Non-controlling interests (660)

70,274

Reserves and Provisions

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are as disclosed in Notes 17 and 21 to the financial 
statements.

Dividends

There were no dividends proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. The Directors do 
not recommend any dividend in respect of the current financial year.

Issue of Shares and Debentures

During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 311,258,161 to 346,777,223 through the 
issuance of 35,519,062 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each as follows:

(a)	 1,623,800 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each arising from conversion of Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares 
(“ICPS”);

(b)	 2,490,762 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each arising from conversion of Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares 
(“RCPS”); 

(c)	 79,800 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from exercise of warrants at exercise price of RM0.60 each;
(d)	 31,125,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from private placement at an issue price of RM1.12 per 

placement share; and
(e)	 199,700 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from the exercise of employees’ share options at exercise price 

of RM0.74 each.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the 
Company. 

There was no issuance of debentures during the financial year.
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Options Granted Over Unissued Shares

During the financial year, no options were granted by the Company to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company except 
for the share options granted pursuant to the Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) as disclosed in the financial statements.

Employees' Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 June 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the establishment of an ESOS of 
up to 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) for the eligible Directors and 
employees of the Group.

The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are disclosed in the Note 30 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the options offered to take up unissued ordinary shares of RM0.50 each and the exercise price are as 
follows:

Number of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
Date of offer Exercise price At 1.1.2015 Granted Exercised At 31.12.2015

1 September 2015 RM0.74 - 6,000,900 (199,700) 5,801,200

According to Section 169(11) of the Companies Act, 1965, the Company is required to disclose the name of persons to whom any 
options has been granted during the financial year. Pursuant to Section 169A of the Companies Act, 1965, the Company has applied 
and has been granted exemption by the Companies Commission of Malaysia from having to disclose the names of employees who 
have been granted less than 158,900 options in financial year ended 31 December 2015.

The options holders, other than Directors that were granted ESOS options for 158,900 and above are as follows:

Number of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
Name Grant date At 1.1.2015 Granted Exercised At 31.12.2015

Yee Lai Kuan 1 Sept 2015 - 209,700 (62,900) 146,800
Lee Chen Fee 1 Sept 2015 - 192,300 - 192,300
Victoria Loui Hoong Mei 1 Sept 2015 - 192,300 (57,700) 134,600
Lee Keat Hin 1 Sept 2015 - 174,700 - 174,700
Teh Khye Chin 1 Sept 2015 - 166,800 - 166,800
Chin Kong Yaw 1 Sept 2015 - 158,900 - 158,900

Details of options granted to Directors are disclosed in the section of Directors’ Interests in this report.

ICPS

The terms of the conversion of the ICPS are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the number of ICPS in issue is 8,037,679 shares.

RCPS

The terms of the conversion of the RCPS are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the number of RCPS in issue is 19,659,194 shares.

Directors’ Report (Cont'd)



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)58

Options Granted Over Unissued Shares (Cont'd)

Warrants 

The warrants 2013/2018 were constituted under the Deed Poll dated 14 November 2013 as disclosed in Note 17(c) to the financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the unexercised warrants of the Company are as follows:

Warrants Date issued Exercise price

Number of warrants 
over ordinary shares of 

RM0.50 each
Warrants

expiry date

Warrants 2013/2018 23 December 2013 RM0.60 45,412,554 21 December 2018

Directors 

The Directors in office since the date of the last report are:

Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie 
Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok	
Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee	
Datin Chan Bee Leng	
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong
Boey Tak Kong
Chow Seck Kai 
Dimitrios Pantazaras	
Low Kheng Lun

Directors’ Interests 

The interests and deemed interests in the shares, warrants and options over ordinary shares of the Company or its related 
corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiary company) by the Directors in office at the end of the financial year (including their 
spouse or children) according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
At

01.01.2015 Acquired
Conversion/

Exercised Disposed
At

31.12.2015

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
Direct interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok 5,412,000 300,000 1,425,500 - 7,137,500
Boey Tak Kong 750,000 100,000 - - 850,000
Chow Seck Kai 60,000 - 52,400 - 112,400

Indirect interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok (1) 52,726,000 601,300 - (100,000) 53,227,300
Dato' Sri Thong Kok Khee (2) 36,899,450 14,582,000 - (2,016,700) 49,464,750
Datin Chan Bee Leng (3) 66,375,758 200,000 - - 66,575,758
Dato' Wong Kit-Leong (4) 51,426,000 601,300 - - 52,027,300
Low Kheng Lun (5) 54,079,258 - - - 54,079,258

Number of ICPS of RM0.01 each
At

01.01.2015 Acquired Conversion Disposed
At

31.12.2015

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
Direct interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok 157,700 - (157,700) - -
Chow Seck Kai 5,000 - - - 5,000

Directors’ Report (Cont'd)
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Directors’ Interests (Cont'd)

Number of RCPS of RM0.01 each
At

01.01.2015 Acquired Conversion Disposed
At

31.12.2015

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
Direct interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok 1,267,800 - (1,267,800) - -

Indirect interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok (1) 110,000 - - - 110,000
Datin Chan Bee Leng (3) 11,382,964 - - - 11,382,964
Low Kheng Lun (5) 11,033,774 - - - 11,033,774

Number of Warrants 2013/2018
At

01.01.2015 Acquired Exercised Disposed
At

31.12.2015

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
Direct interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok 1,325,000 - - - 1,325,000
Chow Seck Kai 2,500 - - - 2,500

Indirect interest
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok (1) 11,707,500 - - - 11,707,500
Datin Chan Bee Leng (3) 8,821,665 - - (4,096,800) 4,724,865
Dato' Wong Kit-Leong (4) 11,557,500 - - - 11,557,500
Low Kheng Lun (5) 8,821,665 - - (4,096,800) 4,724,865

Number of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
At

01.01.2015 Granted Exercised Lapsed
At

31.12.2015

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
Direct interest
Datuk Seri Panglima Sulong Matjeraie - 211,900 - - 211,900
Dato' Mah Siew Kwok - 169,400 - - 169,400
Dato' Sri Thong Kok Khee - 158,900 - - 158,900
Datin Chan Bee Leng - 158,900 - - 158,900
Dato' Wong Kit-Leong - 635,600 - - 635,600
Boey Tak Kong - 158,900 - - 158,900
Chow Seck Kai - 174,700 (52,400) - 122,300
Dimitrios Pantazaras - 158,900 - - 158,900
Low Kheng Lun - 158,900 - - 158,900

Notes:

1	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 ("Act") by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Omesti Berhad, which is the holding 
company of Omesti Holdings Berhad and his spouse's and child's direct shareholdings in the Company.

2	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Insas Berhad and his children’s direct shareholdings in the 
Company.

3	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of her spouse’s direct shareholdings in the Company and her spouse’s substantial shareholdings in 
Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd., Estate of Low Chee and Concrete Pavers Industries Sdn. Bhd.

4	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Red Zone Development Sdn. Bhd., a substantial shareholder of 
Omesti Berhad which is the holding company of Omesti Holdings Berhad.

5	 Deemed interested pursuant to Section 6A of the Act by virtue of his substantial shareholdings in Low Chee Group Sdn. Bhd.

Directors’ Report (Cont'd)
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Directors’ Interests (Cont'd)

By virtue of their interest in the shares of the Company, Dato’ Mah Siew Kwok, Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee, Datin Chan Bee Leng, 
Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong  and Low Kheng Lun are deemed to have interests in the shares of all its subsidiary companies to the extent 
the Company has an interest.

None of the other Directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any interest in the ordinary shares, ICPS, RCPS and 
Warrants of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.

Directors’ Benefits 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other 
than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial 
statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the 
Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, other than certain Directors who 
have significant financial interests in companies which traded with certain companies in the Group in the ordinary course of business 
as disclosed in Note 33(b) to the financial statements. 

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was to enable the 
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, 
other than those arising from the share options granted under the ESOS.

Other Statutory Information

(a)	 Before the statements of financial position and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group and 
of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful 
debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance had been 
made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the 
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise. 

(b)	 At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i)	 which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(ii)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading; or

(iii)	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render 
any amount stated in the financial statements misleading; or

(iv)	 which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group 
and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(c)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liability of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

Directors’ Report (Cont'd)
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Other Statutory Information (Cont'd)

(d)	 In the opinion of the Directors:

(i)	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 
twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to 
meet their obligations when they fall due;

(ii)	 the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially affected 
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature except as disclosed in the notes to financial statements; 
and 

(iii)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 

Significant Events 

The significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.

Subsequent Events 

The subsequent events subsequent to the end of the financial year are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The Auditors, Messrs UHY, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 19 April 2016.

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE CHOW SECK KAI

KUALA LUMPUR

Directors’ Report (Cont'd)
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We, the undersigned, being two of the Directors of the Company, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial 
statements set out on pages 65 to 129 are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 
31 December 2015 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

The supplementary information set out in Note 43 to the financial statements on page 130 have been compiled in accordance with 
Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant 
to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 19 April 2016.

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA SULONG MATJERAIE CHOW SECK KAI

KUALA LUMPUR

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, DATO’ WONG KIT-LEONG, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Ho Hup Construction Company 
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements set out on pages 65 
to 130 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions 
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala 
Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 19 April 2016

) 
)

DATO’ WONG KIT-LEONG

Before me,

Mohan A.S.MANIAM (W521)
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965
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Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position 
as at 31 December 2015 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 65 to 129.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are 
also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 
December 2015 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the followings:

(a)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its 
subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

(b)	 We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiary companies of which we have not 
acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 7 to the financial statements.

(c)	 We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that have been consolidated with the Company’s 
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d)	 The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies did not contain any qualification or any adverse 
comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad

(Company No.: 14034-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 43 on page 130 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information 
in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of 
Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

UHY	 NG WEE TEIK
Firm Number: AF 1411	 Approved Number: 1817/12/16 (J)
Chartered Accountants	 Chartered Accountant

KUALA LUMPUR
19 April 2016

Independent Auditors’ Report (Cont'd)
to the Members of Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad
(Company No.: 14034-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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GROUP COMPANY
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 12,777 11,651 823 698
Intangible assets 5 80,216 57 - -
Land and property development costs 6 29,192 9,753 - -
Investment in subsidiary companies 7 - - 52,242 52,182
Investments in associates 8 - - - -
Investments in joint ventures 9 - - - -

122,185 21,461 53,065 52,880

Current Assets
Land and property development costs 6 116,371 116,117 - -
Accrued billings in respect of property development costs 152,375 95,464 - -
Amount due from customers on contracts 10 6,034 6,032 6,034 5,796
Inventories 11 670 600 - -
Trade receivables 12 68,542 80,050 11,386 46,132
Other receivables 13 29,464 33,344 12,814 27,225
Amount due from subsidiary companies 14 - - 242,962 160,998
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 15 2,912 951 762 10
Cash and bank balances 15 24,600 9,278 8,888 5,943

400,968 341,836 282,846 246,104
Total Assets 523,153 363,297 335,911 298,984

Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2015
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GROUP COMPANY
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

EQUITY

Share capital 16 173,666 155,948 173,666 155,948
Reserves 17 54,610 (33,339) 41,355 1,787
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 228,276 122,609 215,021 157,735
Non-controlling interests 10,234 1,098 - -
Total Equity 238,510 123,707 215,021 157,735

LIABILITIES

Non-Current Liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 18 2,589 2,672 - -
Bank borrowings 19 59,001 18,247 19,662 -
Deferred tax liabilities 20 18,196 - - -

79,786 20,919 19,662 -

Current Liabilities
Amount due to customers on contracts 10 11,159 9,663 31,538 25,401
Provision for liquidated ascertained damages 21 62 1,770 - -
Trade payables 22 47,838 90,464 28,837 81,980
Other payables 23 51,604 92,314 9,411 28,944
Finance lease liabilities 18 1,401 993 - -
Bank borrowings 19 71,974 17,676 27,340 -
Amount due to subsidiary companies 14 - - 4,102 4,924
Provision for taxation 20,819 5,791 - -

204,857 218,671 101,228 141,249
Total Liabilities 284,643 239,590 120,890 141,249
Total Equity and Liabilities 523,153 363,297 335,911 298,984

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Financial Position (Cont'd)
As at 31 December 2015
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GROUP COMPANY
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue 24 298,546 341,024 128,245 195,849

Cost of sales 25 (188,996) (241,150) (112,680) (183,525)

Gross profit 109,550 99,874 15,565 12,324

Other income 3,240 3,015 20,215 14,831

Administrative expenses (11,509) (7,789) (7,790) (4,806)

Other expenses (11,947) (14,447) (4,873) (8,526)

Finance costs 26 (2,573) (570) (1,145) (358)

Profit before tax 27 86,761 80,083 21,972 13,465

Taxation 28 (16,487) (12,905) (14) -

Profit for the financial year 70,274 67,178 21,958 13,465

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss
Exchange translation differences for foreign operations (917) 29 - -

Other comprehensive income for the financial year (917) 29 - -

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 69,357 67,207 21,958 13,465

Profit for the financial year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 70,934 65,750
Non-controlling interests (660) 1,428

70,274 67,178

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 70,339 65,779
Non-controlling interests (982) 1,428

69,357 67,207

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (sen) 29(i) 20.7 25.1
Diluted earnings per share (sen) 29(ii) 18.0 17.9

Statements of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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<-------------------------------------- Attributable to Owners of the Parent -------------------------------------->
<---------------------------- Non-Distributable ---------------------------->

Share
Capital ICPS RCPS

Share
Premium

Foreign 
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Warrant
Reserve

Other
Reserve

Accumulated
Losses Total

Non-
Controlling 

Interests
Total

Equity
Group Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2014 51,000 1,020 1,336 115,425 (356) 8,670 (8,670) (85,213) 83,212 6,236 89,448

Profit for the financial 
year - - - - - - - 65,750 65,750 1,428 67,178

Other comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year - - - - 29 - - - 29 - 29

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year - - - - 29 - - 65,750 65,779 1,428 67,207

Transactions with 
owners:

Conversion of ICPS 16 46,169 (923) - (45,246) - - - - - - -
Conversion of RCPS 16 55,706 - (1,114) (54,592) - - - - - - -
Exercised of warrants 16, 

17 2,754 - - 551 - (936) 936 - 3,305 - 3,305
Acquisition of 

additional interest 
from non-controlling 
interests - - - - - - (29,687) - (29,687) (6,860) (36,547)

Incorporation of a 
subsidiary company - - - - - - - - - 294 294

Total transactions 
with owners 104,629 (923) (1,114) (99,287) - (936) (28,751) - (26,382) (6,566) (32,948)

At 31 December 2014 155,629 97 222 16,138 (327) 7,734 (37,421) (19,463) 122,609 1,098 123,707

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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<---------------------------------- Attributable to Owners of the Parent ---------------------------------->
<------------------------------- Non-Distributable ------------------------------->

Share
Capital ICPS RCPS

Share
Premium

Foreign 
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Warrant
Reserve

Employee
Share

Option
Reserve

Other
Reserve

(Accumulated
Loss) /

Distributable
Retained 
Earning Total

Non-
Controlling 

Interests
Total

Equity
Group Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2015 155,629 97 222 16,138 (327) 7,734 - (37,421) (19,463) 122,609 1,098 123,707

Profit for the 
financial year - - - - - - - - 70,934 70,934 (660) 70,274

Other 
comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year - - - - (595) - - - - (595) (322) (917)

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year - - - - (595) - - - 70,934 70,339 (982) 69,357

Transactions 
with owners:
Issue of 

ordinary 
shares 15,562 - - 19,298 - - - - - 34,860 - 34,860

Conversion of 
ICPS 16 812 (16) - (796) - - - - - - - -

Conversion of 
RCPS 16 1,245 - (25) (1,220) - - - - - - - -

Exercised of 
ESOS 100 - - 90 - - (42) - - 148 - 148

Exercised of 
warrants

16, 
17 40 - - 7 - (14) - 14 - 47 - 47

Shares options 
granted under 
ESOS 17 - - - - - - 273 - - 273 - 273

Incorporation 
of subsidiary 
companies - - - - - - - - - - 10,118 10,118

Total 
transactions 
with owners 17,759 (16) (25) 17,379 - (14) 231 14 - 35,328 10,118 45,446

At 31 December 
2015 173,388 81 197 33,517 (922) 7,720 231 (37,407) 51,471 228,276 10,234 238,510

Statements of Changes in Equity (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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<------------------------------- Attributable to Owners of the Parent ------------------------------->
<--------------------------- Non-Distributable --------------------------->

Share
Capital ICPS RCPS

Share
Premium

Warrant
Reserve

Employee
Share 

Option
Reserve

Other
Reserve

Accumulated
Losses

Total
Equity

Company Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2014 51,000 1,020 1,336 115,425 8,670 - (8,670) (27,816) 140,965

Profit for the financial 
year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the 
financial year - - - - - - - 13,465 13,465

Transactions with owners:
Conversion of ICPS 16 46,169 (923) - (45,246) - - - - -
Conversion of RCPS 16 55,706 - (1,114) (54,592) - - - - -
Exercised of warrants 16, 17 2,754 - - 551 (936) - 936 - 3,305

Total transactions with owners 104,629 (923) (1,114) (99,287) (936) - 936 - 3,305
At 31 December 2014 155,629 97 222 16,138 7,734 - (7,734) (14,351) 157,735

At 1 January 2015 155,629 97 222 16,138 7,734 - (7,734) (14,351) 157,735

Profit for the financial 
year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the 
financial year - - - - - - - 21,958 21,958

Transactions with owners:
Issue of ordinary shares 15,562 - - 19,298 - - - - 34,860
Conversion of ICPS 16 812 (16) - (796) - - - - -
Conversion of RCPS 16 1,245 - (25) (1,220) - - - - -
Exercised of ESOS 16 100 - - 90 - (42) - - 148
Exercised of warrants 16, 17 40 - - 7 (14) - 14 - 47
Shares options granted under 

ESOS - - - - - 273 - - 273
Total transactions with owners 17,759 (16) (25) 17,379 (14) 231 14 - 35,328
At 31 December 2015 173,388 81 197 33,517 7,720 231 (7,720) 7,607 215,021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Profit before tax 86,761 80,083 21,972 13,465
Adjustments for:

Bad debts written off 58 - - -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,859 1,194 176 241
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 - - -
Impairment on trade receivables 401 235 - -
Impairment on amount due from a subsidiary company - - - 14
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (519) - (14) - 
Provision/(Reversal) for liquidated ascertained damages (Net) 206 (417) - -
Share-based payment expenses 273 - 273 -
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables (662) (338) (620) (322)
Reversal of impairment on other receivables (16) - - -
Reversal of impairment on amount due from a subsidiary 

company - - (4,839) (1,461)
Writeback of provision for value added tax (812) - (812) -
Interest income (322) (398) (271) (281)
Finance costs 2,573 570 1,145 358

Operating profit before working capital changes 89,816 80,929 17,010 12,014

Change in working capital
Land and property development costs (6,151)  (2,498) - -
Accrued billing/Progress billing in respect of property 

development costs (56,911) (125,693) - -
Amount due from customers on contracts 1,493 14,824 5,900 22,739
Inventories (70) 20 - -
Receivables 14,862 (17,060) (28,169) (111,587)
Payables (91,653) 13,553 (71,867) 56,747

(138,430) (116,854) (94,136) (32,101)
Cash used in operations (48,614) (35,925) (77,126) (20,087)

Interest paid (6,988) (708) (1,145) (358)
Tax paid (1,370) (18) (14) -
Payment for liquidated ascertained damages (1,914) (19,769) - -

(10,272) (20,495) (1,159) (358)
Net cash used in operating activities (58,886) (56,420) (78,285) (20,445)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment [Note 4(a)] (2,218) (3,937) (303) (55)
Purchase of intangible assets [Note 5] (167) (57) - -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 770 - 16 -
Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiary companies 

[Note 7(b)] (33,153) - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary companies - - (60) *
Acquisition of an associate - - # -
Additional investment in a subsidiary company - (36,547) - (36,547)
Capital contribution by non-controlling interests 40 294 - -
Interest received 322 398 271 281

Net cash used in investing activities (34,406) (39,849) (76) (36,321)

# denote RM29
*  denote RM2

Statements of Cash Flows
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 34,860 - 34,860 -
Proceeds from exercised on warrants 48 3,305 48 3,305
Proceeds from exercised on ESOS 148 - 148 -
Drawdown of bridging loan/term loans 51,941 18,247 37,162 -
Repayment of finance lease liabilities (427) (217) - -
Repayment of term loans (7,321) (40,000) - (40,000)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 79,249 (18,665) 72,218 (36,695)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (14,043) (114,934) (6,143) (93,461)
Exchange translation differences on cash and cash 

equivalents 165 29 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 

year (7,447) 107,458 5,953 99,414
(21,325) (7,447) (190) 5,953

Less: Cash and cash equivalents restricted from use
[Note 15] (12,029) (980) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 

[Note 15] (33,354) (8,427) (190) 5,953

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Cash Flows (Cont'd)
for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2015
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1.	 Corporate Information

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Market of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The principal place of business of the Company is located at No.18, Jalan 17/155C, Bandar Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur.

The registered office of the Company is located at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, 
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur. 

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding, foundation engineering, civil engineering, building 
contracting works and the provision of management services for subsidiary companies. The principal activities of the subsidiary 
companies, associates and joint ventures are disclosed in Notes 7, 8 and 9 respectively. There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

2.	 Basis of Preparation

a.	 Statement of compliance

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRSs”) and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
unless otherwise indicated in the significant accounting policies below. 

	 Adoption of new and amended standards 

	 During the financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted the following amendments to FRSs issued by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) that are mandatory for current financial year:

Amendments to FRS 119 Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle

Adoption of above amendments to FRSs did not have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company.

	
	 Standards issued but not yet effective

	 The Group and the Company have not applied the following new FRSs and amendments to FRSs that have been issued 
by the MASB but are not yet effective for the Group and for the Company:

Effective dates for financial
periods beginning on or after

FRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016
Amendments to FRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in

Joint Operations
1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 101 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016
Amendments to FRS 116 and FRS 138 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

Depreciation and Amortisation
1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 127 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements

1 January 2016

Annual Improvements to FRS 2012 - 2014 Cycle 1 January 2016
Amendments to FRS 10, FRS 12 and

FRS 128 
Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception 
1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 112 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses

1 January 2017

Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017
FRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by

IASB in July 2014)
1 January 2018

Amendments to FRS 10 and FRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be announced

The Group and the Company intend to adopt the above FRSs when they become effective.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.	 Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)

a.	 Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d)

The initial application of the abovementioned FRSs are not expected to have any significant impacts on the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company except as mentioned below:

FRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014)

FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in July 2014) replaces earlier versions of FRS 9 and introduces a package of improvements 
which includes a classification and measurement model, a single forward looking ‘expected loss’ impairment model and 
a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. FRS 9 when effective will replace FRS 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

FRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for 
financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. The 
basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the 
irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income without subsequent 
recycling to profit or loss. There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment 
model used in FRS 139. For financial liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the 
recognition of changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss. FRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness 
tests. It requires an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ 
to be the same as the one management actually use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation 
is still required but is different to that currently prepared under FRS 139.

The adoption of FRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently examining the financial impact 
of adopting FRS 9.

New Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS Framework”) issued but not yet effective

On 19 November 2011, the MASB issued a new MASB approved accounting framework, the Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRS Framework”). The MFRS Framework is to be applied by all Entities Other Than Private 
Entities for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with the exception of entities that are within the scope 
of MFRS 141 Agriculture and IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, including its parent, 
significant investor and venturer (hereinafter called “Transitioning Entities”).

Transitioning Entities will be allowed to defer adoption of the new MFRS Framework and continue to use the existing FRS 
Framework. The adoption of the MFRS Framework by Transitioning Entities will be mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

The Group and the Company fall within the scope definition of Transitioning Entities and accordingly, will be required to 
prepare financial statements using the MFRS Framework in their first MFRS financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018. In presenting their first MFRS financial statements, the Group and the Company will be 
required to restate the comparative financial statements to amounts reflecting the application of the MFRS Framework. 
The majority of the adjustments required on transition will be made, retrospectively, against opening retained earnings.

The Group and the Company have not completed its assessment of the financial effects of the differences between FRSs 
and accounting standards under the MFRS Framework. Accordingly, the consolidated and separate financial performance 
and financial position as disclosed in these financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 could be 
different if prepared under the MFRS Framework.

b.	 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Group’s and Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise stated.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont'd)
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2.	 Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)

c.	 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

Judgments

There are no significant areas of critical judgement in applying accounting policies that have significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next reporting period are set out below:

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (Note 4)

The Group regularly review the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on factors such as business 
plan and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. Future results of operations could 
be materially affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. A 
reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded depreciation and 
decrease the value of property, plant and equipment.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 
losses, unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon 
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Details of deferred tax 
assets are disclosed in Note 20.

Property development costs 

The Group recognises property development revenue and expenses in the profit and loss by using the stage of completion 
method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work 
performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs. 

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the property development costs 
incurred, the estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the development 
projects. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on the work of 
specialists. Details of property development costs are disclosed in Note 6.

Construction contracts

The Group recognises construction contracts revenue and expenses in the profit or loss by using the stage of completion 
method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that construction costs incurred for work performed to 
date bear to the estimated total construction costs.

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the construction costs incurred, 
the estimated total construction revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the construction projects. In making 
the judgement, the Group evaluates based on experience and by relying on the work of specialists. The details of 
construction contracts are disclosed in Note 10. 

Inventories valuation

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group estimates the net realisable value of 
inventories based on an assessment of expected sales prices. Demand levels and pricing competition could change from 
time to time. If such factors result in an adverse effect on the Group’s products, the Group might be required to reduce 
the value of its inventories. Details of inventories are disclosed in Note 11.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont'd)
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2.	 Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)

c.	 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (Cont'd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd) 

Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a receivable is 
impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivable and default or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based on 
historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amounts at the end of the 
reporting period for loans and receivables are disclosed in Notes 12 and 13.

Provision for liquidated ascertained damages

Provision for liquidated ascertained damages is recognised for expected liquidated ascertained damages claims based 
on the terms of the applicable sale and purchase agreements and is provided up to the actual or estimated completion 
date of development projects. The carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period for provision for liquidated 
ascertained damages are disclosed in Note 21.

Income taxes

Judgment is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

The Group recognises liabilities for tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these tax matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the 
income tax and/or deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

Employee share options

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This 
estimate also require determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Details of assumptions made in respect 
of the share-based payment scheme are disclosed in Note 30.

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies

The Group and the Company apply the significant accounting policies set out below, consistently throughout all periods 
presented in the financial statements unless otherwise stated. 

a.	 Basis of consolidation

i.	 Subsidiary companies

Subsidiary companies are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiary companies are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary company is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed off in profit or loss as incurred.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

a.	 Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

i.	 Subsidiary companies (Cont'd)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at 
its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instruments and within the scope of 
FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are eliminated only if there is no indication of impairment. Where necessary, 
accounting policies of subsidiary companies have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds 
and their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying 
amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The policy of 
recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(l)(i).

ii.	 Change in ownership interests in subsidiary companies without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value 
of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary 
company is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

iii.	 Disposal of subsidiary companies

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary company, including 
any goodwill, and non-controlling interests are derecognised at their carrying value on the date that control is lost. 
Any remaining investment in the entity is recognised at fair value. The difference between the fair value of 
consideration received and the amounts derecognised and the remaining fair value of the investment is recognised 
as a gain or loss on disposal in profit or loss. Any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

iv.	 Goodwill on consolidation

The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration transferred, non-controlling 
interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets of 
the subsidiary company acquired (ie. a bargain purchase), the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not 
amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequent when there is objective evidence that 
the carrying amount may be impaired. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in 
accordance with Note 3(l)(i).

b.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate 
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

b.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont'd)

On acquisition of an investment in an associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill and included 
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the investee over the cost of investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is 
instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss for the 
period in which the investment is acquired.

An associate or a joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a 
joint venture. Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised 
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture after the date of acquisition. When the Group’s share of losses 
in an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate or joint venture.

Profits or losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate or joint 
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests 
in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the assets transferred.

The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

After application of the equity method, the Group applies FRS 139 to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any 
additional impairment loss with respect to its net investment in the associate or joint venture. When necessary, the entire 
carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 136 Impairment of Assets as a single 
assets, by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying 
amount. Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Reversal of an impairment loss is recognised to the extent 
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from 
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are stated at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and 
their carrying amounts are recognised in profit or loss. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of 
the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The policy of recognition and 
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(l)(i).

c.	 Foreign currency translation

i.	 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency of the respective Group entities using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the reporting 
date are included in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the 
Group’s net investment in foreign operation. These are initially taken directly to the foreign currency translation 
reserve within equity until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss. 
Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Company’s net investment in foreign operation 
are recognised in profit or loss in the Company’s financial statements or the individual financial statements of the 
foreign operation, as appropriate.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

c.	 Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

i.	 Foreign currency transactions and balances (Cont'd)

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or 
loss for the reporting period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect 
of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange differences arising from such 
non-monetary items are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

ii.	 Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations denominated in functional currencies other than RM, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to RM at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations, excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary 
economies, are translated to RM at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign 
currency translation reserve (“FCTR”) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary company, 
then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When 
a foreign operation is disposed off such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative 
amount in the FCTR related that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. 

When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary company that includes a foreign operation, the 
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes 
of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining 
significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 

d.	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(l)(i).

i.	 Recognition and measurement

	 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, cost of replacing component parts of the 
assets, and the present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of the assets after their use. The cost 
of self-constructed assets also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. All other repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

	 The cost of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is based on fair value 
at acquisition date. The fair value of property is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on 
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing 
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The fair value of other items 
of plant and equipment is based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

	 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

	 Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined 
as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in profit 
or loss.

ii.	 Subsequent costs

	 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

d.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

iii.	 Depreciation

	 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on straight line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each asset to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. Leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining lease period of 48 
years. Property, plant and equipment under construction are not depreciated until the assets are ready for its 
intended use.

	 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 5 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Plant and machinery 3 - 20 years
Renovations 10 years
Tools and technical equipment 5 - 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 
ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the property, plant and equipment.

e.	 Intangible assets

i.	 Intangible assets acquired separately

	 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting date, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

ii.	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially 
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are 
acquired separately.

iii.	 Derecognition of intangible assets

	 An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 

See accounting policy Note 3(l)(i) on impairment of non-financial assets for intangible assets. 

f.	 Land held for property development and property development costs 

i.	 Land held for property development

Land held for property development consists of land where no development activities have been carried out or 
where development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle. Such land is 
classified within non-current assets and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The policy of 
recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3(l)(i).
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

f.	 Land held for property development and property development costs (Cont'd)

i.	 Land held for property development (Cont'd)

Land held for property development is reclassified as current asset when the development activities have 
commenced or development activities are expected to commence within the period of twelve months after the end 
of financial year and where it can be demonstrated that the development activities can be completed within the 
normal operating cycle.

Cost associated with the acquisition of land includes the purchase price of the land, professional fees, stamp 
duties, commissions, conversion fees and other relevant levies. 

ii.	 Property development costs

Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to development activities or that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.

Property development costs shall be classified as non-current asset where no development activities have been 
carried out or development activities are not expected to commence within the period of twelve months after the 
end of financial year or where development activities are not expected to be completed within the normal operating 
cycle.

Property development costs shall be reclassified to current asset when the development activities have been 
commenced or development activities are expected to commence within the period of twelve months after the end 
of financial year or where the activities are expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle.

When the financial outcome of development activity can be reliably estimated, property development revenue and 
expenses are recognised in the profit or loss by using the stage of completion. The stage of completion is determined 
by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total 
property development costs.

When the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, property development revenue 
is recognised only to the extent of property development costs incurred that is probable will be recoverable, and 
property development costs on units sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Any expected loss on a development project including costs to be incurred over the defects liability period shall be 
recognised as an expense immediately.

Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an asset, which measured at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.

When the revenue recognised in the profit or loss exceeds billings to purchasers, the balance is shown as accrued 
billings under current assets. When the billings to purchasers exceed the revenue recognised in the profit or loss, 
the balance is shown as progress billings under current liabilities.

g.	 Inventories

Inventories which represent construction materials and unsold properties are stated at the lower of cost (determined on 
the first-in, first-out basis) and net realisable value. 

The cost of completed properties includes costs of land and related development cost or its purchase costs and incidental 
cost of acquisition. 

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.

h.	 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
the inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or asset and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specific in an arrangement.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

h.	 Leases (Cont'd)

i.	 Finance lease

	 Leases in terms of which the Group or the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the 
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

	 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of 
the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised as finance costs in the profit or loss. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by 
revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as a property, plant and equipment.

ii.	 Operating lease

Leases, where the Group or the Company does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating lease, the leased assets are 
not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest held under an operating lease, which is held 
to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both, is classified as investment property and measured using 
fair value model.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense, over 
the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the reporting period in which they are 
incurred.

Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid land lease payments.

i.	 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the Company 
become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group and the Company classify their financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired at initial recognition, into loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for those maturing later than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.

After initial recognition, financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period 
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group and the Company commit 
to purchase or sell the asset. 
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

i.	 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset has expired 
or has been transferred and the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of consideration received 
and any cumulative gains or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

j.	 Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or combination of assets 
that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function of their ultimate purpose 
or use. 

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract cost are recognised 
over the period of contracts as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activities at the end of the reporting period. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that construction 
costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total construction costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable and contract costs are recognised as expenses in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Irrespective whether the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, when it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, claims 
and incentive payments to the extent that it is probably that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being 
reliably measured.

The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on each contract is compared against the progress 
billings up to the reporting period end. Where costs incurred and recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed 
progress billings, the balance is presented as amounts due from contract customers. Where progress billings exceed 
costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is presented as amounts due to contract 
customers.

k.	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with banks and highly liquid investments 
which have an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.

l.	 Impairment of assets

i.	 Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories, amount due from contract customers and 
deferred tax assets) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives, or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated 
each period at the same time.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating 
units. Subject to operating segment ceiling test, for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed 
reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. The goodwill acquired in a 
business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to a cash-generating unit or a group of 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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3.	 Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)

l.	 Impairment of assets (Cont'd)

i.	 Non-financial assets (Cont'd)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value-in-use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which such impairment loss is recognised directly against any revaluation surplus for the asset to the 
extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to reduce the 
carrying amounts of the other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata 
basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised 
in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period for any indications that the loss has decreased or 
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying 
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for asset in prior 
years. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

ii.	 Financial assets 

All financial assets, other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss, investments in subsidiary 
companies, associates and joint ventures, are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivable 
and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, 
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective 
basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could 
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 
portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on receivables.

If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that 
have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. Receivables together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic 
prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, to the 
extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of reversal is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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m.	 Share capital

i.	 Ordinary shares

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instrument. Ordinary shares are recorded at the 
nominal value of shares issued. Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the period they are approved by 
the Board of Directors except for the final dividend which is subject to approval by the Company’s shareholders. 

ii.	 Preference shares

Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable, or is redeemable but only at the Company’s 
option, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as distribution within equity. 
Preference share capital is classified as financial liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the 
equity holders, or if dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as interest expense 
in profit or loss as accrued.

n.	 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the 
definition of financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the 
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities at initial recognition, into the following categories:

i.	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and loans and borrowings.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Gains and losses on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

ii.	 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specific payment to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original 
or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount 
recognised less cumulative amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont'd)



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)86
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o.	 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statements of financial position if, 
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

p.	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is 
recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision. The relating 
expense relating to any provision is presented in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of 
any reimbursement.

q.	 Revenue

i.	 Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts is accounted in accordance to the accounting policies as disclosed in Note 
3(j).

ii.	 Joint development income

Revenue from joint development income is accounted in accordance to the accounting policies as disclosed in 
Note 3(f)(ii).

iii.	 Sale of development properties

Revenue from sale of development properties is accounted in accordance to the accounting policies as disclosed 
in Note 3(f)(ii).

iv.	 Commissions

Commission is recognised when the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a 
transaction, the revenue recognised is the net amount of commission made by the Group.

v.	 Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade 
discount and volume rebates. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the transfer of significant risk and 
rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs 
and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management involvement with 
the goods.

vi.	 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on accruals basis using the effective interest method. 

vii.	 Rental income

Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives 
provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

viii.	 Management fee

Management fee is recognised on accrual basis when services are rendered. 
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r.	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit 
or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and 
the Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset 
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended 
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

s.	 Income taxes

Tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the financial year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the statements of financial position and their tax bases. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
the assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Unutilised reinvestment allowance, being a tax incentive that is not a tax base of an asset, is recognised as a deferred 
tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available against the unutilised tax incentive 
can be utilised.

t.	 Employee benefits

i.	 Short term employee benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in 
which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their 
entitlement to future compensation absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick 
and medical leave are recognised when the absences occur.

The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount expected to be paid 
as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the end of the reporting period.
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t.	 Employee benefits (Cont'd)

ii.	 Defined contribution plans

As required by law, companies in Malaysia contribute to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions 
are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group 
have no further payment obligations. 

iii.	 Equity-settled Share-based Payment Transaction

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for the employees of the Group. Employee 
services received in exchange for the grant of the share options is recognised as an expense in the profit or loss 
over the vesting periods of the grant with a corresponding increase in equity.

For options granted to the employees of the subsidiary companies, the fair value of the options granted is recognised 
as cost of investment in the subsidiary companies over the vesting period with a corresponding adjustment to 
equity in the Company’s financial statements.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the share 
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales 
growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to be vested. At the end of each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of share 
options that are expected to be vested. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) 
and share premium when the options are exercised.

u.	 Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments and make overall strategic decisions. The Group’s operating segments are organised and 
managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a 
strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.

v.	 Contingencies
	
	 Where it is not probable that an inflow or an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the asset or the obligation is disclosed as a contingent asset or contingent liability, unless the probability 
of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent assets or contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4.	 Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
land and 
building

Furniture, 
fittings 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Plant and 
machinery Renovations

Tools and 
technical 

equipment

Building 
under 

construction Total
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Cost
At 1 January 2015 741 354 5,612 14,683 64,268 1,017 3,302 628 90,605
Additions 47 - 324 881 143 259 - 1,256 2,910
Disposals - - - (5,516) (562) - - - (6,078)
Arising from acquisition of 

subsidiary companies - 160 138 - 281 138 - - 717
Exchange difference - - 33 43 - 67 - - 143
At 31 December 2015 788 514 6,107 10,091 64,130 1,481 3,302 1,884 88,297

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 112 169 5,142 8,840 44,007 611 3,220 - 62,101
Charge for the financial year 15 7 135 783 755 95 69 - 1,859
Disposals - - - (5,415) (412) - - - (5,827)
Arising from acquisition of 

subsidiary companies - 13 136 - 236 138 - - 523
Exchange difference - - 3 5 - 3 - - 11
At 31 December 2015 127 189 5,416 4,213 44,586 847 3,289 - 58,667

Accumulated impairment 
losses

At 1 January 2015/
31 December 2015 - - - - 16,808 - 45 - 16,853

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 661 325 691 5,878 2,736 634 (32) 1,884 12,777

2014
Cost
At 1 January 2014 741 354 5,427 10,174 63,018 765 3,249 - 83,728
Additions - - 185 4,509 1,250 252 53 628 6,877
At 31 December 2014 741 354 5,612 14,683 64,268 1,017 3,302 628 90,605

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 99 162 5,021 8,446 43,537 549 3,093 - 60,907
Charge for the financial year 13 7  121 394 470 62 127 - 1,194
At 31 December 2014 112 169 5,142 8,840 44,007 611 3,220 - 62,101

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2014/

31 December 2014 - - - - 16,808 - 45 - 16,853

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2014 629 185 470 5,843 3,453 406 37 628 11,651
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4.	 Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont'd)

Freehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
land and 
building

Furniture, 
fittings 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Plant and 
machinery Renovations

Tools and 
technical 

equipment Total
Company RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Cost
At 1 January 2015 100 354 3,994 3,071 57,108 455 3,004 68,086
Additions - - 215 5 - 83 - 303
Disposals - - - (109) - - - (109)
At 31 December 2015 100 354 4,209 2,967 57,108 538 3,004 68,280

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 50 169 3,703 3,034 40,300 324 2,955 50,535
Charge for the financial year 2 7 87 4 - 39 37 176
Disposals - - - (107) - - - (107)
At 31 December 2015 52 176 3,790 2,931 40,300 363 2,992 50,604

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2015/ At 31 December 2015 - - - - 16,808 - 45 16,853

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 48 178 419 36 - 175 (33) 823

2014
Cost
At 1 January 2014 100 354 3,939 3,071 57,108 455 3,004 68,031
Additions - - 55 - - - - 55
At 31 December 2014 100 354 3,994 3,071 57,108 455 3,004 68,086

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 48 162 3,603 3,031 40,300 291 2,859 50,294
Charge for the financial year 2 7 100 3 - 33 96 241
At 31 December 2014 50 169 3,703 3,034 40,300 324 2,955 50,535

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2014/ At 31 December 2014 - - - - 16,808 - 45 16,853

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2014 50 185 291 37 - 131 4 698

a.	 The aggregate additional cost for the property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company during the 
financial year acquired under finance lease financing and cash payments are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Aggregate costs 2,910 6,877 303 55
Less: Finance lease financing (692) (2,940) - -
Cash payments 2,218 3,937 303 55
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4.	 Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont'd)

b.	 Assets held under finance leases

At 31 December 2015, the net carrying amount of leased plant and machinery and motor vehicles of the Group was 
RM4,196,000 (2014: RM3,855,000). Leased assets are pledged as security for the related lease liabilities.

c.	 The remaining lease term of leasehold land is 48 (2014: 49) years.

d.	 Assets pledged as securities to a licensed banks

The carrying amount of building under construction pledged as securities for bank borrowings amounted to RM1,884,000 
(2014: RMNil) as disclosed in Note 19(c).

5.	 Intangible Assets

Software
(Note a)

Group RM'000

Cost/Carrying amount
At 1 January 2014 -
Addition 57
At 31 December 2014 57

Software 
(Note a)

Goodwill on 
Consolidation 

(Note b)
Land Right 

(Note c)

Quarrying 
Rights

(Note d) Total
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cost
At 1 January 2015 57 - - - 57
Addition 167 - - - 167
Addition through business combination - 3,136 - - 3,136
Addition through separately acquired - - 75,445 2,500 77,945
Exchange differences 18 - - - 18
At 31 December 2015 242 3,136 75,445 2,500 81,323

Amortisation
At 1 January 2015 - - - - -
Amortisation for the financial year 16 - - - 16
Acquisition of subsidiary companies - - - 1,089 1,089
Exchange differences 2 - - - 2
At 31 December 2015 18 - - 1,089 1,107

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 224 3,136 75,445 1,411 80,216

a.	 Software

	 This represent accounting software and is assessed to have useful lives of 5 years. The amortisation period are reviewed 
at least annually for appropriateness.

b.	 Goodwill on consolidation

	 Goodwill on consolidation arose upon the acquisition of subsidiary companies, which are principally engaged in 
investment holding and quarrying operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont'd)



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)92

5.	 Intangible Assets (Cont'd)

b.	 Goodwill on consolidation (Cont'd)

i.	 Recoverable amount on value in use 

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of goodwill as at the end of the financial year was 
determined based on a value-in-use calculation by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing 
use of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) and was based on the following assumptions:

a.	 Pre-tax cash flow projections based on the most recent financial budgets covering a five (5) years period.

b.	 The anticipated annual revenue growth rate used in the cash flow budgets and plans of the CGU is ranged 
from 1% to 12%. 

c.	 Pre-tax discount rate of 6.6% per annum has been applied in determining the recoverable amount of the 
CGU. The discount rate was estimated based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the industry 
and are based on both external sources and internal sources.

The management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause 
the carrying values of the units to materially exceed their recoverable amounts.

 
ii.	 Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The management believes that a reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions on which management has 
based on its determination of the CGU’s recoverable amount would not cause the CGU’s carrying amount to 
exceed its recoverable amount.

c.	 Land right

The cost of the land right is based on discounted value which the asset could be exchanged between willing buyer and 
willing seller as per valuation report dated 30 June 2015. Valuer engaged in order to determine the fair value of the 
property is Knight Frank Consultant Sdn. Bhd., who are accredited independent valuer. The said property is a parcel of 
commercial land with Approved Development Plan for a block of 12 storey hotel comprising a 4 star hotel (Level 1 to 
Level 12 and roof deck), 2 blocks of 13 storey apartments comprising shops (Level 1 and Level 2) and 322 service 
apartment units (Level 3 to Level 13) together with 1 level of basement carpark.

The lease term of the land is 99 years, expiring on 31 December 2111. No amortisation charge for the financial year as 
the Group has not commence development as at reporting date.

d.	 Quarrying right

This represent payment made by a subsidiary company to undertake, operate, manage and control the quarry operation 
project on an area located at Taboh Naning, Alor Gajah, Melaka, which beneficially owned by Kolej Teknologi Islam 
Melaka Berhad. The quarrying right is expiring on 25 March 2028. No amortisation charge for the financial year as the 
Group has not commence quarry operation as at reporting date.

6.	 Land and Property Development Costs

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Non-Current Asset
Land  held for property development
Freehold land, at cost

At 1 January 9,753 111,068
Additions 10,313 13
Arising from acquisition of subsidiary companies 9,126 -
Transferred to current property development costs - (101,328)
At 31 December 29,192 9,753
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6.	 Land and Property Development Costs (Cont'd)

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Current Asset
Freehold land, at cost

At 1 January 66,069 7,998
Additions 201 181
Transferred from non-current property development costs - 60,960
Less: Completed project - (3,070)
At 31 December 66,270 66,069

Property development costs
At 1 January 157,823 34,905
Addition during the financial year 70,540 94,984
Transferred from non-current property development costs - 40,368
Less: Completed project - (12,434)
At 31 December 228,363 157,823

Cost recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
At 1 January 107,775 30,737
Recognised during the financial year 70,487 92,542
Less: Completed project -  (15,504)  
At 31 December 178,262 107,775

Total land and property development costs 116,371  116,117

a.	 The freehold land held by the Company under individual title Geran 42277, Lot No 36101, Mukim of Petaling Daerah 
Kuala Lumpur, Negeri Wilayah Persekutuan measuring land area of approximately 60 acres (243,000 square metres) has 
been subdivided into 6 individual titles. In accordance with the terms of the Joint Development Agreement between the 
Company and Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd. (“PHSB”, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of Malton Berhad), land held 
under Geran 78077, Lot No. 101461 have been subdivided into four (4) individual titles with land area of 201,554 square 
metres which was charged to financial institutions for a syndicated term loan and bridging loan facility for PHSB.

	 The other two land titles PT15146 and PT15292, with land area of 34,024 square metres was charged to a licensed bank 
for banking facilities as disclosed in Note 19.

b.	 Included in the property development costs incurred during the financial year are the following:

Group
2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000

Bridging loan interest 26 4,415 138
Staff costs 31 876 505
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies

Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares, at cost
In Malaysia 77,194 77,134
Outside Malaysia 11 11

77,205 77,145

Less: Accumulated impairment
          In Malaysia 24,955 24,955
          Outside Malaysia 8 8

24,963 24,963
52,242 52,182

The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows:

Name of Company
Country of 

incorporation
Equity

interest   Principal activities
2015 2014

% %

Direct holding:

H2Energy Corporation Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Engineering, procurement, construction and 
commissioning of pipeline system

Tru-Mix Concrete Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 90 90 Manufacturing and distribution of ready-mix 
concrete

Bukit Jalil Development Sdn. Bhd. 
("BJD")

Malaysia 100 100 Property development

Ho Hup Jaya Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Trading services

Ho Hup Industries Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Ho Hup 
Equipment Rental Sdn. Bhd.)

Malaysia 100 100 Quarry proprietor and investment holding

Ho Hup Construction Company (L) Ltd. Labuan, 
Malaysia

100 100 Investment holding

* Ho Hup Construction Company 
 (India) Pte. Ltd.

India 100 100 Construction

H2Advance Builders Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 60 100 Dormant

Ho Hup Ventures (KK) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 75 - Investment holding

Ho Hup Ventures (Johor) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 75 - Investment holding
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

The subsidiary companies and shareholdings therein are as follows: (Cont’d)

Name of Company
Country of 

incorporation
Equity

interest   Principal activities
2015 2014

% %

Indirect holding:

Subsidiary company of Bukit Jalil 
Development Sdn. Bhd.

Suria Jayajuta Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 100 Dormant

Subsidiary company of Ho Hup 
Construction Company (L) Ltd.

* Ho Hup (Myanmar) E&C Co., Ltd. Myanmar 70 70 Property development and construction

Subsidiary company of Ho Hup 
Ventures (KK) Sdn.  Bhd.

* Golden Wave Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 70 - Property development and letting of shoplots, food 
court and promotional area 

Subsidiary company of Ho Hup 
Industries Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Ho Hup 
Equipment Rental Sdn. Bhd.)

Ho Hup Ventures (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 70 - To carry business of quarry operation, 
manufacturing, trading of building materials and 
property development,  construction and services

Subsidiary company of Ho Hup 
Ventures (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd.

* Ho Hup Quarries (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Erakuasa Global 
Sdn. Bhd.)

Malaysia 100 - Investment holding

Subsidiary company of Ho Hup 
Quarries (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as Erakuasa Global 
Sdn. Bhd.)

* Ho Hup-ICM Quarry Sdn. Bhd. 
(formerly known as ACV-ICM Quarry 
Sdn. Bhd.)

Malaysia 75 - Quarry operations

*	 subsidiary companies not audited by UHY 
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

a.	 Material partly-owned subsidiary companies

The Group’s subsidiary companies that have material non-controlling interests are as follows:

Name of company

Proportion of ownership 
interests and voting rights 

held by non-controlling 
interests

Profit/(Loss) allocated to 
non-controlling interests

Accumulated non-controlling 
interests

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
% % RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Tru-Mix Concrete 
Sdn. Bhd. 10 10 142 (127) 1,089 947

Ho Hup Ventures (KK) 
Sdn. Bhd. 25 - (323) - 12,365 - 

Individually immaterial 
subsidiary companies 
with non-controlling 
interests ( 3,220) 151

Total non-controlling 
interests 10,234 1,098

The summarised financial information for each subsidiary company that has non-controlling interests that are material to 
the Group is disclosed below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before inter-company 
eliminations.

i.	 Summarised statements of financial position

Tru-Mix Concrete
Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup Ventures (KK)
Sdn. Bhd.

2015 2014 2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Total assets 38,546 22,188 96,241 -
Total liabilities (27,673) (12,739) (84,133) -
Net assets 10,873 9,449 12,108 -

ii.	 Summarised statements of comprehensive income

Tru-Mix Concrete
Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup Ventures (KK)
Sdn. Bhd.

2015 2014 2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue 72,039 38,429 456 -

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year, representing 
total comprehensive income for the financial 
year 1,425 (1,271) (642) -
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

a.	 Material partly-owned subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

iii.	 Summarised statements of cash flows

Tru-Mix Concrete
Sdn. Bhd.

Ho Hup Ventures (KK)
Sdn. Bhd.

2015 2014 2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Net cash from operating activities 993 2,918 29,924 -
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 282 (2,760) (29,442) -
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 1,226 (205) (11) -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 2,501 (47) 471 -

b.	 Acquisition and incorporation of subsidiary companies

i.	 On 12 June 2015, the Company had incorporated a 75% owned subsidiary company, namely Ho Hup Ventures (KK) 
Sdn. Bhd. (“HHVKK”) in Malaysia under the Companies Act, 1965 with an authorised share capital of RM400,000 
comprising 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each and total issued and paid-up share capital of RM100, of which 
75 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each are held by the Company and the remaining 25 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each 
are held by Tribeca Real Estate Asset Management Sdn. Bhd. (“Tribeca”).

ii.	 On 26 June 2015, HHVKK, the 75% owned subsidiary company of the Company, had entered into a Share Sale 
Agreement with Agro Padi Sdn. Bhd. for the acquisition of 70% equity interest in Golden Wave Sdn Bhd (“GWSB”) 
for cash consideration of RM30 million.

The acquisition has been completed during the financial year.

iii.	 On 23 July 2015, the Company had incorporated a 75% owned subsidiary company, namely Ho Hup Ventures 
(Johor) Sdn. Bhd. (“HHVJ”) in Malaysia under the Companies Act, 1965 with an authorised share capital of 
RM400,000 comprising 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each and total issued and paid-up share capital of 
RM100, of which 75 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each are held by the Company and the remaining 25 ordinary 
shares of RM1.00 each are held by Tribeca.

iv.	 On 17 August 2015, the Company had incorporated a 70% owned subsidiary company, namely Ho Hup Ventures 
(Malacca) Sdn. Bhd. (“HHVM”) in Malaysia under the Companies Act, 1965 with an authorised share capital of 
RM400,000 comprising 400,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each and total issued and paid-up share capital of 
RM100, of which 70 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each are held by Ho Hup Industries Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as 
Ho Hup Equipment Rental Sdn. Bhd.), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company and the 
remaining 30 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each are held by Amisan Resources Sdn. Bhd..

v.	 On 13 March 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, H2Advance Builders Sdn. Bhd. (“H2AB”) 
increased its issued and paid up capital from 2 to 100,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each. The Company 
subscribed an additional 59,998 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in H2AB, which resulted the shareholdings to 
dilute from 100% to 60%.

vi.	 On 30 December 2015, the Company’s indirect 70% owned subsidiary company, HHVM entered into a Share Sale 
and Purchase Agreement with Mr. Ong Chin Cheong, Mr. Ong Chin Yet and En. Noor Azman Bin Nordin (collectively 
referred to as the Vendors) for the acquisition of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Erakuasa Global Sdn. 
Bhd. (“EGSB”), representing 100% of the total issued and paid-up share capital of EGSB, for a total cash 
consideration of RM2,000,000. The acquisition was completed on the same date. Subsequent to the financial year, 
EGSB has changed name from Erakuasa Global Sdn. Bhd. to Ho Hup Quarries (Malacca) Sdn. Bhd..
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

b.	 Acquisition and incorporation of subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date for the acquisition of GWSB and EGSB: 

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

RM'000

Property, plant and equipment                                                                             194
Land and property development cost                                                                9,126
Intangible assets                                                                                              76,856
Other receivables                                                                                                 485
Fixed deposit with a licensed bank                                                                      392
Cash and bank balances                                                                                       165
Trade payables (761)
Other payables (8,369)
Deferred tax liabilities (18,107)
Finance lease liability (60)
Bank overdraft (1,710)
Term loan (19,270)
Total identifiable assets and liabilities 38,941
Non-controlling interests 2,610
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 41,551

Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of a subsidiary company

RM'000

Purchase consideration settled in cash (32,000) 
Fixed deposit with a licensed bank 392
Cash and bank balances 165
Bank overdraft (1,710)

 (33,153)

Goodwill arising from business combination

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

RM'000

Fair value of consideration transferred 32,000
Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised amounts of the assets 

and liabilities of the acquiree 12,687
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (41,551)
Goodwill 3,136

Acquisition-related costs

The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of RM253,000 related to external legal fees and due diligence costs. The 
expenses have been included in other operating expenses in the profit or loss.
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7.	 Investment in Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

b.	 Acquisition and incorporation of subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

Impact of the acquisition on the Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

From the date of acquisition, acquired subsidiary companies has contributed RM239,000 and RM284,000 to the Group’s 
revenue and loss for the financial year respectively. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the financial 
year, the Group’s revenue and loss for the financial year from its continuing operations would have been RM492,000 and 
RM346,000 respectively.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiary companies to transfer funds to the Group in the form of cash 
dividends or repayment of loans and advances. Generally, for all subsidiary companies which are not wholly-owned by the 
Company, non-controlling shareholders hold protective rights restricting the Company’s ability to use the assets of the 
subsidiary companies and settle the liabilities of the Group, unless approval is obtained from non-controlling shareholders. 

8.	 Investments in Associates

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares, at cost 18 18 * -
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (18) (18) - -

- - - -

*	 denote RM29

The associates and shareholdings therein are as follows:

Name of company
Country of 

incorporation
Effective
interest Principal activities

2015 2014
% %

Direct holding:

* Madagascar Malaysia Equipment Rental Madagascar 49.8 49.8 Dormant

* Konsortium AHHK Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Ultra Cendana
Sdn. Bhd.)

Malaysia 29 - Dormant

*	 Associates not audited by UHY 

The audited financial statements of Madagascar Malaysia Equipment Rental are not available as at the date of these financial 
statements.

9.	 Investments in Joint Ventures 

Group and Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares, at cost 250 250
Share of post-acquisition reserves - -

250 250
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (250) (250)

- -
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9.	 Investments in Joint Ventures (Cont’d)

The joint venture and shareholdings therein are as follows:

Name of company
Country of 

incorporation
Effective
interest Principal activities

2015 2014
% %

* Ho Hup-Simplex Joint Venture India 50 50 Inactive

* Jointly controlled equity not audited by UHY

10.	 Amount Due from/(to) Customers on Contracts

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Construction costs incurred todate 384,686 193,152 445,476 271,276
Add: Attributable profits 31,756 6,979 21,490 14,394

416,442 200,131 466,966 285,670
Less: Progress billings (421,567) (203,762) (492,470) (305,275) 

(5,125) (3,631) (25,504) (19,605)

Presented as:
Amount due from customers on contracts 6,034 6,032 6,034 5,796
Amount due to customers on contracts (11,159) (9,663) (31,538) (25,401)

(5,125) (3,631)   (25,504) (19,605)

Retention sum included in trade receivables - 14,691 - 14,691

Included in the construction cost incurred during the financial year are the following:

Group and Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Staff costs (Note 31)
- Salaries and wages 465 826
- EPF 64 96
- SOCSO 2 4
- Other staff related expenses 90 -

621 926

11.	 Inventories

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Construction materials 670 600
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12.	 Trade Receivables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade receivables 118,383 130,152 60,324 95,690
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (49,841) (50,102) (48,938) (49,558)

68,542 80,050 11,386 46,132

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 14 to 90 days (2014: 14 to 90 days) term. They are recognised 
at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

The Group’s and the Company’s credit exposures are concentrated mainly on 3 (2014: 3) and 2 (2014: 2) debtors respectively, 
which accounted for 17% (2014: 58%) and 100% (2014: 96%) respectively of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 
2015.

Movements in allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 50,102 50,205 49,558 49,880
Impairment made (Note 27) 401 235 - -
Amount written off (42) - - -
Reversal of impairment (Note 27) (620) (338) (620) (322)
At 31 December 49,841 50,102 48,938 49,558

Reversal of impairment were made during the financial year when related amounts were collected or written off amounting to 
RM0.62 million and RM0.04 million (2014: RM0.34 million and RMNil) for the Group and RM0.62 million and RMNil (2014: 
RM0.32 million and RMNil) for the Company respectively.

Analysis of the trade receivables ageing as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Neither past due nor impaired 28,261 56,939 11,300 46,132

Past due not impaired:
Less than 30 days 19,264 1,387 - -
31 to 60 days 3,319 - - -
61 to 90 days 5,087 - - -
More than 90 days 12,611 21,724 86 -

40,281 23,111 86 -
68,542 80,050 11,386 46,132

Impaired 49,841 50,102 48,938 49,558
118,383 130,152 60,324 95,690

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Group 
and the Company. 

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of the Group and the Company of RM40,281,000 and RM86,000 (2014: 
RM23,111,000 and RMNil) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers from whom 
there is no recent history of default.
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12.	 Trade Receivables (Cont’d)

Trade receivables that are impaired

The trade receivables of the Group and of the Company that are individually assessed to be impaired amounting to RM49,841,000 
and RM48,938,000 (2014: RM50,102,000 and RM49,558,000) respectively, related to customers that have defaulted on 
payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

13.	 Other Receivables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Other receivables 16,485 33,220 11,223 29,376
Deposits 13,909 5,199 4,605 4,488
Prepayments 6,377 2,248 3,626 1

36,771 40,667 19,454 33,865

Less: Accumulated impairment
          - Other receivables (5,455) (5,471) (5,049) (5,049)
          - Deposits (1,852) (1,852) (1,591) (1,591) 

(7,307) (7,323) (6,640) (6,640)
29,464 33,344 12,814 27,225

In previous financial year, included in the other receivables of the Group and of the Company were project advances of 
RM22.51 million and RM22.51 million respectively to a sub-contractor for a construction contract undertaken by the Company. 

Included in deposits of the Group is deposit of RM6.5 million paid for the acquisition of 70% equity interest in Intact Corporate 
Approach Sdn. Bhd. as disclosed in Note 35(ii).

Movements in allowance for impairment losses of other receivables are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 5,471 5,471 5,049 5,049
Amount written off (16) - - -
At 31 December 5,455 5,471 5,049 5,049

Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to debtors that are in 
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.

Reversal of impairment of the Group was made during the financial year when related amounts were written off amounting to 
RM0.02 million and RMNil.

14.	 Amount Due from/(to) Subsidiary Companies

a.	 Amount due from subsidiary companies 

Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Amount due from subsidiary companies 274,478 197,353
Less: Accumulated impairment losses (31,516) (36,355)

242,962 160,998

These represent trade and non-trade balances which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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14.	 Amount Due from/(to) Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)

a.	 Amount due from subsidiary companies (Cont’d)

Movements in impairment on amount due from subsidiary companies during the financial year are as follows:

Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 36,355 37,802
Impairment made (Note 27) - 14
Reversal of impairment (Note 27) (4,839)  (1,461)
At 31 December 31,516 36,355

Subsidiary companies that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to subsidiary 
companies that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.

Reversal of impairment was made during the financial year when related amounts were collected amounting to RM4.84 
million (2014: RM1.46 million).

b.	 Amount due to subsidiary companies 

These represent trade and non-trade balances which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

15.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Fixed deposits with licensed banks 2,912 951 762 10
Cash and bank balances 24,600 9,278 8,888 5,943

27,512 10,229 9,650 5,953
Less: Bank overdrafts 19 (48,837) (17,676) (9,840) -

(21,325) (7,447) (190) 5,953

Less: Cash and cash equivalents restricted from use
Cash held under Housing Development 

Account (a) 294 287 - -
Sinking fund accounts restricted from use (b) 334 412 - -
Fixed deposits with pledged for banker 

acceptance (c) 1,614 - - -
Fixed deposits pledged for bank guarantee - 281 - -
Redemption account (d) 9,787 - - -

12,029 980 - -
Cash and cash equivalents (33,354) (8,427) (190) 5,953

a.	 Cash held under Housing Development Account of the Group are held pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing Developers 
(Control and Licensing) Act, 1966 and are therefore restricted from use in other operations.

b.	 This represents cash at banks of the Group placed in sinking funds for the purpose of expenditure incurred in repairs and 
maintenance of certain properties, as required by the Building and Common Property (Maintenance and Management) 
Act, 2007.

c.	 Fixed deposits with licensed banks of the Group and of the Company are pledged to a licensed bank as security for credit 
facilities granted to the Group and to the Company as disclosed in Note 19 and hence, are not available for general use.

d.	 Each redemption sum received will be apportioned towards settlement of bridging loan as disclosed in Note 19(a) and 
sinking funds build up until full settlement of the loan.
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15.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Cont’d)

The weighted average interest rates of deposits of the Group and of the Company at the end of the reporting period are 3.10% 
and 3.10% (2014: 3.10% and 3.10%) per annum respectively.

The average maturities of deposits of the Group and of the Company are 30 days and 30 days (2014: 30 days and 30 days) 
respectively.

16.	 Share Capital

Group/Company
Number of shares Amount

2015 2014 2015 2014
Unit'000 Unit'000 RM'000 RM'000

Authorised

Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
At 1 January/ 31 December 990,000 990,000 495,000 495,000

Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares of RM0.01 
each ("ICPS")

At 1 January/ 31 December 200,000 200,000 2,000 2,000

Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares of RM0.01 
each ("RCPS")

At 1 January/ 31 December 300,000 300,000 3,000 3,000
Total 1,490,000 1,490,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
At 1 January 311,258 102,000 155,629 51,000
Conversion of ICPS 1,624 92,339 812 46,169
Conversion of RCPS 2,491 111,411 1,245 55,706
Exercise of warrants 80 5,508 40 2,754
Exercise of ESOS 200 - 100 -
Private placement 31,125 - 15,562 -
At 31 December 346,778 311,258 173,388 155,629

Issued and fully paid

Irredeemable Convertible Preference Shares of RM0.01 
each ("ICPS")

At 1 January 9,661 102,000 97 1,020
Conversion of ICPS (1,624) (92,339) (16) (923)
At 31 December 8,037 9,661 81 97

Issued and fully paid

Redeemable Convertible Preference Shares of RM0.01 
each ("RCPS")

At 1 January 22,150 133,561 222 1,336
Issued during the financial year - - - -
Conversion of RCPS (2,491) (111,411) (25) (1,114)
At 31 December 19,659 22,150 197 222
Total 374,474 343,069 173,666 155,948
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16.	 Share Capital (Cont’d)

During the financial year, the Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from 311,258,161 to 346,777,223 through the 
issuance of 35,519,062 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each as follows:

a.	 1,623,800 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each arising from conversion of ICPS;
b.	 2,490,762 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each arising from conversion of RCPS;
c.	 79,800 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from exercise of warrants at exercise price of RM0.60 each;
d.	 31,125,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from private placement at an issue price of RM1.12 per 

placement share; and
e.	 199,700 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash arising from the exercise of ESOS at an exercise price of RM0.74 each.

Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one 
vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

ICPS

The salient features of the ICPS are as follows:

i.	 The ICPS were issued at RM0.50 each (par value of RM0.01) and the maturity date of ICPS is the day immediately preceding the 
third anniversary from the date of issue of the ICPS unless the tenure of the ICPS, if permitted by law, is extended by the Company 
and the ICPS holders.

ii.	 The ICPS are convertible at any time from the date of issue of the ICPS up to the maturity date at the option of the ICPS holder 
into ordinary share of the Company on the basis of one ordinary share for every ICPS held without the payment of additional 
consideration by the ICPS holder thereof.

iii.	 The ICPS are not redeemable.

iv.	 Any remaining ICPS that are not converted by the maturity date shall be automatically converted into new ordinary shares of the 
Company.

v.	 Each ICPS carry a dividend of 2.5 sen per annum, payable semi-annually. The dividend rights are cumulative.

vi.	 The ICPS holders are not entitled to any voting right or participation in any rights, allotments and/or other distributions in the 
Company except on resolutions which varies or is deemed to vary the rights and privileges attaching to the ICPS, for the winding 
up of the Company; and other circumstances as may be provided under the law and applicable to ICPS and/or ICPS holders from 
time to time or until holders converts his ICPS into new ordinary shares.

vii.	 The ICPS shall rank after the holders of the RCPS but in priority to any other class of shares in the capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2015, the total numbers of ICPS in issue were 8,037,679 (2014: 9,661,479) shares.

RCPS

The salient features of the RCPS are as follows:

i.	 The RCPS were issued at RM0.50 each (par value of RM0.01) and the maturity date of RCPS is the day immediately preceding 
the third anniversary from the date of issue of the RCPS unless the tenure of the RCPS, if permitted by law, is extended by the 
Company and the RCPS holders.

ii.	 The RCPS are convertible at any time from the date of issue of the RCPS up to the maturity date at the option of the RCPS holder 
into ordinary share of the Company on the basis of one ordinary share for every RCPS held without the payment of additional 
consideration by the RCPS holder thereof.

iii.	 The RCPS are redeemable at the option of the Company at the issue price of RM0.50 at any time during the tenure of the RCPS 
of three years but excluding the maturity date by giving not less than 30 days’ notice to the RCPS holders. 

iv.	 Any remaining RCPS that are not converted or redeemed by the maturity date shall be automatically converted into new ordinary 
shares of the Company.

v.	 Each RCPS carry a dividend of 1.5 sen per annum, payable semi-annually. The dividend rights are cumulative.

vi.	 The RCPS holders are not entitled to any voting right or participation in any rights, allotments and/or other distributions in the 
Company except on resolutions which varies or is deemed to vary the rights and privileges attaching to the RCPS, for the winding 
up of the Company; and other circumstances as may be provided under the law and applicable to RCPS and/or RCPS holders 
from time to time or until holders converts his RCPS into new ordinary shares.

vii.	 The RCPS shall rank in priority to the holders of ICPS and any other class of shares in the capital of the Company.

As at 31 December 2015, the total numbers of RCPS in issue were 19,659,194 (2014: 22,149,956) shares.
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17.	 Reserves

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-distributable

Share premium (a) 33,517 16,138 33,517 16,138
Foreign currency translation reserve (b) (922) (327) - -
Warrant reserve (c) 7,720 7,734 7,720 7,734
ESOS reserve (d) 231 - 231 -
Other reserve (e) (37,407) (37,421) (7,720) (7,734)

3,139 (13,876) 33,748 16,138
Retained earnings/ (Accumulated losses) 51,471 (19,463) 7,607 (14,351)

54,610 (33,339) 41,355 1,787

a.	 Share premium

Share premium comprises the premium paid on subscription of shares in the Company over and above the par value of 
the shares. 

b.	 Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

c.	 Warrant reserve

Group and Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 7,734 8,670
Exercise of warrants (14) (936)
At 31 December 7,720 7,734

This represents the fair values of the warrants issued and is non-distributable. When the warrants are exercised or expire, 
the warrant reserve will be transferred to another reserve account within equity.

In previous financial year, the Company executed a Deed Poll constituting the Warrants on the basis of one (1) warrant 
for every two (2) ICPS of RM0.50 each issued on 23 December 2013. The issue price and exercise price of the Warrants 
have been fixed at RM0.50 and RM0.60 each respectively.

The Warrants may be exercised at any time during the tenure of five (5) years including and commencing from the issue 
date of Warrants. The rights attached to the Warrants which are not exercised during the exercise period will thereafter 
lapse.

The new ordinary shares allotted and issued upon exercise of the Warrants shall rank pari passu in all respects with the 
then existing ordinary shares of the Company, except that such new shares shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, 
allotments, and/or other distributions on or prior to the date of allotment of the new ordinary shares arising from exercise 
of the Warrants.

As at 31 December 2015, the total numbers of Warrants that remain unexercised were 45,412,554 (2014: 45,492,354).
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17.	 Reserves (Cont’d)

d.	 Employee share option (“ESOS”) reserve

Group and Company
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January - -
Grant of ESOS 273 -
Exercise of ESOS (42) -
At 31 December 231 -

Employee share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options granted to employees. The reserve is made 
up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded over the vesting period commencing from the 
grant date of equity-settled share options, and is reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options. Employee share 
option is disclosed in Note 30.

e.	 Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the Group’s share of net assets before and after the acquisition of equity 
interest from its non-controlling interests, and any consideration paid and fair value allocated to the detachable warrants 
issued in conjunction with rights issue as disclosed in Note 17(c).

18.	 Finance Lease Liabilities

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Minimum lease payments 1,640 1,229
Within one year 1,402 1,229
Later than one year and not later than two years 1,416 1,710
Later than two years and not later than five years 4,458 4,168

(468) (503)
Less: Future finance charges 3,990 3,665
Present value of minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease payments
Within one year 1,401 993
Later than one year and not later than two years 1,266 1,074
Later than two years and not later than five years 1,323 1,598

3,990 3,665

Analysed as:
Repayable within twelve months 1,401 993
Repayable after twelve months 2,589 2,672

3,990 3,665

The interest rates of finance lease liabilities ranging from 3.15% to 4.00% (2014: 3.15% to 4.00%) per annum.
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19.	 Bank Borrowings

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Secured
Floating rate
Bank overdrafts (a) 48,837 17,676 9,840 -
Bridging loan (a) 22,680 18,247 - -
Banker acceptance (b) 2,398 - - -
Term loans (c) 57,060 - 37,162 -

130,975 35,923 47,002 -

Current
Bank overdrafts 48,837 17,676 9,840 -
Banker acceptance 2,398 - - -
Term loans 20,739 - 17,500 -

71,974 17,676 27,340 -
Non-current
Bridging loan 22,680 18,247 - -
Term loans 36,321 - 19,662 -

59,001 18,247 19,662 -
130,975 35,923 47,002 -

The bank overdrafts, bridging loan, banker acceptance and term loans obtained from licensed banks are secured by the 
following:

a.	 Bank overdraft and bridging loan

i.	 A first party all monies first legal charge is to be created over the following properties of a subsidiary company, BJD:

1.	 24,331 square meters of freehold commercial land held under PT 15146, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala 
Lumpur; and

2.	 9,693 square meters of freehold commercial land held under PT 15292, Mukim Petaling, Daerah Kuala 
Lumpur. An agreement to charge this property is to be executed after sub-division of title.

ii.	 An all monies debenture and power of attorney are to be created over all present and future assets and properties 
of BJD with exception of the following:

1.	 Existing encumbrances over the 50 acres land held under the Joint Development Agreement between the 
Company and Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd.; and

2.	 the 18% of the gross development value entitlement from the Joint Development Agreement between the 
Company and Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd. dated 16 March 2010. 

iii.	 A charge of sinking fund account to be opened with the bank by BJD;

iv.	 An assignment by BJD on all present and future advances by/to the Company;

v.	 Corporate guarantee executed by the Company; and

vi.	 Third party charge on 100% ordinary shares of BJD.

b.	 Banker acceptance

i.	 Certain fixed deposits of the Group as disclosed in Note 15(c); and

ii.	 Corporate guarantee by the Company.
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19.	 Bank Borrowings (Cont’d)

c.	 Term loans

i.	 All monies in the facilities agreement;

ii.	 Assignment of the Company’s and its subsidiary companies’ rights, interest and benefit under the Joint Development 
Agreement and supplemental agreement between BJD and Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd.;

iii.	 First/Third party charge over the shares of GWSB;

iv.	 First/Third party charge on the rights, interest and benefit under the Share Sale Agreement of GWSB;

v. 	 Pre-executed Assignment (in- escrow) with board resolution over Parcel A (“Aurora Project”) cashflow to be 
perfected upon full settlement of United Overseas Bank (“UOB”); and 

vi.	 Pre-executed charge documents (in- escrow) with the board resolution over Aurora Project land held under PT15146 
Mukim Petaling, Dearah Kuala Lumpur to be perfected upon full settlement of UOB Facilities.

The weighted average interest rates per annum are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

% % % %

Bank overdrafts 8.35 - 8.85 8.85 8.35 -
Bridging loan 8.85 8.85 - -
Banker acceptance 5.76 - - -
Term loans 6.85 - - -

20.	 Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

a.	 Deferred tax assets

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January - 7,500
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 28) - (7,500)
At 31 December - -

The components and movements of the deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows:

Accelerated 
capital

allowances Total
RM'000 RM'000

Group
Deferred tax liabilities

At 1 January 2014 2,027 2,027
Recognised in profit or loss (2,027) (2,027) 
At 31 December 2014 - -
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20.	 Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (Cont’d)

a.	 Deferred tax assets (Cont’d)

The components and movements of the deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows:

Unutilised
capital

allowances
Unutilised
tax losses Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Deferred tax assets

At 1 January 2014 1,929 7,598 9,527
Recognised in profit or loss (1,929) (7,598) (9,527) 
At 31 December 2014 - - -

b.	 Deferred tax liabilities

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January - - - - 
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 28) 89 - - -
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary company 

[Note 7(b)] 18,107 - - -
At 31 December 18,196 - - -

The net deferred tax liabilities and assets shown on the statements of financial position after appropriate offsetting are 
as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Deferred tax liability 21,011 2,521 2,024 2,013
Deferred tax assets (2,815)   (2,521) (2,024) (2,013)

18,196 - - -

The components of the deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows:
Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Deferred tax liability
Accelerated capital allowances 21,011 2,521 2,024 2,013

Deferred tax assets
Unutilised capital allowances (481) (508) - -
Unutilised tax losses (2,334) (2,013) (2,024) (2,013)

(2,815) (2,521) (2,024) (2,013)

The deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the items:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised capital allowances - 1,110 - -
Unutilised tax losses 127,202 152,113 79,985 98,957

127,202 153,223 79,985 98,957

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they may not have sufficient taxable profits to 
be used to offset or they have arisen in subsidiary companies that have a recent history of losses. 
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21.	 Provision for Liquidated Ascertained Damages

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January                                                                                                     1,770 21,956
Current year provision (Note 27)                                                                          206 1,503
Over provision in prior years (Note 27) - (1,920)
Payment made (1,914) (19,769)
At 31 December 62 1,770

Provision for liquidated ascertained damages is in respect of property development projects undertaken by the Company. The 
provision is recognised for expected liquidated damages claims based on the terms of the applicable sale and purchase 
agreements.

22.	 Trade Payables

The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and to the Company range from 30 to 120 days (2014: 30 to 120 days). 

23.	 Other Payables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Other payables 36,914 82,680 1,153 27,260
Accruals 11,039 9,168 8,200 1,633
Deposits received 3,651 466 58 51

51,604 92,314 9,411 28,944

a.	 Included in other payables of the Group and of the Company is an amount of RM22.4 million and RM0.2 million (2014: 
RM58.26 million and RM3.11 million) respectively owing to Pioneer Haven Sdn. Bhd. (“PHSB”) being advance entitlement 
pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement entered between the Company, BJD and PHSB.

b.	 Included in the other payables is an amount of RM1.87 million (2014: RM24.00 million), representing prepayment of 
progress billing from a customer for a construction contract undertaken by the Company.

c.	 Included in deposit received is booking fees of RM2.8 million (2014: RM Nil).

24.	 Revenue

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Construction contracts 53,510 113,942 119,777 193,895
Joint development income 47,657 24,687 8,468 1,954
Sale of development properties 124,884 163,965 - -
Sale of goods 72,039 38,430 - -
Others 456 - - -

298,546 341,024 128,245 195,849

Included in joint development income of the Group is an amount of RM34.95 million (2014: RM21.76 million), represents 18% 
of the sale of development properties in accordance with supplemental agreement dated 3 July 2012 between BJD and PHSB.
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25.	 Cost of Sales

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Construction contract costs 49,808 109,565 112,680 183,525
Joint development costs 6,859 3,789 - -
Property development costs 63,628 88,753 - -
Cost of goods sold 68,701 38,390 - -
Others - 653 - -

188,996 241,150 112,680 183,525

26.	 Finance Costs

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Interest expenses on:

Bank overdrafts 2,845 145 116 -
Bridging loan 2,434 138 - -
Banker acceptance 55 - - -
Finance lease 325 67 - -
ICPS 226 140 226 140
RCPS 324 199 324 199
Term loans 779 294 479 294
Over provision in prior years - (275) - (275)

6,988 708 1,145 358
Less: Interest expense included in property development
           costs [Note 6(b)] (4,415) (138) - -

2,573 570 1,145 358

27.	 Profit before Tax

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Auditors' remuneration (Note a) 212 207 87 133
Amortisation of intangible asset 16 - - -
Bad debts written off
- trade receivables 42 - - -
- other receivables 16 - - -
Impairment on:
- Trade receivables (Note 12) 401 235 - -
- Amount due from a subsidiary company [Note 14(a)] - - - 14
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,859 1,194 176 241
Non-executive Directors' remuneration (Note  b) 1,901 634 1,829 610
Incorporation expenses 8 - - -
Loss on foreign exchange
- realised - 132 - 132
Provision for liquidated ascertained damages  (Note  21)
- current year 206 1,503 - -
- over provision in prior years - (1,920) - -
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27.	 Profit before Tax (Cont'd)

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Rental of office and store 664 416 110 107
Interest income
- deposits  with licensed banks (322) (398) (271) (281)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (519) - (14) -
Rental income (174) (138) - -
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables (Note 12) (662) (338) (620) (322)
Reversal of impairment on other receivables (Note 13) (16) - - -
Reversal of impairment on amount due from a subsidiary 

company [Note 14(a)] - - (4,839) (1,461)
Writeback of provision for value added tax (812) - (812) -

a.	 Auditors’ remuneration

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Auditors of the Company
- Statutory audit

- Current year 154 135 82 78
- Non-statutory audit

- Current year 30 45 5 45
184 180 87 123

Other auditors
- Statutory audit

- Current year 26 27 - 10
- Under provision in prior years 2 - - -

28 27 - 10
212 207 87 133

b.	 Directors’ remuneration

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-executive Directors
Company
- Fees 480 381 480 381
- Gratuity 1,300 - 1,300 -
- Meeting and other allowances 49 229 49 229

1,829 610 1,829 610

Subsidiary company
- Allowance 72 24 - -

1,901 634 1,829 610
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28.	 Taxation

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Tax expenses recognised in profit or loss
Current income tax: 

Current tax provision
- in Malaysia 17,004 5,700 - - 

(Over)/Under provision in prior years (606) (295) 14 -
16,398 5,405 14 -

Deferred tax (Note 20): 
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 89 7,500 - -

89 7,500 - -
16,487 12,905 14 -

Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2014: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits for the 
financial year. Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax 86,761 80,083 21,972 13,465

At Malaysian statutory rate of 25% (2014: 25%) 21,690 20,021 5,493 3,366
Income not subject to tax (427) (436) (1,805) (432) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,775 4,051 1,055 1,782
Reversal of deferred tax assets not recognised (6,505) (12,994) (4,743) (4,716)
Payment of liquidated ascertained damages (440) (4,942) - - 
Reversal of deferred tax assets previously recognised - 7,500 - - 
(Over)/Under provision of taxation in prior years (606) (295) 14 -
Tax expense for the financial year 16,487 12,905 14 -

Income tax savings arising from tax losses:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Income tax savings arising from utilisation of prior year 
losses previously not recognised 5,906 11,271 4,732 2,747

The Group and the Company have the following estimated unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses available for 
carry forward to set-off against future taxable profits. The said amounts are subject to approval by the tax authorities.
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28.	 Taxation (Cont'd)

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unutilised capital allowances 1,924 3,142 - -
Unutilised tax losses 136,538 160,165 88,081 107,009

138,462 163,307 88,081 107,009

29.	 Earnings Per Share

i.	 Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share has been calculated based on the consolidated profit for the financial year attributable to 
owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year as follows:

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Net profit for the financial year, attributable to owners of the parent 70,934 65,750

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in 1 January (in thousand of 
shares) 311,258 102,000

Effect of ordinary shares issued during the financial year 31,890 159,818
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in 31 December (in thousand of 

shares) 343,148 261,818

Basic earnings per share (in sen) 20.7 25.1

ii.	 Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share has been calculated based on the adjusted consolidated profit for the financial year 
attributable to the owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial 
year have been adjusted for the dilutive effects of all potential ordinary shares as follows:

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Net profit for the financial year, attributable to owners of the parent 70,934 65,750
Add: Interest expense on ICPS and RCPS (net of tax) 550 340
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent of the Company 71,484 66,090

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings 
per share (in thousand of shares) 343,148 261,818

Adjustment for incremental shares from assumed conversions
- ICPS (in thousand of shares) 8,580 39,483
- RCPS (in thousand of shares) 20,861 39,476
- Warrants (in thousand of shares) 23,089 27,874
- ESOS (in thousand of shares) 2,345 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December (diluted) (in thousand of 
shares) 398,023 368,651

Diluted earnings per share (in sen) 18.0 17.9
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30.	 Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 June 2015, the Company’s shareholders approved the establishment of an 
ESOS for eligible Directors and employees of the Group.

The ESOS is administered by the ESOS committee which is appointed by the Board of Directors, in accordance with the By-
Laws of the ESOS. The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years commencing from 21 August 2015, unless extended 
further.

The salient features of the ESOS scheme are, inter alia, as follows:

i.	 Eligible Directors and employees are those who are confirmed employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (excluding 
foreign and dormant subsidiaries) and has attained the age of eighteen (18) years before the date of offer;

ii.	 The ESOS committee may determine any other eligibility criteria and/or waive any of conditions of the eligibility for the 
purposes of selecting an eligible person at any time and from time to time, in the ESOS committee’s discretion and the 
decision of the ESOS committee shall be final and binding;

iii.	 The maximum number of new shares which may be made available under the ESOS shall be up to ten percent (10%) of 
the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) at the point in time when an offer 
is made;

iv.	 The options granted may be exercised at any time within the option period from the date of offer; and

v.	 The options granted are not entitled to dividends or voting rights. Upon exercise of the options, the ordinary shares 
issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

Movement in the number of share options and the exercise price are as follows:

Group and Company
Number of share option

2015 2014
Units Units

At 1 January - -
Granted during the financial year 6,001 -
Exercised during the financial year (200) -
At 31 December 5,801 -

Exercise price RM0.74 -

Options exercisable at 31 December 5,801 -

During the financial year, 199,700 shares options were exercised. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for 
the financial year was RM0.74.

The fair value of share options granted to eligible employees and directors, was determined using Black-Scholes-Merton 
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair value of 
share options measured at the grant date and the input assumed by the Company in arising the fair value are as follows: 

Group and Company
2015 2014

Fair value of share options at grant date
On 1 September 2015 (RM) 0.21 -
Exercise price (RM) 0.74 -

Share price of the Company at grant date (RM) 0.81 -
Volatility (%) 36.95 -
Option life (years) 5 -
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.23 -
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30.	 Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) (Cont'd)

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data, has been adjusted according to management’s best estimate 
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting the market conditions attached 
to the option), and behavioural considerations. The expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the 
past 3 years, adjusted for unusual or extraordinary volatility arising from certain economic or business occurrences which is 
not reflective of its long term average level. While the expected volatility is assumed to be indicative of future trends, it may not 
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of the option grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 

31.	 Staff Costs

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Salaries, wages and other emoluments 7,868 3,795 4,511 3,049
Defined contributions plan 1,064 577 675 385
Social security contributions 52 21 23 17
Share options granted under ESOS 273 - 273 -
Other benefits 2,213 1,297 1,114 1,188
Benefits-in-kind 54 120 54 120

11,524 5,810 6,650 4,759

Less: Staff costs capitalised
          - property development costs [Note 6(b)] (876) (505) - -
          - construction contracts costs (Note 10) (621) (926) (621) (926)

10,027 4,379 6,029 3,833

Included in staff costs is aggregate amount of remuneration received and receivable by the Executive Directors of the Company 
and of the subsidiary companies during the financial year as below: 

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Executive Director
- Salaries and other emoluments 1,194 943 1,194 943
- Defined contributions plan 141 107 141 107
- Benefits-in-kind 54 120 54 120

1,389 1,170 1,389 1,170

32.	 Capital Commitment

Group
2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000

Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:
- Purchase of property, plant and equipment 2,093 3,348
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33.	 Related Party Disclosures

a.	 Identifying related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the 
Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the party or exercise significant influence over the 
party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are 
subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

Related parties also include key management personnel defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management personnel 
comprise the Directors and management personnel of the Group, having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group entities directly or indirectly.

b.	 Significant related party transactions

Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under negotiated terms. In addition 
to the related party balances disclosed elsewhere, the significant related party transactions of the Group and of the 
Company are as follow:

2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000

Group
Transaction with Directors of the Company
Progress billing received/receivable                                                         1,854 2,725

Transaction with company in which a Director of the Company has interest
Progress billing received/receivable                                                         2,235 3,892

Transaction with companies in which a substantial shareholder has interest
Progress billing received/receivable 4,325 928

Transaction with a major shareholder
Progress billing received/receivable - 1,275

Company
Transaction with subsidiary companies
Management fee income received/receivable 8,352 7,800
Progress billings for construction work
- BJD 77,584 152,006

c.	 Compensation of key management personnel

There are no other transactions with the key management personnel of the Group and of the Company other than 
remuneration as disclosed in Notes 27 and 31.

34.	 Segmental Information

The main business segments of the Group comprise the following:

Construction Foundation and civil engineering, building contracting works and engineering, procurement, 
construction and commissioning of pipeline system

Property development Development of residential and commercial properties

Building materials Manufacturing and distribution of ready-mixed concrete and quarry operation

Others Trading services
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34.	 Segmental Information (Cont'd)

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is measured 
consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Transactions between segments are carried out on agreed terms between both parties. The effects of such inter-segment 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation. The measurement basis and classification are consistent with those adopted in 
the previous financial year.

Information about segment assets and liabilities are neither included in the internal management reports nor provided regularly 
to the management. Hence, no disclosures are made on segment assets and liabilities.

Construction
Property 

development
Building

materials Others
Total 

segments

Adjustments 
and

eliminations

Per 
consolidated 

financial
statements

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Revenue
External customers 61,979 164,073 72,039 455 298,546 - 298,546
Inter-segment 66,266 - - 5,174 71,440 (71,440) (a) -
Total revenue 128,245 164,073 72,039 5,629 369,986 (71,440) 298,546

Results
Interest income 271 30 54 - 355 (33) 322
Finance costs (1,145) (748) (378) (334) (2,605) 32 (2,573)
Depreciation and amortisation (176) (61) (1,502) (136) (1,875) - (1,859)
Other non cash income/

(expenses) 1,951 (206) (401) - 1,343 - 1,344 (b)
Segment profit before taxation 11,659 72,158 1,514 1,430 86,761 - 86,761

Assets
Additions to property, plant and 

equipment 303 1,256 1,001 350 2,910 - 2,910

2014
Revenue
External customers 115,897 186,697 38,430 - 341,024 - 341,024
Inter-segment 79,952 - - 2,360 82,312 (82,312) (a) -
Total revenue 195,849 186,697 38,430 2,360 423,336 (82,312) 341,024

Results
Interest income 281 79 38 - 398 - 398
Finance costs (358) (149) (63) - (570) - (570)
Depreciation and amortisation (241) (42) (900) (11) (1,194) - (1,194)
Other non cash income/

(expenses) 322 417 (219) - 520 - 520 (b)
Segment profit before taxation 6,024 74,942 (1,357) 474 80,083 - 80,083

Assets
Additions to property, plant and 

equipment 55 831 5,556 435 6,877 - 6,877
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34.	 Segmental Information (Cont’d)

a.	 Adjustments and eliminations

Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

b.	 Other non-cash income/(expense) consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to financial 
statements:

2015 2014
RM'000 RM'000

Bad debts written off (58) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 519 -
Impairment on trade receivables (401) (235)
Writeback of provision for value added tax 812 -
(Provision)/Reversal for liquidated ascertained damages (net) (206) 417
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables 662 338
Reversal of impairment on other receivables 16 -

1,344 520

c.	 Geographical information

Revenue information based on the geographical location of customers is as follows:

Revenue Non-current assets
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Malaysia 281,016 268,094 12,351 11,227
Iraq 17,530 72,930 - -
Myanmar - - 650 481

298,546 341,024 13,001 11,708

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment and software.

35.	 Significant Events  

During the financial year, the following significant events took place for the Company and its subsidiary companies:

i.	 Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or “the Company”)

a.	 On 23 January 2015, Ho Hup had completed the Private Placement following the listing of and quotation for 
31,125,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each in Ho Hup (“Placement Shares’) on the Main Market of Bursa 
Securities. The Company had raised gross proceeds of RM34.86 million based on the issue price of RM1.12 per 
placement share.

b.	 On 13 March 2015, the Company has entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement with Kiara Komposit Sdn. Bhd. 
(“Kiara Komposit”) and Daiman Kapital Sdn. Bhd. (“Daiman Kapital”) to govern certain commitments vis-à-vis each 
other as shareholders of H2Advance Builders Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Nippon Awanatech Sdn. Bhd.)(“H2AB”). 
Following the Shareholders’ Agreement, H2AB became 60% owned subsidiary company of Ho Hup and the 
remaining 20% each are held by Kiara Komposit and Daiman Kapital.

c.	 On 24 April 2015, the Company announced to establish and implement a proposed Employees’ Share Option 
Scheme ("ESOS Scheme”) of up to ten percent (10%) of the Company’s issued and paid-up share capital (excluding 
treasury shares, if any) at any one time during the ESOS Scheme, for the employees and Directors (excluding 
alternate directors, if any) of Ho Hup and its subsidiary companies (excluding foreign and dormant subsidiary 
companies) who fulfill the eligible criteria. The application of the Company for the ESOS Scheme has been submitted 
to Bursa Securities Malaysia Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on 12 May 2015. 

On 25 May 2015, Bursa Securities had approved the listing of such number of new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each 
in the Company, representing ten percent (10%) of the Company’s issued and paid-up share capital of Ho Hup.
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35.	 Significant Events (Cont’d)

During the financial year, the following significant events took place for the Company and its subsidiary companies: (Cont’d)

i.	 Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or “the Company”) (Cont'd)

c.	 On 18 June 2015, the shareholders of the Company have approved the Proposed ESOS during the Company’s 
Extraordinary General Meeting.

On 21 August 2015, the Company announced its effective date for the implementation of ESOS Scheme, which is 
the date of full compliance of the ESOS in accordance with paragraph 6.43 of the Listing Requirements.

On 1 September 2015, the Company has made the first offer of 6,000,900 new Ho Hup Shares pursuant to the 
ESOS Scheme to the eligible employees and Directors at the exercise price of RM0.74 each.

ii.	 Ho Hup Ventures (Johor) Sdn. Bhd. (“HHVJ”)

On 20 August 2015, HHVJ, the 75% owned subsidiary company of the Company entered into a Share Sale Agreement 
(“SSA”) with I4G Intellinganz Sdn. Bhd. for the acquisition of 70% equity interest in Intact Corporate Approach Sdn. Bhd. 
(“ICA”) for a cash consideration of RM20 million (“the Proposed Acquisition”). The Proposed Acquisition inherently also 
entailed the acquisition by ICA of land from YPJ Plantations Sdn. Bhd. (“YPJ”) for a total consideration of RM107,313,000. 
The Proposed Acquisition was approved by the shareholders of Ho Hup on 22 January 2016.

The SSA has been completed as at the date of this report.

36.	 Subsequent Events 

Subsequent to the financial year, the following subsequent events took place for the Company and its subsidiary companies: 

i.	 Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (“Ho Hup” or “the Company”)

a.	 On 26 January 2016, Ho Hup announced that the Company proposed to undertake the following:

1.	 proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 85,137,570 Rights Shares on the basis of one (1) Rights Share 
for every five (5) existing Ho Hup Shares, together with up to 85,137,570 Warrants B, on the basis of one (1) 
Warrant B for every one (1) Rights Share subscribed on a entitlement date to be determined later (“Entitlement 
Date”);

2.	 proposed renounceable rights issue of up to 85,137,570 redeemable preference shares (“RPS”)  on the basis 
of one (1) RPS for every five (5) existing Ho Hup Shares, together with up to 85,137,570 Warrants C, on the 
basis of one (1) Warrant C for every one (1) RPS subscribed on the Entitlement Date; and 

3.	 proposed amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Ho Hup to facilitate the Proposed 
Rights Issue of RPS with free Warrants C.

The above proposals have been approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 14 April 2016.

b.	 On 9 March 2016, the Company has incorporated a company in Malaysia, known as New Interconnected 
Expressway Sdn. Bhd. (“NICE”), with the equity interest of 70% in the issued and paid-up capital of the ordinary 
shares of NICE, at a total consideration of RM70. 

c.	 On 9 March 2016, the Company entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (“JVA”) with KNM Process Systems Sdn. 
Bhd. (“KNMPS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of KNM Group Berhad, inter alia to jointly collaborate in undertaking 
any contracts and such other project works in Malaysia and elsewhere as the parties may mutually agree, under a 
joint venture company called “KHH Infrastructures Sdn Bhd”.

The JVA has been completed as at the date of this report.
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37.	 Contingent Liabilities

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Corporate guarantees given to licensed banks for banking 
facilities granted to subsidiary companies

- Limit of guarantee - - 81,220 70,000
- Amount utilised - - 66,686 35,923

Corporate guarantees given to a supplier of goods to 
subsidiary companies 

- Limit of guarantee - - 27,033 21,533
- Amount utilised - - 17,188 9,406

Guarantees issued by financial institutions in connection 
with performance bonds, security and tender deposits in 
favour of third parties for construction projects 18,417 200 18,217 -

38.	 Material Litigations

The Group and the Company have not engaged in any litigation which will have a material effect on the business or financial 
position of the Group and of the Company except for the following:

i.	 Arbitration between Ho Hup Construction Company (India) Pte Ltd (“HHCCI”) and Andhra Pradesh Housing Board 
(“APHB”)

On 9 March 2005, HHCCI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ho Hup, entered into a joint development agreement with the 
APHB to develop a piece of land situated at Kancha Imarat, Maheshwaran Mandal, Ranga Reddy District, Andhra 
Pradesh (“Joint Development Agreement”) into an integrated township, wherein HHCCI shall pay APHB development 
fees of Indian Rupee (“Rs”) 101,175,000 over 5 years.

The Joint Development Agreement was subsequently terminated by APHB. HHCCI disputed the termination on the 
grounds that APHB had yet to comply with its obligations in respect of the conditions precedent under the Joint 
Development Agreement.

On 2 May 2005, HHCCI commenced an arbitration claim for damages amounting to Rs2,391,512,230, being the unlawful 
termination of the Joint Development Agreement. On 19 May 2008, an award was published in HHCCI’s favour (“Award”). 
The Award was in relation to the following:-

i.	 The upfront fee in the amount of Rs16,796,250  together with interest at the rate of 12% per annum to be refunded 
to HHCCI, interest of which is to be calculated from 1 February 2006 to the date of the refund being made; and

ii.	 Compensation for expenses incurred in the amount of Rs600,000 together with interest at the rate of 9% per 
annum, interest of which is to be calculated from 6 January 2006.

HHCCI had appointed Messrs Y. Ramarao to represent it in respect of the enforcement of the Award and to file its defence in 
relation to the appeal filed by APHB to set aside the Award. The said defence has been filed on 18 November 2013 on the 
grounds that, inter-alia, the Award does not cause APHB to suffer any infirmities and hence should not be appealed against. 
APHB had also failed to present a substantial case to set-aside the Award as none of the grounds stated under Section 34 of 
the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 1996 were raised by APHB in its appeal. In such circumstances, the appeal is devoid of 
merits and is liable to be dismissed with costs. The hearing date on 26 February 2016 has now been adjourned to a date to be 
fixed by the Court later.
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38.	 Material Litigations (Cont'd)

ii.	 Dato’ Low Tuck Choy (“DLTC”) against against Datuk Lye Ek Seang and 9 nine (9) others
Court of Appeal Civil Appeal No.: W-02(W)-868-06/2015

This is a derivative action brought by DLTC (“Plaintiff”) on behalf of Ho Hup pertaining to the decision of the Board to 
discontinue/withdraw an arbitration proceeding against the Government of Madagascar. The Plaintiff claimed, on behalf 
of Ho Hup, for general damages and an injunction against the Defendants. Pursuant to the trial held on 27 March 2015, 
the High Court had dismissed the Plaintiff’s claim. The Plaintiff subsequently appealed the matter to the Court of Appeal 
and the same is now fixed for hearing on 10 May 2016.

iii.	 Ho Hup Construction Company Bhd vs Woo Thin Choy
Federal Court of Malaysia Civil Application No. 08(f)-457-09 / 2014(W)
[filed as Kuala Lumpur High Court Suit No. 22NCVC-873-09 / 2011]

On 9 September 2011, the Company brought an action against the Defendant, the Company’s former Project Director. 
The Company claimed that the Defendant caused the Company to suffer loss and damages of USD2.5 million and further 
alleged that the Defendant breached his fiduciary, contractual and/or common law duties owed to the Company.

The Company sought relief from the High Court for, inter-alia an order for payment for the sum of USD2.5 million by the 
Defendant. The Company also sought relief for an account of all sums received by the Defendant and all such assets or 
any part thereof as well as general damages arising from the Defendant’s breach of duty owed to the Company. 

On 16 January 2014, the High Court decided that the Company had not proven its claim and dismissed the same. The 
Company had further appealed to the Court of Appeal against the said decision (“Appeal”) and the same was fixed for 
hearing on 20 August 2014. The Court of Appeal allowed the Appeal and set aside the High Court judgment and inter-alia 
ordered the Defendant to pay the Company USD2.5 million together with costs of RM50,000.

The Defendant, being dissatisfied with the judgment granted by the Court of Appeal, subsequently filed an application 
for Notice of Motion for leave to appeal to the Federal Court (“Leave Motion”) and the same has been fixed for hearing 
on 7 April 2016. The Federal Court has dismissed the Leave Motion with costs of RM20,000. Hence, the Defendant is to 
pay the Company USD2.5 million together with the total costs of RM70,000.

iv.	 Zen Courts Sdn Bhd (“Zen Courts”) against Bukit Jalil Development Sdn Bhd (“BJDSB”), Ho Hup and Ho Hup 
Equipment Rental Sdn Bhd (“HHERSB”)
[Federal Court Civil Appeal No.02(f)-38-05 / 2015(W)]
[Federal Court Civil Appeal No.02(f)-39-05 / 2015(W)]

Zen Courts (the “Plaintiff”) had initiated a petition vide Kuala Lumpur High Court Petition No. 26NCC-42-2011 against the 
respondents, namely BJDSB, Ho Hup and HHERSB alleging Ho Hup and HHERSB had oppressed its rights as a minority 
shareholder of BJDSB. The High Court in finding that there was an oppression, had ordered Ho Hup to buy out the 
Plaintiff’s shares in BJDSB. Such shares were to be valued by Ferrier Hodgson MH Sdn. Bhd. (“FHMH”) who was, by 
consensus, appointed as the independent valuer on 19 June 2012. The valuation report was issued by FHMH on 31 
December 2012 after having considered all relevant factors and, FHMH valued the 30% shareholding stake in BJDSB 
held by Zen Courts to be RM35,970,000.

The Plaintiff further appealed to the Court of Appeal, inter alia, challenging the value of their shares in BJDSB. However, 
on 19 February 2014, the Court of Appeal upheld the High Court’s decision and dismissed the Plaintiff’s appeal. The 
Plaintiff subsequently applied for leave applications to the Federal Court in relation to the dismissal of its appeals at the 
Court of Appeal stage. The leave was granted by the Federal Court and the Federal Court has fixed these appeals for 
hearing on 26 April 2016.

39.	 Financial Instruments

a.	 Classification of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The 
principal accounting policies in Note 3 describe how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income 
and expense, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised.
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39.	 Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

a.	 Classification of financial instruments (Cont'd)

The following table analyses the financial assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position by the class of 
financial instruments to which they are assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis:

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Total
carrying 
amount

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
2015
Financial Assets
Trade receivables 68,542 - 68,542
Other receivables 23,087 - 23,087
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 2,912 - 2,912
Cash and bank balances 24,600 - 24,600

119,141 - 119,141

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables - 47,838 47,838
Other payables - 51,604 51,604
Finance lease liabilities - 3,990 3,990
Bank borrowings - 130,975 130,975

- 234,407 234,407

2014
Financial Assets
Trade receivables 80,050 - 80,050
Other receivables 31,096 - 31,096
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 951 - 951
Cash and bank balances 9,278 - 9,278

121,375 - 121,375

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables - 90,464 90,464
Other payables - 92,314 92,314
Finance lease liabilities - 3,665 3,665
Bank borrowings - 35,923 35,923

- 222,366 222,366

Company
2015
Financial Assets
Trade receivables 11,386 - 11,386
Other receivables 9,188 - 9,188
Amount due from subsidiary companies 242,962 - 242,962
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 762 - 762
Cash and bank balances 8,888 - 8,888

273,186 - 273,186

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables - 28,837 28,837
Other payables - 9,411 9,411
Amount due to subsidiary companies - 4,102 4,102
Bank borrowings - 47,002 47,002

- 89,352 89,352
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39.	 Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

a.	 Classification of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Total
carrying 
amount

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Company
2014
Financial Assets
Trade receivables 46,132 - 46,132
Other receivables 27,224 - 27,224
Amount due from subsidiary companies 160,998 - 160,998
Fixed deposits with licensed banks 10 - 10
Cash and bank balances 5,943 - 5,943

240,307 - 240,307

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables - 81,980 81,980
Other payables - 28,944 28,944
Amount due to subsidiary companies - 4,924 4,924

- 115,848 115,848

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies
	

The Group’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for the 
development of the Group’s operations whilst managing its credit, liquidity, foreign currency and interest rate risks. The 
Group operates within clearly defined guidelines that are approved by the Board and the Group’s policy is not to engage 
in speculative transactions.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group and the Company’s exposure to the abovementioned financial 
risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

i.	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from its receivables from 
customers and deposits with banks and financial institutions. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises 
principally from loans and advances to subsidiary companies and financial guarantees given to banks for credit 
facilities granted to subsidiary companies.

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. Management has a credit policy 
in place to control credit risk by dealing with creditworthy counterparties and deposit with banks and financial 
institutions with good credit rating. The exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis and action will be 
taken for long outstanding debts.

The Company provides unsecured advances to subsidiary companies. It also provides unsecured financial 
guarantees to banks for banking facilities granted to subsidiary companies. The Company monitors on an ongoing 
basis the results of the subsidiary companies and repayments made by the subsidiary companies.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets recorded on the statements of financial position at the end of the 
financial year represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk except for financial 
guarantees provided to banks for banking facilities and supply of goods granted to certain subsidiary companies. 
The Company’s maximum exposure in this respect is RM66.69 million and RM17.10 million (2014: RM35.93 million 
and RM9.41 million), representing the outstanding banking facilities and for supply of goods to certain subsidiary 
companies as at the end of the reporting period. There was no indication that the subsidiary company would default 
on repayment as at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s has no significant concentration to credit risk except as disclosed in Note 12. The Company has no 
significant concentration of credits risks except as disclosed in Note 12 and advances to its subsidiary companies 
where risks of default have been assessed to below.
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39.	 Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont'd)

ii.	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 
obligations as they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 

The Group’s and the Company’s funding requirements and liquidity risk are managed with the objective of meeting 
business obligations on a timely basis. The Group finances its liquidity through internally generated cash flows and 
minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available.

The following table analyses the remaining contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn 
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and 
the Company can be required to pay.

On demand or 
within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

After
5 years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 47,838 - - - 47,838 47,838
Other payables 51,604 - - - 51,604 51,604
Finance lease liabilities 1,640 1,402 1,416 - 4,458 3,990
Bank borrowings 113,910 20,308 - 628 134,846 130,975

214,992 21,710 1,416 628 238,746 234,407

2014
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 90,464 - - - 90,464 90,464
Other payables 92,314 - - - 92,314 92,314
Finance lease liabilities 1,229 1,229 1,710 - 4,168 3,665
Bank borrowings 19,291 1,615 18,960 - 39,866 35,923

203,298 2,844 20,670 - 226,812 222,366

On demand 
or within 1 

year
1 to 2 
years

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Total
carrying
amount

Company RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 28,837 - 28,837 28,837
Other payables 9,411 - 9,411 9,411
Amount due to subsidiary companies 4,102 - 4,102 4,102
Bank borrowings 30,224 20,308 50,532 47,002

72,574 20,308 92,882 89,352

2014
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 81,980 - 81,980 81,980
Other payables 28,944 - 28,944 28,944
Amount due to subsidiary companies 4,924 - 4,924 4,924

115,848 - 115,848 115,848
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39.	 Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont'd)

iii.	 Market risks

a.	 Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions that are denominated in currencies other than 
the respective functional currencies of Group entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk is United States 
Dollar (USD).

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk is minimal.

b.	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s and the Company’s fixed rate deposits placed with licensed banks and borrowings are exposed 
to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s variable 
rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates. 

The Group manages the interest rate risk of its deposits with licensed banks by placing them at the most 
competitive interest rates obtainable, which yield better returns than cash at bank and maintaining a prudent 
mix of short and long term deposits.

The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by obtaining financing 
with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group constantly monitors its interest rate risk by 
reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourable rates are obtained. The Group does not utilise interest swap 
contracts or other derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, 
based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 2,912 951 762 10
Financial liabilities (3,990) (3,665) - -

(1,078) (2,714) 762 10

Floating rate instruments
Financial liabilities (130,975) (35,923) (47,002) -

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect 
profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate instruments

A change in 1% interest rate at the end of the reporting period would have increased / (decreased) the Group 
and the Company’s profit before tax by RM1.31 million and RM0.47 (2014: RM0.36 million and RMNil million) 
respectively, arising mainly as a result of lower / higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The assumed movement in basis points for 
interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.
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39.	 Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

c.	 Fair values of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of short term receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and short term borrowings 
approximate their fair value due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments and insignificant impact 
of discounting. 

The carrying amount of long term floating rate loans approximate their fair value as the loans will be re-priced to market 
interest rate on or near reporting date. 

The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is disclosed, together with their 
carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial position. 

Fair value of financial instruments not
carried at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Carrying amount
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2015
Financial liabilities (Non-current)
Finance lease liabilities - 2,459 - 2,589

2014
Financial liabilities (Non-current)
Finance lease liabilities - 2,631 - 2,672

i.	 Policy on transfer between levels

	 The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in 
circumstances that caused the transfer.

	 There were no transfers between levels during current and previous financial years.

ii.	 Level 1 fair value 

	 Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

iii.	 Level 2 fair value

	 Level 2 fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Non-derivative financial instruments

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal 
and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the end of the reporting period. In respect of 
the liability component of RCPS, the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar liabilities that do 
not have a conversion option.

iv.	 Level 3 fair value 

Level 3 fair values for the financial assets and liabilities are estimated using unobservable inputs.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont'd)



Annual Report 2015 129

40.	 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio. The Group’s policy is to maintain a prudent level of gearing ratio that 
complies with debt covenants and regulatory requirements. The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Total loans and borrowings 134,965 39,588 47,002 -
Less: Fixed deposits, bank and cash balances (Note 15) ^ (17,097) (9,249) (9,650) (5,953)
Net debt 117,868 30,339 37,352 (5,953)

Shareholders' equity 238,510 123,707 215,021 157,735

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.49 0.25 0.17 #

^	 Fixed deposits, bank and cash balances excluded cash and cash equivalents restricted from use. 

#	 Gearing ratio not applicable as the Company has no borrowings as at 31 December 2014.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.

41.	 Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where necessary to conform with the current year presentation.

As previously
stated Reclassification As restated

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Group
Statements of financial position
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11,708 (57) 11,651
Intangible assets - 57 57

Statements of cash flows
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,994) 57 (3,937) 
Purchase of intangible assets - (57) (57)

42.	 Date of Authorisation for Issue

The financial statements of were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
on 19 April 2016.
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43.	 Supplementary Information on the Disclosure of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses

The following analysis of realised and unrealised retained earnings / (accumulated losses) of the Group and of the Company 
as at the reporting date is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and prepared 
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants.

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Retained earnings / (Accumulated losses)
- Realised 24,126 (53,052) 7,607 (14,351) 
Less: Consolidation adjustments 27,345  33,589 - -

51,471 (19,463) 7,607 (14,351)

The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements 
stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any other purposes.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Second Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will be held at Bukit Jalil Golf 
and Country Resort, 1st Floor, Langkawi Room, Jalan Jalil Perkasa 3, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 23 May 2016 at 
10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AGENDA

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 together 
with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

[Please refer to 
Explanatory Note (a)]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM510,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 
2016, to be payable on a quarterly basis in arrears.

(Resolution 1)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who retire in accordance with Article 90 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

i.	 Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee (Resolution 2)
ii.	 Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong (Resolution 3)
iii.	 Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras (Resolution 4)

4. To re-appoint Messrs. UHY as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and to authorise the 
Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 5)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without any modifications, to pass the following Ordinary and Special 
resolutions:- 

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO  SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

“THAT subject to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and approvals of the relevant governmental/
regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue and allot shares in the 
Company, at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as 
the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares 
issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the issued and paid-up 
share capital of the Company for the time being; AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered 
to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued on Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad; AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately upon the passing 
of this Resolution and continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.”

(Resolution 6)

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
PROPOSED RENEWAL OF EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED 
PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (“PROPOSED RENEWAL OF 
EXISTING SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE”)	

“THAT, subject to the provision of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, 
approval be and is hereby given to Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad Group (“the Group”) to 
enter into and to give effect to specified recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading 
nature with the Related Parties as set out in Part A, Section 2.4 (a) of the Circular to Shareholders 
dated 29 April 2016, which are necessary for its day-to-day operations, to be entered into by the 
Group on the basis that these transactions are entered into on terms which are not more favourable to 
the Related Party involved than generally available to the public and are not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders of the Company.

(Resolution 7)
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THAT the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate is subject to annual renewal. In this 
respect, any authority conferred by the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate, shall 
only continue to be in force until:-

i.	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company following the general meeting 
at which the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate was passed, at which time it 
will lapse, unless by resolution passed at the general meeting, the authority is renewed; or

ii.	 the expiration of the period within which the Annual General Meeting after that date is required 
to be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Companies Act 1965 (but must not extend to such 
extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Companies Act, 1965); or

iii.	 revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting,

whichever is the earlier.

AND THAT the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all 
such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) to give effect to the 
Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate.”

7. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY
 
“THAT the Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company as set out in Part B 
of the Circular to Shareholders dated 29 April 2016, be and are hereby approved. 

AND THAT the Directors and Secretaries of the Company be and are hereby authorised to do all 
such acts, deeds and things and execute, sign and deliver all documents for and on behalf of the 
Company as they may consider necessary or expedient to give effect to and implement the Proposed 
Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company with full power to assent to any conditions, 
modifications, variations and alteration as may be imposed or permitted by the relevant authorities.” 

(Resolution 8)

8. To transact any other ordinary business for which due notice has been given.

By Order of the Board	

Chua Siew Chuan (MAICSA 0777689)
Chin Mun Yee (MAICSA 7019243)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
29 April 2016

Explanatory Note a.

This Agenda item is meant for discussion only, as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 does not require a formal approval of the shareholders for 
the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda item is not put forward for voting.

Explanatory Notes to Ordinary and Special Business:-

a.	 Resolution 1 - Approval for Directors’ Fees

	 This resolution is to facilitate payment of Directors’ fees on current financial year basis. In the event the Directors’ fees proposed is insufficient due to enlarged 
Board size, approval will be sought at the next Annual General Meeting for additional fees to meet the shortfall.

	
b.	 Resolution 6 - Authority to Issue Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965	  

	 This is the renewal of the general mandate for issuance of shares by the Company under Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 obtained from the shareholders 
of the Company at the AGM of the Company held on 18 June 2015 (hereinafter referred to as the “Previous Mandate”). 

	 As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the Previous Mandate granted to the Directors at the AGM and which will 
lapse at the conclusion of the Forty-Second AGM.

	 The proposed resolution is primarily to give a renewal mandate to the Directors of the Company to issue and allot shares at any time to such persons in their 
absolute discretion without convening a general meeting as it would be both time consuming to organise a general meeting. The general mandate will provide 
flexibility and expediency to the Company for any possible fund raising activities involving the issuance or placement of shares to facilitate business expansion or 
strategic merger and acquisition opportunities involving equity deals or part equity or to fund future investment project(s) or working capital requirements, which 
the Directors of the Company consider to be in the best interest of the Company. 

Notice of Annual General Meeting (Cont’d)
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c.	 Resolution 7 - Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate

	 This proposed Resolution 7, if passed, will renew the authority given to the Company and/or its subsidiaries a mandate to enter into recurrent related party 
transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the Related Parties in Compliance with the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirements. 
The mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire at the next AGM of the Company.

	 Further information on the Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate is set out in the Circular to Shareholders dated 29 April 2016 circulated together 
with this Annual Report.

d. 	 Resolution 8 - Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association

	 The Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association are to align the Company’s Articles of Association with the amendments made to the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, and to incorporate the necessary amendments to ensure clarity and consistency with the relevant regulatory 
provisions.

Notes:

1.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 17 May 2016 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall 
be eligible to attend the Meeting.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint proxy / proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of the 
member at the Meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the same 
rights as the member to speak at the Meeting.

3.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least one (1) 
proxy in respect of each securities account it holds which is credited with ordinary shares of the Company.

4.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities 
account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it 
holds.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, 
either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Notice of Annual General Meeting (Cont’d)

Statement Accompanying Notice of
Annual General Meeting Pursuant to
Paragraph 8.27(2) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad

1.	 The following are the Directors standing for re-election pursuant to Article 90 of the Company’s Articles of Association at the 
Forty-Second AGM:-

	  
a.	 Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee
b.	 Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong 
c.	 Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras

2.	 The details of the above Directors standing for re-election are set out in their respective profiles which appear in Pages 6 to 9 
of the Annual Report.



Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)134



Annual Report 2015 135

Ho Hup Construction Company Berhad (14034-W)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

FORM OF PROXY
No. of Shares Held CDS Account No.

*I/We, (full name in capital letters) _______________________________________________________________________________________________
of (full address) ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ being a 
*member/members of HO HUP CONSTRUCTION COMPANY BERHAD (“the Company”), hereby appoint (full name in capital letters)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
of (full address) ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
or *failing him/her, (full name in capital letters) ____________________________________________________________________________________
of (full address) ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
or *failing him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Forty-Second 
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Bukit Jalil Golf and Country Resort, 1st Floor, Langkawi Room, Jalan Jalil 
Perkasa 3, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 23 May 2016 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below how you wish your votes to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is 
given, the proxy will vote or abstain at his/her discretion. 

Resolutions Agenda For Against
1. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM510,000 for the financial year ending 

31 December 2016, to be payable on a quarterly basis in arrears.
2. To re-elect Dato’ Sri Thong Kok Khee who retires in accordance with Article 90 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association.
3. To re-elect Dato’ Wong Kit-Leong who retires in accordance with Article 90 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association.
4. To re-elect Mr. Dimitrios Pantazaras who retires in accordance with Article 90 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association.
5. To re-appoint Messrs. UHY as Auditors of the Company for the ensuing year and to 

authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.
As Special Business :

6. Authority to Issue Shares Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.
7. Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.
8. Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company.

*	 strike out whichever not applicable

Signed this ______ day of _______________ , 2016                                                                         ________________________________
Signature of Member/Common Seal

Notes:
1.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 17 May 2016 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall 

be eligible to attend the Meeting.
2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint proxy / proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the 

Company. Notwithstanding this, a member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of 
the member at the Meeting. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the Meeting shall have the 
same rights as the member to speak at the Meeting.

3.	 Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it may appoint at least one 
(1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds which is credited with ordinary shares of the Company.

4.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities 
account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it 
holds.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a corporation, 
either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.
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